## Genomic and physiological adaptation to temperature in the invasive golden star tunicate (*Botryllus schlosseri*)

by

Zachary John Corey Tobias

B.A., Lewis & Clark College M.Sc., University of Otago

Submitted to the Department of Earth, Atmospheric, and Planetary Science in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

at the

## MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

and the

## WOODS HOLE OCEANOGRAPHIC INSTITUTION

May 2024

©2024 Zachary John Corey Tobias. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT a nonexclusive, worldwide, irrevocable, royalty-free license to exercise any and all rights under copyright, including to reproduce, preserve, distribute and publicly display copies of the thesis, or release the thesis under an open-access license.

Signature of Author

Joint Program in Oceanography/Applied Ocean Science and Engineering Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution April 5<sup>th</sup>, 2024

Certified by

Dr. Carolyn Tepolt Department of Biology Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution Thesis Supervisor

Accepted by

Dr. Jesús Pineda Chair, Joint Committee for Biological Oceanography Massachusetts Institute of Technology/Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution

# Genomic and physiological adaptation to temperature in the invasive golden star tunicate (*Botryllus schlosseri*)

by

Zachary John Corey Tobias

Submitted to the MIT Department of Earth, Atmospheric and Planetary Sciences on April 5, 2024 in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

## ABSTRACT

Because non-indigenous species (NIS) often encounter novel environments during colonization and expansion, species invasions present useful opportunities to investigate the mode and pace of adaptive change in natural populations. In this dissertation, I use the range expansion of the invasive golden star tunicate, Botryllus schlosseri, as a natural experiment to study how a pernicious NIS adapts its thermal physiology on contemporary time scales. In Chapter 2, I applied low-coverage whole genome sequencing (IcWGS) to investigate patterns of population genetic structure and signatures of local adaptation to temperature. In addition to illustrating the potential for rapid adaptation of thermal tolerance at the genomic level, this chapter demonstrated that the molecular basis of thermal adaptation on either coast is distinct, providing valuable evidence for parallel adaptation being driven by divergent molecular means. In Chapter 3, I performed a physiological study to investigate differentiation of post-larval heat tolerance across five populations across a major biogeographic break on the east coast of North America. I found that northern populations are more susceptible to heat stress than their southern, warm-exposed counterparts, providing evidence for adaptive shifts of thermal tolerance. Further, by taking advantage of natural temporal variability in temperature, I demonstrated that temperature during development positively affects heat tolerance at later life stages, establishing developmental plasticity of thermal tolerance. In Chapter 4, I extended my physiological investigation to the west coast of North America, comparing post-larval heat tolerance across three populations spanning a 24.3° latitudinal gradient while expanding to include differentiation of cold tolerance in adults. Similar to the east coast, I observed that the two northern populations were more susceptible to heat stress than their southern counterpart. For cold tolerance, I observed a pattern of countergradient variation whereby northern populations were better able to maintain cardiac function in the cold than southern populations. This suggests compensatory genetic adaptation to the colder water temperatures at higher latitudes. Overall, my work furthers our understanding of how NIS are able to rapidly shift their thermal physiology in response to novel environments, shedding light on the potential of species more generally to adapt to environmental change on contemporary timescales.

Thesis Supervisor: Dr. Carolyn Tepolt Title: Associate Scientist, Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work presented in this dissertation and my graduate training was supported by funding from numerous sources including the National Defense Science and Engineering Graduate Fellowship Program, the North Pacific Research Board (through award #2212 to Carolyn Tepolt), the American Philosophical Society's Lewis and Clark Fund for Exploration and Field Research, the Academic Programs Office at Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution (WHOI), the Ocean Ventures Fund at WHOI, and the Grassle Fund at WHOI.

It is difficult, if not impossible, to list all of the people that contributed to this dissertation, either directly or through contributing to my development as a scientist. First and foremost, I would like to acknowledge my advisor, Carolyn Tepolt. I am honored to have been selected as Carolyn's first graduate student and it has been a wonderful experience to watch the lab grow and evolve over these past five and a half years (okay, maybe more like six). Despite all of Carolyn's ongoing projects and commitments, I always felt like I was her top priority. Whether it was extremely quick (and thorough!) feedback on a last-minute conference abstract or an impromptu meeting to chat about new data, I could always count on her undivided attention. Carolyn always emphasized the importance of work-life balance, which became all the more important when my children came into this world. Beyond our professional interactions, Carolyn is just a great person to be around and has been a selfless mentor, as evidenced by her agreeing to be my field assistant and then relieve me for the second half of two field trips so I could return home to my young children. I will miss being a member of the Tepolt Lab, not just because of the delicious bounty of Carolyn-supplied baked goods, but because of the collegial and welcoming lab environment Carolyn has fostered.

I would also like to thank the members of my committee: Dave Des Marais, Ann Tarrant, and Ayelet Voskoboynik. They have always provided me with concrete and thoughtful feedback on my work and have urged me to think critically about the broader implications of my research. While my dissertation research has, let's say, evolved since its original inception, my committee members remained flexible with their expectations and reassured me when it felt like things were starting to go sideways.

I would be remiss to not mention the WHOI Academic Programs Office staff members, as well as the Joint Program (JP) admin within the MIT Department of Earth, Atmospheric and Planetary Sciences (EAPS). They make everything run smoothly in the JP, which is no small task having to navigate the complexities of two institutions. In particular I would like to thank Lea Fraser, who not only welcomed me into the JP when I started in June of 2018 (!), but also gave us so much baby stuff that we still use today!

I would also like to thank all of the members of the Tepolt and Tarrant labs, the T2 crew. It was great meeting with you all collectively on a regular basis and sharing our data, practicing presentations, and talking about fascinating papers. I hope I am not forgetting anyone, but the ranks of the T2 crew include: Carolyn and Ann, of course, Cory Berger, Yaamini Venkataraman, Maggie Johnson, Sara Shapiro, Sarah Zuidema, Sara Gonzalez, Mikayla Newbrey, Gareth Miller, Amy Van Cise, Alex Ascher, and Rayna Hamilton.

I have made a lot of wonderful friends during my time in the Joint Program, both up at EAPS and down here at WHOI. While moving to the Cape and then a global pandemic put a bit

of a damper on regular hangs, I still kept in touch with such great MIT-based folks as Emilie Skoog, Lyssa Freese, Joanna Millstein, and Diana Dumit. Down at WHOI I had the pleasure of getting to know some truly amazing people and scientists. Big shout out to my fellow Bio Cuttlefish: Jordan Pitt, Cory Berger, Kayla Gardner, Bethany Stevens, Ruijiao Sun, David Geller-McGrath, and Cynthia Becker. I am so glad to have such a large and supportive cohort. I'd particularly like to thank Lauren Dykman, who frequently came upstairs to urge me to take a walk around Eel Pond or check out the sunset during an otherwise busy workday.

There are so many people that contributed to my development as a scientist that bear mentioning. Lee Decker was among the first to encourage me to aim my scientific curiosity towards the ocean back in 2007. Jules Jaffe gave me my first opportunity in oceanography in 2011, and while I took a rather meandering path through science since then, I'm glad I found my way back. Tamily Weissman-Unni was instrumental in shaping the scientist that I am today; I learned a great deal about not only molecular biology and neuroscience, but also the inner workings of academia and how to be an effective mentor. Robert Poulin gave me the opportunity to take my molecular skills and bring them into the field, providing me with my first real experience in ecology and evolutionary biology. I am eternally grateful to these mentors from my past – they have played a large role in shaping who I am today.

Most importantly, I must thank my family. My parents Barry and Christine provided me with ample opportunities to pursue whatever I happened to be taken with at the time – ceramics, music, the outdoors, science. But mostly, they have always provided me with unconditional love and support. I truly cannot imagine better parents than them. My dad takes such a keen interest in my work and is always sending me popular science articles that I pretend to read while I am busy with work or kids. My mom is always there to lend an ear and offer encouragement when things were maybe not going so well with my research. She even flew out to help care for my one-month-old and toddler while I was out in the field. I have to thank my older brother, Hondo, for giving me my first opportunity to teach biology. Helping your older brother with his biology homework really helps you realize you may have a knack for it! I'd also like to thank my parents-in-law, Kevin and Shelly Hearne. They welcomed me into their family from the very start, way back in 2009 (okay maybe it took a couple years). They have been unwavering in their support for our family, and I am truly grateful for that.

I have to thank my sons, Max Wiley and Murphy Lee. It may seem crazy to have kids during graduate school, but I am so glad I did. Having two little guys that depend on you for everything really helps put things in perspective. They give me the best reason to step away from the computer and focus on fun (or, let's be honest, managing a tantrum). Though I had to travel for work a few times while they were young, being towards the end of my degree meant I often got to work from home, allowing me to spend a lot of my time with them. I've loved that.

And finally, Brenah. How in the world can I possibly sum up how much you have contributed? For fourteen and a half years you have been at my side, and during that time we have shaped each other in so many ways. You have always encouraged me to pursue my interests, even if that meant uprooting our lives and moving across the country (or world). You always dive right in, even helping me collect sea squirts while you're eight months pregnant! You have always helped me to keep going, even when the going got rough. I simply could not have done this without you. I can't wait to see what the future may bring.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF FIGURES	9
LIST OF TABLES	11
LIST OF SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL	13
CHAPTER I – INTRODUCTION	15
LOCAL ADAPTATION AND PHENOTYPIC PLASTICITY	17
THERMAL BIOLOGY	20
UNDERSTANDING THE PACE OF ADAPTIVE CHANGE	23
BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS	25
ASCIDIANS – BIOFOULING TUNICATES	28
Botryllus schlosseri	30
Thesis Aims	33
Thesis Overview	33
REFERENCES	35

## <u>CHAPTER II – POPULATION GENOMICS OF A MARINE INVADER REVEALS LIMITED PARALLELISM</u> DURING LOCAL ADAPTATION TO TEMPERATURE ACROSS BOTH COASTS OF NORTH AMERICA

ABSTRACT	46
INTRODUCTION	47
METHODS	51
RESULTS	62
DISCUSSION	67
CONCLUSION	79
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	80
TABLES	80
FIGURES	82
REFERENCES	89
SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES	98
SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES	100

CHAPTER III – GEOGRAPHY AND DEVELOPMENTAL PLASTICITY SHAPE POST-LARVAL THERMAL		
TOLERANCE IN THE GOLDEN STAR TUNICATE, BOTRYLLUS SCHLOSSERI		
ABSTRACT	106	
INTRODUCTION	106	
METHODS	110	

RESULTS	114
DISCUSSION	117
CONCLUSION	124
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	125
TABLES	125
FIGURES	126
REFERENCES	131
SUPPLEMENTARY METHODS	138
SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES	140
SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES	141

## CHAPTER IV – CLINAL VARIATION OF THERMAL TOLERANCE DURING NORTHWARD RANGE EXPANSION IN THE INVASIVE GOLDEN STAR TUNICATE, *BOTRYLLUS SCHLOSSERI* 147

148
148
152
157
159
168
168
169
173
181

## CHAPTER V – CONCLUSION

STRIDES TOWARDS UNDERSTANDING THE PACE OF ADAPTIVE CHANGE	184
INSIGHTS INTO EVOLUTIONARY PARALLELISM	187
POTENTIAL FOR LOCAL ADAPTATION OF PHENOTYPIC PLASTICITY	189
IMPLICATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT OF BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS	191
CAVEATS	193
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	194
Parting thoughts	196
REFERENCES	196

## TABLE OF FIGURES

FIGURE 2-1. MAP OF SAMPLING LOCATIONS	82
FIGURE 2-2. HIERARCHICAL PCAS OF POPULATION STRUCTURE	83
FIGURE 2-3. GENETIC DIFFERENTIATION AND ISOLATION BY DISTANCE	84
FIGURE 2-4. GENETIC DIVERSITY	85
FIGURE 2-5. ANALYSES OF SIGNATURES OF SELECTION	86
FIGURE 2-6. ANAYSES OF GENOMIC PARALLELISM	87
FIGURE 2-7. PATTERNS OF COI HAPLOTYPE DIVERSITY	88
FIGURE 3-1. MAP OF STUDY SITES AND TEMPERATURE TRENDS	126
FIGURE 3-2. GRAPHICAL EXPLANATION OF STATISTICAL MODELS	127
FIGURE 3-3. DIFFERENTATION OF HEAT TOLERANCE	128
FIGURE 3-4. DEVELOPMENTAL PLASTICITY OF THERMAL TOLERANCE	129
FIGURE 3-5. STRENGTH OF DEVELOPMENTAL PLASTICITY VS. SITE TEMPERATURE VARIABILITY	130
FIGURE 3-6. STEEPENING OF SURVIVORSHIP CURVES	131
FIGURE 4-1. MAP OF STUDY SITES AND TEMPERATURE TRENDS	169
FIGURE 4-2. DIFFERENTATION OF HEAT TOLERANCE	170
FIGURE 4-3. BICOASTAL SYNTHESIS OF HEAT TOLERANCE	171
FIGURE 4-4. CARDIAC FUNCTION ACROSS LATITUDE	172

## LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 2-1.      SAMPLING SITE INFORMATION	80
<b>TABLE 3-1.</b> SAMPLING SITE INFORMATION AND HEAT TOLERANCE DATA	125
<b>TABLE 4-1.</b> SAMPLING SITE INFORMATION AND HEAT TOLERANCE DATA	168

## LIST OF SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL

Table S2-1.      Environmental metadata	98
FIGURE S2-1. PAIRWISE F <sub>ST</sub> HEATMAP WITHOUT SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA POPULATIONS	100
FIGURE S2-2. DIVERSITY BY POPIULATION SAMPLING DEPTH	101
FIGURE S2-3. TEMPERATURE METRIC PAIRWISE CORRELATION MATRIX	102
FIGURE S2-4. TEST OF ENVIRONMENT-ASSOCIATED SNP GENIC ENRICHMENT	103
FIGURE S2-5. LINKAGE DISEQUILIBRIUM DECAY	104
Supplementary methods – Chapter III	138
TABLE S3-1.      P-values for pairwise tests of heat tolerance	140
FIGURE S3-1. SCHEMATIC OF EFFECT OF MODEL PARAMETERS	141
FIGURE S3-2. MODEL COMPARISON	142
FIGURE S3-3. SURVIVORSHIP DATA FROM 6/6/22 AT RUTG	143
FIGURE S3-4. SURVIVOSRHIP DATA FROM 8/29/22 AT DARL	144
FIGURE S3-5. SHORT-TERM ENVIRONMENTAL TEMPERATURE AT SAND	144
FIGURE S3-6. MEAN ENVIRONMENTAL TEMPERATURE BY COLLECTION DATE	145
FIGURE S3-7. MODEL PREDICTIONS OF ENVIRONMENTAL TEMPERATURE AT SAND	146
FIGURE S4-1. R <sup>2</sup> VALUES FOR REGRESSION OF HEART RATE AGAINST TEMPERATURE BY SITE	181
FIGURE S4-2. HEART RATES AT 8°C BY COLONY	182

I

## INTRODUCTION

To the passing eye, the seemingly endless expanse of blue-green ocean conveys monotony, a uniformity of conditions, a great homogenous soup. But this illusion betrays a much more exciting, dynamic reality. The ocean is replete with heterogeneity. From rocky, wave-exposed coastlines to silty and placid back bays, from the cold, nutrient-rich waters of upwelling zones to the warm, oligotrophic waters of the tropics, the ocean is a realm full of rich variation. Both across space and through time, conditions in the sea are constantly in flux. And it is this diversity of environments that has shaped the great diversity of lifeforms and lifestyles we observe in the ocean.

How species respond to environmental heterogeneity is a question central to such diverse scientific disciplines as ecology, evolutionary biology, and physiology. Many species exist over broad spatiotemporal gradients of environmental conditions, gradients that span scales from microns to thousands of kilometers, from seconds to millennia. For example, in the rocky intertidal a sessile organism such as a barnacle or mussel may be submerged in cold waters at high tide and only six hours later face the prospect of desiccation in the dry heat of low tide. This tidal gradient, spanning mere meters in the spatial dimension and hours in the temporal and encompassing variation in temperature, moisture, and the presence of predators, has profound consequences not only for the physiology of individual species (Somero 2002; Tomanek and Helmuth 2002), but also for the ecological structure of the rocky intertidal community, having been the focus of seminal work in the field of marine biology (Connell 1961; Paine 1974). From this example and countless others, it is clear that species face myriad environmental conditions to which they must adapt. Understanding how species meet these challenges is not only fundamental to our understanding of their basic biology, but it is critical to predicting, and potentially shaping, their responses to the profound changes they are facing during an age of great environmental upheaval.

This dissertation is largely concerned with the mechanisms by which organisms are able to adapt to the breadth of environmental conditions they face across geography and through time, and in particular on contemporary timescales. Encompassing both the evolutionary and the physiological, species are equipped with tools to cope with abiotic stressors in their environment. In describing spatiotemporal variation in both genomic and phenotypic

characteristics of a focal species, this dissertation examines these evolutionary and physiological mechanisms in detail, providing insights into how species meet environmental challenges and how they may fare in a rapidly changing ocean.

#### Local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity

In the context of global change, species are often said to possess three "choices": move, adapt, or die. It is the second of these three to which this dissertation is dedicated. Adaptation, in the broadest sense, refers to "the process of changing to suit different conditions" (Cambridge Dictionary). Naturalists have long been fascinated by intraspecific variation in key phenotypes and how these might constitute adaptations to the local environment. By and large, these adaptations can arise through two modalities, often working in tandem. First, natural selection can drive the evolution of distinct traits that confer advantages upon populations within their immediate environment. Local adaptation, as it is known, implies a genetic, heritable basis to adaptive variation and arises across generations of selection (Kawecki and Ebert 2004). Contrastingly, adaptations can arise through phenotypic plasticity. Phenotypic plasticity refers to the ability of a particular genotype to express multiple phenotypes depending on environment (West-Eberhard 2003). Notably, phenotypic plasticity can have a range of effects upon fitness, being either maladaptive, neutral, or adaptive. Generally, phenotypic plasticity operates within generations (though transgenerational plasticity has indeed been confirmed for numerous taxa and traits) and may be reversible, where, by contrast, phenotypes shaped by local adaptation are constitutive. It should be noted that phenotypic plasticity itself can be considered a phenotype, subject to the process of local adaptation, leading to the expectation that phenotypic plasticity should evolve to become greater in highly variable environments (Bradshaw 1965; Levins 1968).

Understanding the contributions of genetics, through local adaptation, and environment, through phenotypic plasticity, to intraspecific variation in fitness-related phenotypes is a major theme in contemporary evolutionary biology (Merilä and Hendry 2014). Further, there are outstanding questions as to the complex interplay between local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity and how it may shape the evolutionary trajectory of species

(Ghalambor et al. 2007; Crispo 2008; Oostra et al. 2018; Fox et al. 2019). In a more applied vein, disentangling the contributions of genetics and the environment also has major implications for such endeavors such as plant and animal breeding (De Jong and Bijma 2002), evolutionary medicine (Stearns et al. 2010), and biological conservation (Frankham 1999).

Local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity are two critical processes that may mediate species persistence in an era of global change (Merilä and Hendry 2014). Where geographic variation in critical phenotypes such as heat tolerance has a genetic basis, natural dispersal or programs of assisted gene flow may redistribute this variation, potentially buttressing at-risk populations against the threat of a more extreme future (Aitken and Whitlock 2013). For example, one assisted gene flow experiment in the forests of California demonstrated that tree seedlings transplanted from lower elevations, typically characterized by a dry and hot climate, outperformed local seedlings at higher elevations during an anomalously hot regime resembling future climate scenarios (Young et al. 2020). This indicates that human interventions toward repartitioning adaptive variation may be a fruitful approach. Similarly, identifying or breeding the most phenotypically plastic genotypes is often a target of conservation programs, perhaps most notably in corals (Rinkevich 2021; Quigley 2024), with the goal of producing individuals capable of coping with pronounced environmental heterogeneity. Beyond understanding their respective contributions, it is important to consider the interactions between evolutionary adaptation and phenotypic plasticity in order to predict species' responses to global change (Donelson et al. 2019).

In the oceans, local adaptation has classically been assumed to be rare (Sanford and Kelly 2011). The presumption of well-mixed populations due to the prevalence of long-lived, highly dispersive larvae implied high levels of gene flow that was believed to overpower natural selection at local scales. The incessant inflow of maladapted individuals/alleles from outside of a particular selective regime can lead to gene swamping (Lenormand 2002), inhibiting local adaptation. However, over the past several decades advancements in genetics, chemical tracing methods, and physical modeling have improved our understanding of larval dispersal (Levin 2006), contradicting the long-held assumption of widespread connectivity and panmixia. Many examples demonstrate potentially high levels of local retention of larvae (reviewed by Swearer

et al. 2002), shaped by physical processes (Teske et al. 2016) and through biological phenomena such as larval behavior (Paris and Cowen 2004; Morgan et al. 2009). Additionally, recent research has shown that local adaptation is possible even in the face of strong gene flow, often mediated by specific chromosomal architectures that repress recombination among causal genetic loci (Tigano and Friesen 2016). It should be no surprise, then, that several decades of study have revealed numerous examples of local adaptation in the sea (reviewed by Sanford and Kelly 2011). Also, despite the trend toward highly dispersive larvae in marine systems, this is hardly the rule. Many species brood their young internally, oftentimes releasing them as crawling juveniles rather than as gametes or swimming larvae. Others, like many ascidians, possess larvae that are extremely short lived, sometimes on the order of hours, thus having limited dispersal potential (Svane and Young 1989). The subsequent closed nature of the populations of such species renders them prime candidates for developing local adaptation in response to spatial environmental heterogeneity. Provided sufficient standing genetic variation and selection pressure, local adaptation has the potential to evolve rapidly, especially in cases of large effective population sizes (Barrett and Schluter 2008).

The aforementioned example of the sessile marine invertebrate in the rocky intertidal speaks to the pronounced environmental challenges any individual may face in their lifetime. As such, many marine species have evolved phenotypic plasticity as a strategy to cope with variation in abiotic and biotic components of their environment (reviewed by Padilla and Savedo 2013). For example, in the bryozoan *Membranipora membrancea*, the presence of a predator cue induces the development of defensive spines (Harvell 1984). Inducible defenses are a classic type of phenotypic plasticity that is well described in aquatic organisms such as cladocerans (Harvell 1990). More recently, there has been growing attention on phenotypic plasticity's ability to buffer marine species from axes of global change such increasing temperature or decreasing pH (Somero 2010; Reusch 2013). Phenotypic plasticity may be an especially important component of adaptation to not only a hotter or more acidic future ocean, but also one that exhibits more extreme variability (Oliver et al. 2018; Burger et al. 2020).

I should note that while disentangling local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity is a common goal of many evolutionary studies, it is not strictly the goal of this dissertation. Doing

so experimentally often requires a reciprocal transplant approach, which is inadvisable for nonindigenous species (NIS), as will be seen, is the focus of this work, or rearing animals in a common garden for multiple generations, which is not tractable for the species at hand. Instead, this dissertation weaves multiple lines of evidence from both genomic and physiological investigations to describe how local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity *may* rapidly shape intraspecific variation of a critical trait – thermal tolerance.

#### Thermal biology

*"Unlike many other variables that concern biologists, temperature is not just a property of life; it is a property of matter. Nothing escapes its control."* (Angilletta, 2009, p. 1)

Of all of the abiotic stressors that species face, perhaps none have effects so pervasive and fundamental as temperature. The effects of temperature upon biological systems are wideranging, influencing processes from the rate of enzymatic reactions to the structuring of species' geographic distributions (Hochachka and Somero 2002). And, of course, temperature is among the principal variables that is shifting as part of global climate change. Understanding how species cope with variation in temperature, then, is key to predicting their responses to global change (Chown et al. 2010; Somero 2010, 2012; Sinclair et al. 2016).

Marine ectotherms, which are mostly unable to regulate their body temperature, are especially vulnerable to changes in temperature. However, many of these species have evolved in the presence of pronounced thermal variability, whether across the tidal cycle or throughout their geographic distribution, and thus possess adaptations to cope with heterogeneity in their thermal environment. In relation to their thermal niche breadth, species are often characterized as eurythermal or stenothermal, having a broad breadth or a narrow one, respectively. Eurythermal species are often encountered in highly temporally variable environments, such as in the temperate zone and the intertidal. Stenothermal species, on the other hand, are most often found in stable environments, such as the poles or deep sea. In their ability to maintain homeostasis across a broad range of temperatures, eurytherms may at first glance appear to exhibit limited phenotypic plasticity, i.e., traits tightly correlated to fitness (growth, survival, etc.) show little change with changing temperature. However, this represents

a type of phenotypic plasticity called *phenotypic buffering* (Bradshaw 1965; Reusch 2013), whereby the processes underlying such traits (e.g. gene expression, metabolic rate, etc.) often exhibit pronounced plasticity in service of maintaining said homeostasis. Many marine ectotherms fit this pattern of phenotypic buffering, relying on plasticity in traits at smaller scales of biological organization to cope with thermal variability. For example, in the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*, shifts in thermal tolerance coincident with tidal height are accompanied by plastic changes in gene expression of heat-shock proteins (Hamdoun et al. 2003). Eurythermal species, then, are often demonstrated to be highly plastic when investigating processes at lower levels of biological organization (e.g. Buckley and Hofmann 2002; Sokolova and Pörtner 2003; Jayasundara and Somero 2013; Tepolt and Somero 2014).

Thermal plasticity is a critical trait for species persistence in a warming world (Merilä and Hendry 2014; Seebacher et al. 2015). There is a breadth of plastic responses to temperature, or any environmental factor, that can be categorized according to the lag in life history between an environmental cue and the emergence of an altered phenotype. At the broadest scale, transgenerational plasticity refers to a change in phenotype of a descendant, typically  $F_1$  or  $F_2$ , caused by the environment experienced by a parent or grandparent. As it relates to thermal tolerance, this has been demonstrated in a variety of systems (e.g. Massamba-N'Siala et al. 2014; Cavieres et al. 2019; Diaz et al. 2021). For example, Rivera et al. (2021) demonstrated in the anemone Nematostella vectensis that greater maternal temperatures prior to spawning resulted in significantly higher heat tolerance of larvae. Thermal plasticity also operates extensively within generations. When the environment at an earlier ontogenetic stage affects the thermal physiology of a later life stage, it can be considered developmental plasticity. For example, in the zebrafish (Danio rerio), adult fish that were reared at higher temperatures as larvae had a significantly higher critical thermal maximum (CT<sub>max</sub>) than fish reared at control temperatures (Schaefer and Ryan 2006). Another type of phenotypic plasticity, acclimatory plasticity, often refers to a change in phenotype in response to environmental conditions within a particular life stage, typically adults. Many species gradually become more tolerant of temperature conditions to which they have become accustomed. This response can encompass a breadth of timescales, from seasonal to incredibly

rapid. For example, in insects, rapid cold hardening is a commonly-studied form of plasticity in which individuals become more cold-tolerant after a brief (minutes to hours) pulse of low temperature (Teets et al. 2020). The prevalence of rapid cold hardening and other fast-acting forms of acclimatory plasticity imply that much of acclimatory plasticity can occur over short time scales. Importantly, given that all of these plastic responses differ with respect to the lag between the onset of the environmental cue and the change in phenotype, those with greater lags (i.e. transgenerational plasticity) are more likely to result in mismatches between cue and response environments (Donelan et al. 2020). In an era in which not only environmental temperature means are increasing, but also variability (Salinger 2005), the lack of cue reliability could render some of these plasticity types less adaptive (Bonamour et al. 2019).

While thermal plasticity is clearly an important component of how animals cope with thermal heterogeneity in their environment, phenotypic plasticity alone is unlikely to meet the challenge of global temperature changes (Gunderson and Stillman 2015). In addition to plastic responses, evolution can drive differences in thermal physiology among populations through local adaptation. Because many marine ectotherms are sessile and thus lack the capacity to seek out thermal refugia, they may be especially prone to natural selection on thermal tolerance phenotypes compared to their terrestrial counterparts. Indeed, a meta-analysis by Sasaki et al. (2022) revealed that local adaptation to temperature is more common in the ocean than on land, perhaps due in part to the Bogert effect, which posits that the increased capacity for behavioral thermoregulation on land shields terrestrial species from selection (Bogert 1949). It is now clear from decades of study that local adaptation to temperature is common in marine systems (Sanford and Kelly 2011). Much of our knowledge of local thermal adaptation in the ocean comes from coastal and intertidal species. For example, in the intertidal gastropod *Nucella canaliculata*, a multi-generational common garden experiment revealed a genetic basis for differentiation of thermal tolerance between populations in Oregon and northern California (Kuo and Sanford 2009). Interestingly, rather than following a latitudinal cline, this coincides with a mosaic of temperature variation whereby the Oregon sites are more exposed to heat due to the timing of low tides during mid-day as opposed to at night to the south.

Such manipulative laboratory experiments, ideally across multiple generations, are the gold standard for demonstrating local adaptation to temperature (Kawecki and Ebert 2004). However, these approaches are not tractable for all species, such as those that are long-lived or a difficult to rear in the laboratory. In these circumstances, many empiricists instead acclimate wild-caught individuals to common conditions in an attempt to minimize environmental effects (acclimatory plasticity). This approach makes study of intraspecific differentiation of thermal physiology accessible to a wider range of organisms, not just those that can be reared in culture, better reflecting the diversity of evolutionary trajectories in nature. Molecular methods also enable the study of local adaptation to temperature in a broader swath of organisms. Population genomics approaches that describe variation across the genomes of many individuals from many populations have the power to detect genetic patterns that are indicative of local adaptation (Savolainen et al. 2013; Hoban et al. 2016). Beyond their ability to demonstrate putative local adaptation to temperature, or any environmental variable, they can also reveal its genetic basis. For example, Benestan et al. (2016) used restriction site-associated DNA sequencing (RAD-seq) in the American lobster (Homarus americanus), revealing footprints of local adaptation to temperature among dozens of loci. Some of these loci were within genes putatively involved in adaptation to temperature in other systems, bolstering their role in local adaption in *H. americanus*. This example and others demonstrate how the application of genomic and transcriptomic approaches has the potential to further our understanding of local adaptation to temperature in the oceans, especially when paired directly with laboratory experimentation.

## Understanding the pace of adaptive change

As we have seen, phenotypic plasticity and local adaptation can both contribute to shifts in thermal physiology that increase fitness. However, there are open questions as to whether these two adaptive modalities will operate fast enough to meet the pace of ongoing environmental change (Duputié et al. 2015; Martin et al. 2023). While phenotypic plasticity has the potential to be fast-acting, questions about the magnitude of the adaptive response (Gunderson and Stillman 2015) and concerns about cue reliability persist (Bonamour et al.

2019). As for local adaptation, conventional wisdom posits that evolutionary change is glacially slow, inadequate to face contemporary environmental challenges. However, many recent (Reznick et al. 1990; Stuart et al. 2014; Reid et al. 2016; Campbell-Staton et al. 2017), and, indeed, some not so recent (e.g. Bumpus 1899), investigations have revealed the rapid pace at which natural selection can operate in natural populations, driving local adaptation. Still, questions remain as to whether adaptive evolution will "keep pace" with the rate of environmental change.

Understanding the magnitude and pace of adaptive evolution in response to global change is a growing theme within evolutionary biology. While evolutionary adaptation can proceed rapidly, it is often difficult to observe "in action." As such, the field has come to rely on the concept of space-for-time substitution, whereby the potential for temporal evolutionary shifts is inferred by examining putatively adaptive differentiation of phenotypes across spatial climatic gradients (Lovell et al. 2023). While an elegant and potentially useful method, there have been some questions as to whether spatial differentiation can be predictive of future temporal shifts (Damgaard 2019; Perret et al. 2024). As an alternative, experimental evolution approaches that directly apply a selective pressure and measure how traits evolve can be an especially powerful approach. Experimental evolution experiments have contributed to our understanding of the pace of evolutionary change and the conditions under which rapid adaptation is possible (Kawecki et al. 2012). However, it is only feasible for species with short generation times and that are readily kept in a laboratory or mesocosm, limiting the taxonomic breadth to which it can be applied.

Range expansions and species invasions present useful "natural experiments" to investigate the pace of adaptive evolution in wild populations (Huey et al. 2005; Sax et al. 2007; Westley 2011). At the leading edge of a range expansion or during the introduction of a NIS, colonizing individuals are often presented with novel environmental conditions to which they must adapt (Prentis et al. 2008). Provided sufficient records documenting the spread of these species, investigators can put temporal bounds around evolutionary changes they observe among populations, informing us of the pace of adaptation.

#### **Biological invasions**

Species invasions are a major facet of global environmental change (Vitousek et al. 1996, IPCC 2022). The introduction of NIS can have a profoundly destabilizing effect on native ecosystems and is among the leading causes of species extinction (Clavero and García-Berthou 2005). In addition to their often-severe ecological consequences, NIS can exert serious negative societal impacts, including to economies and human health (Pimentel et al. 2005; Pyšek and Richardson 2010). Invasion biology as a field has long focused on the ecological causes and consequences of species introductions (Elton 1958; but see Baker and Stebbins 1965), but increasingly the importance of evolutionary processes in meditating invasions has become clearer (Prentis et al. 2008). The microevolutionary forces of migration, genetic drift, and natural selection all play important roles in the establishment and spread of NIS (Lee 2002). Further, the application of evolutionary genetic approaches to the study of NIS can help to elucidate sources and vectors of introduction, an important consideration for the management of NIS (Cristescu 2015). An evolutionary lens on species invasion can not only inform us of the importance of evolutionary processes in biological invasions, but also of the pace at which evolution can proceed more generally (Westley 2011).

Research in recent decades have demonstrated the importance of adaptive evolution in the success of NIS (Maron et al. 2004; Lavergne and Molofsky 2007; Sultan et al. 2013; Turner et al. 2014). By encountering novel conditions during introduction and expansion, NIS often experience strong selective gradients. While these encounters are also likely to be mediated via phenotypic plasticity (see below), local adaptation can be critical to invasion success in these new environments (Oduor et al. 2016). For example, Sultan et al. (2013) used a resurrection approach to document rapid adaptive shifts in the invasive tufted knotweed (*Polygonum cespitosum*), with the evolution of increased reproductive output in its invasive range relative to its native range in Asia in just eleven years. This example and others like it demonstrate the rapid pace at which adaptation can proceed, serving as potent indicator for the likelihood of species more generally to adapt to novel environmental conditions under global change. Rapid evolutionary adaptation often relies on the presence of standing genetic variation upon which natural selection can act (Barrett and Schluter 2008). Characterizing the sources and extent of

genetic variation, then, is critical to informing our understanding of how rapid adaptation can proceed. Using species invasions as natural experiments can inform us of the pace of adaptive evolutionary change and the conditions under which it may be possible.

The role of phenotypic plasticity in species invasions has been a topic of consideration for invasions biologists almost as old as the field itself (Baker 1965). Broad environmental tolerances (potentially driven through phenotypic plasticity via phenotypic buffering) have long been hypothesized to be one of the primary characteristics shaping the invasiveness of successful NIS (Baker 1965). Since these early ideas of how phenotypic plasticity might shape invasion success, the role of phenotypic plasticity in species invasions has grown into a mature subfield in its own right, especially with regard to the study of invasive plants (Richards et al. 2006; Chown et al. 2007; Hulme 2008; Dyer et al. 2010). A meta-analysis by Davidson et al. (2011) demonstrated that invasive plants possess greater levels of phenotypic plasticity than closely related native counterparts, bolstering the role for plasticity in species invasions (but see Palacio-López and Gianoli 2011 for a countervailing view). In addition to its importance for the establishment of NIS in new environments, because phenotypic plasticity is itself a trait subject to natural selection, the potential for evolution of phenotypic plasticity in species introduced ranges has piqued the interest of evolutionary biologists and invasion biologists alike (Matesanz et al. 2010; Lande 2015). Local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity may thus be an important factor shaping the evolution and success of NIS, but one with only minimal empirical support.

Temperature is a major environmental axis along which NIS must adapt, and therefore thermal physiology can play an important role in species invasions (Kelley 2014). There are some indications that, like for other abiotic tolerance traits, invasive species exhibit broader thermal tolerance than native counterparts, particularly at warm temperatures (Slabber et al. 2007; Godoy et al. 2011; Zerebecki and Sorte 2011; Bates et al. 2013). Climate warming, then, may make ecosystems predisposed to invasion by NIS (Stachowicz et al. 2002; Rahel and Olden 2008; Walther et al. 2009; Sorte et al. 2010). In addition to potentially possessing high intrinsic thermal tolerances, thermal tolerance can evolve during species invasions. For example, in the cane toad (*Rhinella marina*), northern populations within its invasive range in Florida have

evolved greater cold tolerance than warmer populations further south. This has occurred since its introduction to Florida in 1955 (Easteal 1981), speaking to the rapid pace at which evolutionary adaptation can shape thermal physiology in an NIS.

Like any other realm, the oceans and coasts are susceptible to species invasions. The marine environment is replete with examples of NIS. Notable examples include the lionfish (Pterois volitans), a fish of Indo-Pacific origin that has invaded much of the Caribbean (Morris Jr et al. 2009), and Caulerpa taxifolia, an invasive alga that has established in the Mediterranean where it competes with native flora (Klein and Verlague 2008). While noted in early work on NIS (Elton 1958), research on NIS in marine systems has, until recently, mostly lagged behind investigations in terrestrial and aquatic realms (Carlton 1989; Ruiz et al. 1997). Given that shipping accounts for the majority of species introductions in the oceans (Ruiz et al. 2000), humans have been redistributing marine biota for as long as they have taken to the oceans. Further, because we historically lack reliable baseline information on marine communities, it is often difficult to discern which species are native and which are invasive at any given locale (Darling and Carlton 2018). When a species' invasive status is unresolved, either globally or in a particular region, it is referred to as cryptogenic. Cryptogenesis is especially common in the oceans (Darling and Carlton 2018), which can complicate the study of adaptation in marine NIS. While many studies compare phenotypes between the native and invasive ranges of NIS to make inferences about the role of adaptation in invasion success (Prentis et al. 2008), focusing on how traits vary within the known invasive range can also inform us of evolutionary adaptation's role in invasion and range expansion, bypassing the complications stemming from cryptogenesis.

Notwithstanding the issues related to resolving whether a species is invasive or not, species invasions in the oceans, like on land and in aquatic systems, present excellent case studies for investigating how adaptive evolution and phenotypic plasticity can response to environmental changes on contemporary time scales. Marine NIS often exist over broad gradients in temperature, across which they must adapt their physiology either evolutionarily or through phenotypic plasticity. Further, given that many marine NIS are sessile, especially those within the fouling community, they have limited capacity for thermoregulation and are

thus subject to severe environmental selection for thermal tolerance, potentiating the emergence of local adaptation.

#### <u>Ascidians – biofouling tunicates</u>

Ascidians are a class of sessile tunicates that are commonly encountered in nearshore benthic environments but are especially prolific in fouling communities on marine infrastructure such as docks, bulkheads, and ship hulls (Lambert 2005). Many are invasive and have broad global distributions, spanning ocean basins and continents (Lins et al. 2018). Ascidians, like all tunicates, are chordates and are the closest living relatives to all extant vertebrates. The typical adult ascidian body plan consists of an oral siphon, through which it takes in seawater, and an atrial or exhalant siphon, where water is expelled. Ascidians are filterfeeders, taking in plankton and other suspended particles (detritus) from the water column. Like many other marine invertebrates, ascidians have a biphasic life cycle. As adults, they exist on the benthos. Their larvae, however, are planktonic. These larvae, called tadpoles, are nonfeeding and typically have short larval durations, on the order of minutes to a few days, after which they settle. This means that ascidians generally have very limited natural dispersal potential (Svane and Young 1989). Most long-distance dispersal can be attributed to translocation of adults by humans or by rafting on drifting material (Worcester 1994; Lins et al. 2018). Ascidians can be solitary (e.g. Ciona intestinalis) or colonial (e.g. Didemnum vexillum), and both growth forms are highly represented in the ranks of marine NIS.

Invasive ascidians are often a dominant component of fouling communities and are well-represented in the literature on marine NIS (Zhan et al. 2015). They have a variety of ecological and economic impacts (Lambert 2001; Aldred and Clare 2014) and are especially well-known as nuisance species in mariculture (Carman et al. 2010). Adams et al. (2011) found that control of biofouling, to which ascidians make an outsized contribution, can comprise upwards of 20% of operating costs of marine molluscan aquaculture. Beyond impacts to local economies, ascidians can have devastating impact on native ecosystems (Lambert 2001). For example, the colonial tunicate *Didemnum vexillum* is an especially problematic species that

outcompetes native species for space on the benthos and can overgrow other organisms (McKenzie et al. 2017).

Like all marine NIS, management of invasive ascidians often relies on early detection. Several jurisdictions have launched programs to monitor the establishment and spread of marine NIS. Proactive solutions to mitigate further introduction of ascidians, however, have lagged behind. Existing programs to stymie marine NIS have focused on ballast water management, which, given that ascidians are primarily translocated via hull fouling and aquaculture transfers, may have limited impact. Some nations have established programs of hull husbandry to limit the introduction of fouling NIS (Zabin et al. 2018), though these are few and far between.

Because it is difficult or near impossible to rid out NIS once they are established, an important component of marine NIS management is predicting when and where a potential invader may show up next (Keller et al. 2008; Gallien et al. 2010). For this, it is vital to understand the sources and vectors of introduction (Hulme 2009). Evolutionary genetics can be an important tool for untangling the often-complex invasion histories of marine NIS (Cristescu 2015). Physiological studies are also necessary to describe the abiotic niches of NIS in order to infer the suitability of new habitats to invasion (Lennox et al. 2015). While useful, species distribution modeling of NIS tends to overlook intraspecific variation of environmental tolerances and often ignores the potential for niches to shift through evolutionary adaptation (but see Compton et al. 2010; Fraimout and Monnet 2018). Given that NIS are often capable of evolving during the course of invasion, it is important to consider how evolutionary shifts may mediate expansion of NIS into previously uninhabitable climes.

Ascidians as a whole are an excellent taxon in which to study the ecological and evolutionary dynamics mediating invasion success (Zhan et al. 2015). Several species (e.g. *C. intestinalis* and *Botryllus schlosseri*) are used as model systems in evolutionary developmental biology and thus have well-characterized organismal biology, widely available culturing techniques, and fully sequenced reference genomes. Further, given their broad geographic distribution, they exist over broad spatial gradients in temperature, enabling study

of intraspecific variation of thermal tolerance through local adaptation and/or phenotypic plasticity.

#### Botryllus schlosseri

*Botryllus schlosseri* Pallas 1766 is a colonial ascidian that has a cosmopolitan distribution, being found in most of the temperate global ocean (Fofonoff et al. 2024). Originally described in Europe, *B. schlosseri* can be found in diverse locales including East Asia, the Mediterranean, the Americas, the Indian subcontinent, Africa, and Oceania (Fofonoff et al. 2024). *Botryllus schlosseri* has a complex global invasion history. Historically, *B. schlosseri* was assumed to be European in origin and invasive throughout the rest of its global distribution. Recent molecular study revealed that *B. schlosseri* is likely a cryptic species complex, with at least five distinct clades, only one of which, clade A, has become globally invasive (Bock et al. 2012). While its status as a cryptic species complex is still under debate (see Reem et al. 2021), here I use *B. schlosseri* to refer solely to clade A, following Brunetti et al. (2020). Despite its presumed origin in Europe, Yund et al. (2015) provided evidence using mitochondrial *COI* data that *B. schlosseri* is also native to the Northwest Atlantic. Others consider *B. schlosseri* to be native to the Northwest Pacific (Lee and Shin 2021). Currently, its invasive status in various parts of the world is far from being resolved, and in many regions it should be considered cryptogenic, following Fofonoff et al. (2024).

In North America, *B. schlosseri* is present on both coasts. Its invasion history on the east coast unclear. Considered cryptogenic in the Atlantic United States and into the Bay of Fundy, in Canada it has recently expanded northward into Nova Scotia (Carver et al. 2006), Prince Edward Island (Ramsay et al. 2008), and Newfoundland (Callahan et al. 2010). Its southern limit along the Atlantic seaboard is somewhat variable, but it can be reliably collected in the environs of Virginia Beach, VA (pers. obs.), and not having been detected in a recent survey to the south in North Carolina (Villalobos et al. 2017). On the west coast, *B. schlosseri*'s invasion history better documented. First noted in San Francisco Bay in 1947 (Carlton 1979), *B. schlosseri* has since spread north and south. To the south, it was common in the waters of San Diego by the 1960's (Lambert and Lambert 1998) and has been reported as far south as La Paz, Baja California Sur,

México (Tovar-Hernández et al. 2014). To the north, *B. schlosseri* spread throughout the Pacific Northwest in the decades after its original detection in San Francisco Bay. More recently, *B. schlosseri* has spread further north into Southeast Alaska, where it was detected in Sitka, its current northern range limit in the Northeast Pacific, in 2001 (Ruiz et al. 2006) and Ketchikan in 2010 (Simkanin et al. 2016; Jurgens et al. 2018). *B. schlosseri* is also present in northern British Columbia, where it was first detected on the island of Haida Gwaii in 2007 (Gartner et al. 2016) and on the mainland in Lax Kw'alaams, near Prince Rupert, in 2018 (T. Therriault, pers. comm.).

Owing to its use as a model system, B. schlosseri's organismal biology is wellcharacterized (Ben-Hamo and Rinkevich 2021). Like all ascidians, B. schlosseri begins its life as a tadpole larva. These swimming larvae settle on the benthos and quickly metamorphose into oozooids, losing their tails. Oozooids soon open their siphons and begin to feed. Being colonial, individuals (zooids) reproduce asexually, adding zooids to the colony through budding (blastogenesis). Blastogenesis occurs synchronously in *B. schlosseri*, whereby all zooids within a colony simultaneously grow new buds. These buds eventually replace their parent zooids through a process called "takeover", whereby adult zooids die back and are resorbed by the colony. The cyclical nature of blastogenesis in this species means there are discrete asexual generations. The blastogenetic cycle is also closely linked to a cycle of sexual reproduction. Botryllus schlosseri zooids are protogynous hermaphrodites, whereby the ova develop in advance of sperm, ostensibly to prevent selfing. Fertilization by broadcast sperm occurs when the new asexual generation of oozooid open their siphons. Embryos are then brooded internally, and development is complete shortly before takeover, at which point the embryos are released from the zooid as swimming larvae. Each zooid can produce ~4-8 larvae (Grosberg 1988); multiplied by the hundreds to thousands of zooids within a colony, this can produce many hundreds or even thousands of larvae from a single colony (Milkman 1967).

*Botryllus schlosseri* has a long history of study, which has been reviewed elsewhere (Manni et al. 2018; Ben-Hamo and Rinkevich 2021). Though far from the first to study *B. schlosseri*, early work by Sabbadin in Venice Lagoon established basic biological characteristics such as its asexual and sexual reproductive cycles, growth phenology, and temperature preferences, which also comprised the first successful attempt at

intergenerational laboratory culture (Sabbadin 1955a, b). He and researchers from his group went on to study the genetics of pigmentation, dynamics of colony fusion and allorecognition, blastogenesis, and a variety of other topics, mostly dealing with its organismal biology. Since these earlier studies, B. schlosseri has emerged as a model for understanding the genetics and evolution of allorecognition (Scofield et al. 1982; Voskoboynik et al. 2013b). Importantly, this line of research resulted in a reference genome for the species being released in 2013 (Voskoboynik et al. 2013a). Ecological and evolutionary study of *B. schlosseri* initially lagged behind. Working with a population in Eel Pond in Woods Hole, Grosberg was among the first to spearhead B. schlosseri's use as a model for ecological and evolutionary questions. He demonstrated two different life history morphs, one semelparous and another iteroparous, in this population, and that this variation appears to be at least partly under genetic control (Grosberg 1988). He also established that *B. schlosseri* has limited dispersal potential by demonstrating proximity dependent mating success (Grosberg 1987), hinting at the potential for microgeographic genetic differentiation that was confirmed by others using genetically determined pigmentation morphs and allozymes (Yund and O'Neil 2000). Later study demonstrated phenotypic plasticity for reproductive output among populations of B. schlosseri in the Gulf of Maine (Newlon et al. 2003). Notably, there have been many population genetic studies of *B. schlosseri* in various corners of the globe using allozymes, microsatellites, and cytochrome oxidase c subunit 1 (COI) sequences (e.g. Paz et al. 2003; Ben-Shlomo et al. 2006; López-Legentil et al. 2006; Lejeusne et al. 2011; Bock et al. 2012; Yund et al. 2015). These have mostly demonstrated high levels of genetic diversity and pronounced levels of genetic differentiation. More recently, RAD-seq was applied to nine global populations of B. schlosseri (Gao et al. 2018, 2022), an important foray into population genomics that suggested local adaptation to a variety of environmental variables.

Interestingly, aside from a handful of studies (Sabbadin 1955a; Brunetti et al. 1980, 1984; McCarthy et al. 2007; Epelbaum et al. 2009; Zerebecki and Sorte 2011), there has been little examination of *B. schlosseri*'s thermal biology. There has been still less work that examines the potential for intraspecific variation of thermal tolerance. Sorte et al. (2011) demonstrated that adult *B. schlosseri* from the east coast of North America (Lynn, MA) exhibited significantly

greater heat tolerance than individuals from the west coast (Bodega Bay, CA), coincident with higher summer water temperatures in Massachusetts compared to California and suggesting a role for local adaptation and/or adaptive phenotypic plasticity. Given *B. schlosseri*'s vast global latitudinal distribution, stretching from the Indian subcontinent (Ali et al. 2009) to Iceland (Ramos-Esplá et al. 2020), it is subject to a broad gradient in water temperature. Aside from the one bicoastal comparison (Sorte et al. 2011), little is known about *B. schlosseri*'s potential for population-level differentiation of thermal tolerance and the potential contributions of local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity.

## Thesis Aims

By combining population genomic and ecophysiological methods of inquiry, this thesis aims to evaluate intraspecific variation of thermal tolerance and its genetic and physiological basis. By using a NIS with a well-characterized recent history of northward spread in North America, I will assess the potential for rapid shifts in thermal physiology, possibly mediated by evolutionary adaptation, that may underlie its success at these higher latitudes. Importantly, in querying genomic variation of many hundreds of individuals from across *B. schlosseri*'s North American range, this thesis also contributes to resolving its complicated invasion history in this region. By weaving multiple lines of evidence from genomes to physiology, this thesis comprises a truly integrative body of work that contributes to our understanding of how intraspecific variation of thermal biology can arise on compressed timescales and how it may mediate invasion success.

#### Thesis Overview

By querying the genomes of many individuals from many populations, population genomic methods can help resolve the demographic history of NIS and uncover signatures of local adaptation, providing evidence for the role of evolutionary adaptation in biological invasions. In Chapter 2, I use a population genomic approach to investigate patterns of genetic differentiation and signatures of local adaptation to temperature across *B. schlosseri*'s North America Distribution. Using low-coverage whole genome sequencing (lcWGS), I describe

genomic variation of hundreds of individuals across twenty-four populations, twelve from each coast of North America. Analyzing millions of single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), I describe the population structure of this species, uncovering the existence of three main evolutionary lineages within North American waters. Principal component analysis (PCA) revealed hierarchical levels of population structure within each lineage, which allowed me to assess the relationships among populations. A genomic approach facilitated the implementation of genotype-environment association (GEA) analyses to detect signatures of local adaptation to environmental temperature. Working independently in two of the three evolutionary lineages, one from each coast, I detected thousands of SNPs whose allele frequencies were significantly correlated with environmental temperature and may thus be implicated in thermal adaptation. Comparing the SNPs and genes potentially implicated in selection across either coast allowed me to evaluate the potential for parallel adaptation of thermal tolerance. While a large component of genetic diversity was shared between both coasts, the SNPs and genes exhibited signatures of selection were mostly independent, suggesting that the genomic mechanisms underlying adaptation of thermal tolerance on each coast may be independent.

Describing spatial and temporal phenotypic variation is often a useful means for investigating local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity in natural populations. In Chapter 3, I present an ecophysiological investigation of heat tolerance in five populations of *B. schlosseri* spanning 4.4° of latitude along the east coast of North America. I develop a novel approach to measure the lethal temperature of 50% survival (LT<sub>50</sub>) of *B. schlosseri* post-larvae (oozooids). I found that populations with the Gulf of Maine, which experience appreciably colder summer temperatures, exhibit significantly lower LT<sub>50</sub>'s than those populations to the south, which experience warmer temperatures. This demonstration of population-level differentiation of heat tolerance suggests this may be adaptive. Further, by repeating these experiments temporally, during which time environmental temperatures were shifting, I was able to assess the influence of short-term temperature history upon oozooid heat tolerance through developmental plasticity. I found that development at higher temperatures results in greater heat tolerance at the oozoid stage, establishing adaptive developmental plasticity. Interestingly,

populations also varied with respect to their degree of developmental plasticity, with sites experiencing more short-term temperature variability exhibiting greater levels of plasticity. This may suggest that phenotypic plasticity is locally adapted across this gradient of temperature variability, an exciting prospect.

Establishing consistent patterns of phenotypic variation across parallel environmental gradients can provide firmer support for adaptation. In Chapter 4, I extend my physiological investigation to the west coast of North America and expand its scope to include differentiation of cold tolerance. I compare heat and cold tolerance across three populations spanning a 24.3° latitudinal gradient. I found that the southernmost site displayed significantly greater heat tolerance than two populations further north, but that there was no differentiation between these two northern populations. I synthesized these heat tolerance data with those from Chapter 3 to assess the relationship between environmental temperature and  $LT_{50}$ , demonstrating that shifts in heat tolerance are coincident with differences in water temperature and are likely adaptive. To assess cold tolerance, I developed a novel method for assaying cardiac activity during a cold challenge. I compared cardiac performance across a range of temperatures to assess the potential for differentiation of cold tolerance. This investigation yielded a pattern of increasing cold tolerance with latitude, whereby the northernmost population maintained higher heart rates at 8 °C, followed by an intermediate population, and then by the southernmost population. This pattern is consistent with countergradient adaptation whereby genetic adaptation compensates for prevailing differences in seawater temperature among the sites.

### REFERENCES

- Adams CM, Shumway SE, Whitlatch RB, Getchis T (2011) Biofouling in marine molluscan shellfish aquaculture: a survey assessing the business and economicimplications of mitigation. J World Aquac Soc 42:242–252. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-7345.2011.00460.x
  Aitken SN, Whitlock MC (2013) Assisted gene flow to facilitate local adaptation to climate
- change. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 44:367–388. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110512-135747

Aldred N, Clare AS (2014) Mini-review: Impact and dynamics of surface fouling by solitary and compound ascidians. Biofouling 30:259–270. doi: 10.1080/08927014.2013.866653
 Ali HAJ, Tamilselvi M, Sivakumar V (2009) Distribution of alien and cryptogenic ascidians along

the southern coasts of Indian Peninsula. World J Fish Mar Sci 1:305–312

- Angilletta M (2009) Thermal Adaptation: A Theoretical and Empirical Synthesis. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Baker HG (1965) Characteristics and modes of origin of weeds. In: Stebbins GL, Baker HG (eds) The Genetics of Colonizing Species. Academic Press, New York, pp 147–172
- Baker HG, Stebbins GL (eds) (1965) The Genetics of Colonizing Species. Academic Press, New York
- Barrett RDH, Schluter D (2008) Adaptation from standing genetic variation. Trends Ecol Evol 23:38–44. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.09.008
- Bates AE, McKelvie CM, Sorte CJB, et al (2013) Geographical range, heat tolerance and invasion success in aquatic species. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 280:20131958
- Ben-Hamo O, Rinkevich B (2021) *Botryllus schlosseri*—A model colonial species in basic and applied studies. In: Handbook of Marine Model Organisms in Experimental Biology. CRC Press, pp 385–402
- Ben-Shlomo R, Paz G, Rinkevich B (2006) Postglacial-period and recent invasions shape the population genetics of botryllid ascidians along European Atlantic coasts. Ecosystems 9:1118–1127. doi: 10.1007/s10021-006-0141-y
- Benestan L, Quinn BK, Maaroufi H, et al (2016) Seascape genomics provides evidence for thermal adaptation and current-mediated population structure in American lobster (*Homarus americanus*). Mol Ecol 25:5073–5092. doi: 10.1111/mec.13811
- Bock DG, Macisaac HJ, Cristescu ME (2012) Multilocus genetic analyses differentiate between widespread and spatially restricted cryptic species in a model ascidian. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 279:2377–2385. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.2610
- Bogert CM (1949) Thermoregulation in reptiles, a factor in evolution. Evolution 3:195–211
- Bonamour S, Chevin L-M, Charmantier A, Teplitsky C (2019) Phenotypic plasticity in response to climate change: the importance of cue variation. Philos Trans R Soc B 374:20180178
- Bradshaw AD (1965) Evolutionary significance of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Adv Genet 13:115–155
- Brunetti R, Beghi L, Bressan M, Marin M (1980) Combined effects of temperature and salinity on colonies of *Botryllus schlosseri* and *Botrylloides leachi* (Ascidiacea) from the Venetian Lagoon. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 2:303–314. doi: 10.3354/meps002303
- Brunetti R, Griggio F, Mastrototaro F, et al (2020) Toward a resolution of the cosmopolitan Botryllus schlosseri species complex (Ascidiacea, Styelidae): mitogenomics and morphology of clade E (Botryllus gaiae). Zool J Linn Soc 1–18. doi: 10.1093/zoolinnean/zlaa023
- Brunetti R, Marin MG, Bressan M (1984) Combined effects of temperature and salinity on sexual reproduction and colonial growth of *Botryllus schlosseri* (Tunicata). Ital J Zool 51:405–411. doi: 10.1080/11250008409439481
- Buckley BA, Hofmann GE (2002) Thermal acclimation changes DNA-binding activity of heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) in the goby *Gillichthys mirabilis*: implications for plasticity in the heat-shock response in natural populations. J Exp Biol 205:3231–3240
- Bumpus HC (1899) The elimination of the unfit as illustrated by the introduced sparrow, *Passer* domesticus. Biol Lect from Mar Biol Lab Woods Hole, Mass 209–228
- Burger FA, John JG, Frölicher TL (2020) Increase in ocean acidity variability and extremes under increasing atmospheric CO 2. Biogeosciences 17:4633–4662
Callahan AG, Deibel D, McKenzie CH, et al (2010) Survey of harbours in Newfoundland for indigenous and non-indigenous ascidians and an analysis of their cytochrome c oxidase I gene sequences. Aquat Invasions 5:31–39. doi: 10.3391/ai.2010.5.1.5

Campbell-Staton SC, Cheviron ZA, Rochette N, et al (2017) Winter storms drive rapid phenotypic, regulatory, and genomic shifts in the green anole lizard. Science 357:495–498

Carlton JT (1989) Man's role in changing the face of the ocean: biological invasions and implications for conservation of near-shore environments. Conserv Biol 3:265–273

Carlton JT (1979) History, biogeography, and ecology of the introduced marine and estuarine invertebrates of the Pacific Coast of North America. University of California, Davis

Carman MR, Morris JA, Karney RC, Grunden DW (2010) An initial assessment of native and invasive tunicates in shellfish aquaculture of the North American east coast. J Appl Ichthyol 26:8–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0426.2010.01495.x

Carver CE, Mallet AL, Vercaemer B (2006) Biological synopsis of the colonial tunicates (*Botryllus schlosseri* and *Botrylloides violaceus*). Bedford Institute of Oceanography

Cavieres G, Alruiz JM, Medina NR, et al (2019) Transgenerational and within-generation plasticity shape thermal performance curves. Ecol Evol 9:2072–2082

Chown SL, Hoffmann AA, Kristensen TN, et al (2010) Adapting to climate change: A perspective from evolutionary physiology. Clim Res 43:3–15. doi: 10.3354/cr00879

Chown SL, Slabber S, McGeoch MA, et al (2007) Phenotypic plasticity mediates climate change responses among invasive and indigenous arthropods. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 274:2531–2537

Clavero M, García-Berthou E (2005) Invasive species are a leading cause of animal extinctions. Trends Ecol Evol 20:110

Compton TJ, Leathwick JR, Inglis GJ (2010) Thermogeography predicts the potential global range of the invasive European green crab (*Carcinus maenas*). Divers Distrib 16:243–255. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00644.x

Connell JH (1961) The influence of interspecific competition and other factors on the distribution of the barnacle *Chthamalus stellatus*. Ecology 710–723

Crispo E (2008) Modifying effects of phenotypic plasticity on interactions among natural selection, adaptation and gene flow. J Evol Biol 21:1460–1469

Cristescu ME (2015) Genetic reconstructions of invasion history. Mol Ecol 24:2212–2225. doi: 10.1111/mec.13117

Damgaard C (2019) A critique of the space-for-time substitution practice in community ecology. Trends Ecol Evol 34:416–421

Darling JA, Carlton JT (2018) A framework for understanding marine cosmopolitanism in the Anthropocene. Front Mar Sci 5:293

Davidson AM, Jennions M, Nicotra AB (2011) Do invasive species show higher phenotypic plasticity than native species and, if so, is it adaptive? A meta-analysis. Ecol Lett 14:419– 431. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01596.x

De Jong G, Bijma P (2002) Selection and phenotypic plasticity in evolutionary biology and animal breeding. Livest Prod Sci 78:195–214

Diaz F, Kuijper B, Hoyle RB, et al (2021) Environmental predictability drives adaptive within-and transgenerational plasticity of heat tolerance across life stages and climatic regions. Funct Ecol 35:153–166

Donelan SC, Hellmann JK, Bell AM, et al (2020) Transgenerational Plasticity in Human-Altered

Environments. Trends Ecol Evol 35:115–124. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2019.09.003

- Donelson JM, Sunday JM, Figueira WF, et al (2019) Understanding interactions between plasticity, adaptation and range shifts in response to marine environmental change. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 374:. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0186
- Duputié A, Rutschmann A, Ronce O, Chuine I (2015) Phenological plasticity will not help all species adapt to climate change. Glob Chang Biol 21:3062–3073
- Dyer AR, Brown CS, Espeland EK, et al (2010) SYNTHESIS: The role of adaptive transgenerational plasticity in biological invasions of plants. Evol Appl 3:179–192
- Easteal S (1981) The history of introductions of *Bufo marinus* (Amphibia: Anura); a natural experiment in evolution. Biol J Linn Soc 16:93–113

Elton CS (1958) The Ecology of Invasions by Animals and Plants. Methuen, London, U.K.

Epelbaum A, Herborg LM, Therriault TW, Pearce CM (2009) Temperature and salinity effects on growth, survival, reproduction, and potential distribution of two non-indigenous botryllid ascidians in British Columbia. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 369:43–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2008.10.028

- Fofonoff P, Ruiz G, Steves B, et al (2024) National Exotic Marine and Estuarine Species Information System. https://invasions.si.edu/nemesis/
- Fox RJ, Donelson JM, Schunter C, et al (2019) Beyond buying time: The role of plasticity in phenotypic adaptation to rapid environmental change. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 374:. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0174
- Fraimout A, Monnet A-C (2018) Accounting for intraspecific variation to quantify niche dynamics along the invasion routes of *Drosophila suzukii*. Biol Invasions 20:2963–2979
- Frankham R (1999) Quantitative genetics in conservation biology. Genet Res (Camb) 74:237–244
- Gallien L, Münkemüller T, Albert CH, et al (2010) Predicting potential distributions of invasive species: Where to go from here? Divers Distrib 16:331–342. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00652.x
- Gao Y, Chen Y, Li S, et al (2022) Complementary genomic and epigenomic adaptation to environmental heterogeneity. Mol Ecol 31:3598–3612
- Gao Y, Li S, Zhan A (2018) Genome-wide single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) for a model invasive ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. Genetica 146:227–234. doi: 10.1007/s10709-018-0015-1
- Gartner HN, Murray CC, Frey MA, et al (2016) Non-indigenous invertebrate species in the marine fouling communities of British Columbia, Canada. BioInvasions Rec 5:205–212. doi: 10.3391/bir.2016.5.4.03
- Ghalambor CK, McKay JK, Carroll SP, Reznick DN (2007) Adaptive versus non-adaptive phenotypic plasticity and the potential for contemporary adaptation in new environments. Funct Ecol 21:394–407. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01283.x
- Godoy O, de Lemos-Filho JP, Valladares F (2011) Invasive species can handle higher leaf temperature under water stress than Mediterranean natives. Environ Exp Bot 71:207–214
- Grosberg RK (1988) Life-history variation within a population of the colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri* I. The genetic and environmental control of seasonal variation. Evolution 42:900–920. doi: 10.1111/j.1558-5646.1988.tb02510.x
- Grosberg RK (1987) Limited dispersal and proximity-dependent mating success in the colonial

ascidian Botryllus schlosseri. Evolution 41:372–384. doi: 10.2307/2409145 Gunderson AR, Stillman JH (2015) Plasticity in thermal tolerance has limited potential to buffer

- ectotherms from global warming. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 282:. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2015.0401 Hamdoun AM, Cheney DP, Cherr GN (2003) Phenotypic plasticity of HSP70 and HSP70 gene
- expression in the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*): implications for thermal limits and induction of thermal tolerance. Biol Bull 205:160–169

Harvell CD (1984) Predator-induced defense in a marine bryozoan. Science 224:1357–1359 Harvell CD (1990) The ecology and evolution of inducible defenses. Q Rev Biol 65:323–340

Hoban S, Kelley JL, Lotterhos KE, et al (2016) Finding the Genomic Basis of Local Adaptation: Pitfalls, Practical Solutions, and Future Directions. Am Nat 188:379–397. doi: 10.1086/688018

Hochachka PW, Somero GN (2002) Biochemical Adaptation: Mechanism and Process in Physiological Evolution. Oxford University Press

- Huey RB, Gilchrist GW, Hendry AP (2005) Using invasive species to study evolution. In: Sax DF,
  Stachowicz JJ, Gaines SD, Freeman WH (eds) Species Invasions: Insights into Ecology,
  Evolution, and Biogeography. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA, pp 139–164
- Hulme PE (2008) Phenotypic plasticity and plant invasions: Is it all Jack? Funct Ecol 22:3–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01369.x
- Hulme PE (2009) Trade, transport and trouble: managing invasive species pathways in an era of globalization. J Appl Ecol 46:10–18
- Jayasundara N, Somero GN (2013) Physiological plasticity of cardiorespiratory function in a eurythermal marine teleost, the longjaw mudsucker, *Gillichthys mirabilis*. J Exp Biol 216:2111–2121
- Jurgens L, Bonfim M, Lopez DP, et al (2018) Poleward range expansion of a non-indigenous bryozoan and new occurrences of exotic ascidians in southeast Alaska. BioInvasions Rec 7:357–366. doi: 10.3391/bir.2018.7.4.02
- Kawecki TJ, Ebert D (2004) Conceptual issues in local adaptation. Ecol Lett 7:1225–1241. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00684.x
- Kawecki TJ, Lenski RE, Ebert D, et al (2012) Experimental evolution. Trends Ecol Evol 27:547– 560

Keller RP, Frang K, Lodge DM (2008) Preventing the spread of invasive species: economic benefits of intervention guided by ecological predictions. Conserv Biol 22:80–88

- Kelley AL (2014) The role thermal physiology plays in species invasion. Conserv Physiol 2:1–14. doi: 10.1093/conphys/cou045
- Klein J, Verlaque M (2008) The *Caulerpa racemosa* invasion: a critical review. Mar Pollut Bull 56:205–225
- Kuo ESL, Sanford E (2009) Geographic variation in the upper thermal limits of an intertidal snail: implications for climate envelope models. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 388:137–146. doi: 10.3354/meps08102
- Lambert CC, Lambert G (1998) Non-indigenous ascidians in southern California harbors and marinas. Mar Biol 130:675–688

Lambert G (2005) Ecology and natural history of the protochordates. Can J Zool 83:34–50

Lambert G (2001) A global overview of ascidian introductions and their possible impact on the endemic fauna. In: The Biology of Ascidians. Springer, pp 249–257

- Lande R (2015) Evolution of phenotypic plasticity in colonizing species. Mol Ecol 24:2038–2045. doi: 10.1111/mec.13037
- Lavergne S, Molofsky J (2007) Increased genetic variation and evolutionary potential drive the success of an invasive grass. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104:3883–3888. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607324104
- Lee CE (2002) Evolutionary genetics of invasive species. Trends Ecol Evol 17:386–391. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(01)02405-3
- Lee T, Shin S (2021) First record of colonial ascidian, *Botrylloides diegensis* Ritter and Forsyth, 1917 (Ascidiacea, Stolidobranchia, Styelidae), in South Korea. Water 13:2164. doi: 10.3390/w13162164
- Lejeusne C, Bock DG, Therriault TW, et al (2011) Comparative phylogeography of two colonial ascidians reveals contrasting invasion histories in North America. Biol Invasions 13:635–650. doi: 10.1007/s10530-010-9854-0
- Lennox R, Choi K, Harrison PM, et al (2015) Improving science-based invasive species management with physiological knowledge, concepts, and tools. Biol Invasions 17:2213– 2227
- Lenormand T (2002) Gene flow and the limits to natural selection. Trends Ecol Evol 17:183–189. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2184.1976.tb01248.x
- Levin LA (2006) Recent progress in understanding larval dispersal: new directions and digressions. Integr Comp Biol 46:282–297
- Levins R (1968) Evolution in Changing Environments: Some Theoretical Explorations. Princeton University Press
- Lins DM, de Marco Jr P, Andrade AFA, Rocha RM (2018) Predicting global ascidian invasions. Divers Distrib 24:692–704
- López-Legentil S, Turon X, Planes S (2006) Genetic structure of the star sea squirt, *Botryllus schlosseri*, introduced in southern European harbours. Mol Ecol 15:3957–3967. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2006.03087.x
- Lovell RSL, Collins S, Martin SH, et al (2023) Space-for-time substitutions in climate change ecology and evolution. Biol Rev 98:2243–2270
- Manni L, Anselmi C, Cima F, et al (2018) Sixty years of experimental studies on the blastogenesis of the colonial tunicate *Botryllus schlosseri*. Dev Biol. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2018.09.009
- Maron JL, Vilà M, Bommarco R, et al (2004) Rapid evolution of an invasive plant. Ecol Monogr 74:261–280
- Martin RA, da Silva CRB, Moore MP, Diamond SE (2023) When will a changing climate outpace adaptive evolution? Wiley Interdiscip Rev Clim Chang 14:e852
- Massamba-N'Siala G, Prevedelli D, Simonini R (2014) Trans-generational plasticity in physiological thermal tolerance is modulated by maternal pre-reproductive environment in the polychaete *Ophryotrocha labronica*. J Exp Biol 217:2004–2012
- Matesanz S, Gianoli E, Valladares F (2010) Global change and the evolution of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1206:35–55
- McCarthy A, Osman RW, Whitlatch RB (2007) Effects of temperature on growth rates of colonial ascidians: A comparison of *Didemnum* sp. to *Botryllus schlosseri* and *Botrylloides violaceus*. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 342:172–174. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2006.10.036
- McKenzie CH, Reid V, Lambert G, et al (2017) Alien species alert: Didemnum vexillum Kott,

2002: Invasion, impact, and control. ICES Cooperative Research Reports (CRR)

- Merilä J, Hendry AP (2014) Climate change, adaptation, and phenotypic plasticity: The problem and the evidence. Evol Appl 7:1–14. doi: 10.1111/eva.12137
- Milkman R (1967) Genetic and developmental studies on *Botryllus schlosseri*. Biol Bull 132:229–243. doi: 10.2307/1539891
- Morgan SG, Fisher JL, Miller SH, et al (2009) Nearshore larval retention in a region of strong upwelling and recruitment limitation. Ecology 90:3489–3502
- Morris Jr JA, Akins JL, Barse A, et al (2009) Biology and ecology of the invasive lionfishes, *Pterois miles* and *Pterois volitans*.
- Newlon AW, Yund PO, Stewart-Savage J (2003) Phenotypic Plasticity of Reproductive Effort in a Colonial Ascidian, *Botryllus schlosseri*. J Exp Zool Part A Comp Exp Biol 297:180–188. doi: 10.1002/jez.a.10244
- Oduor AMO, Leimu R, van Kleunen M (2016) Invasive plant species are locally adapted just as frequently and at least as strongly as native plant species. J Ecol 104:957–968
- Oliver ECJ, Donat MG, Burrows MT, et al (2018) Longer and more frequent marine heatwaves over the past century. Nat Commun 9:1–12
- Oostra V, Saastamoinen M, Zwaan BJ, Wheat CW (2018) Strong phenotypic plasticity limits potential for evolutionary responses to climate change. Nat Commun 9:1005
- Padilla DK, Savedo MM (2013) A systematic review of phenotypic plasticity in marine invertebrate and plant systems. Adv Mar Biol 65:67–94. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-410498-3.00002-1
- Paine RT (1974) Intertidal community structure: experimental studies on the relationship between a dominant competitor and its principal predator. Oecologia 15:93–120
- Palacio-López K, Gianoli E (2011) Invasive plants do not display greater phenotypic plasticity than their native or non-invasive counterparts: A meta-analysis. Oikos 120:1393–1401. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.19114.x
- Paris CB, Cowen RK (2004) Direct evidence of a biophysical retention mechanism for coral reef fish larvae. Limnol Oceanogr 49:1964–1979
- Paz G, Douek J, Mo C, et al (2003) Genetic structure of *Botryllus schlosseri* (Tunicata) populations from the Mediterranean coast of Israel. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 250:153–162. doi: 10.3354/meps250153
- Perret DL, Evans MEK, Sax DF (2024) A species' response to spatial climatic variation does not predict its response to climate change. Proc Natl Acad Sci 121:e2304404120
- Pimentel D, Zuniga R, Morrison D (2005) Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien-invasive species in the United States. Ecol Econ 52:273–288
- Prentis PJ, Wilson JRU, Dormontt EE, et al (2008) Adaptive evolution in invasive species. Trends Plant Sci 13:288–294. doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2008.03.004
- Pyšek P, Richardson DM (2010) Invasive species, environmental change and management, and health. Annu Rev Environ Resour 35:25–55
- Quigley KM (2024) Breeding and Selecting Corals Resilient to Global Warming. Annu Rev Anim Biosci 12:209–332
- Rahel FJ, Olden JD (2008) Assessing the effects of climate change on aquatic invasive species. Conserv Biol 22:521–533
- Ramos-Esplá AA, Micael J, Halldórsson HP, Gíslason S (2020) Iceland: A laboratory for non-

indigenous ascidians. BioInvasions Rec 9:450–460. doi: 10.3391/bir.2020.9.3.01

- Ramsay A, Davidson J, Landry T, Arsenault G (2008) Process of invasiveness among exotic tunicates in Prince Edward Island, Canada. Biol Invasions 10:1311–1316
- Reem E, Douek J, Rinkevich B (2021) A critical deliberation of the "species complex" status of the globally spread colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. J Mar Biol Assoc United Kingdom 101:1047–1060. doi: 10.1017/S0025315422000029
- Reid NM, Proestou DA, Clark BW, et al (2016) The genomic landscape of rapid repeated evolutionary adaptation to toxic pollution in wild fish. Science 354:1305–1308. doi: 10.1126/science.aah4993
- Reusch TBH (2013) Climate change in the oceans: Evolutionary versus phenotypically plastic responses of marine animals and plants. Evol Appl 7:104–122. doi: 10.1111/eva.12109
- Reznick DA, Bryga H, Endler JA (1990) Experimentally induced life-history evolution in a natural population. Nature 346:357–359
- Richards CL, Bossdorf O, Muth NZ, et al (2006) Jack of all trades, master of some? On the role of phenotypic plasticity in plant invasions. Ecol Lett 9:981–993. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00950.x
- Rinkevich B (2021) Augmenting coral adaptation to climate change via coral gardening (the nursery phase). J Environ Manage 291:112727
- Rivera HE, Chen CY, Gibson MC, Tarrant AM (2021) Plasticity in parental effects confers rapid larval thermal tolerance in the estuarine anemone *Nematostella vectensis*. J Exp Biol 224:. doi: 10.1242/jeb.236745
- Ruiz GM, Carlton JT, Grosholz ED, Hines AH (1997) Global invasions of marine and estuarine habitats by non-indigenous species: mechanisms, extent, and consequences. Am Zool 37:621–632. doi: 10.1093/icb/37.6.621
- Ruiz GM, Fofonoff PW, Carlton JT, et al (2000) Invasion of coastal marine communities in North America: apparent patterns, processes, and biases. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 31:481–531. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.31.1.481
- Ruiz GM, Huber T, Larson K, et al (2006) Biological Invasions in Alaska's Coastal Marine Ecosystems: Establishing a Baseline
- Sabbadin A (1955a) Osservazioni sullo sviluppo, l'accrescimento e la riproduzione di *Botryllus schlosseri* (Pallas), in condizioni di laboratorio. Ital J Zool 22:243–263
- Sabbadin A (1955b) Il ciclo biologico di *Botryllus schlosseri* (Pallas) [Ascidiacea] nella Laguna di Venezia. Arch Ocean Limnol 10:217–230
- Salinger MJ (2005) Climate variability and change: past, present and future--an overview. Clim Change 70:9–29
- Sanford E, Kelly MW (2011) Local adaptation in marine invertebrates. Ann Rev Mar Sci 3:509– 535. doi: 10.1146/annurev-marine-120709-142756
- Sasaki M, Barley JM, Gignoux-Wolfsohn S, et al (2022) Greater evolutionary divergence of thermal limits within marine than terrestrial species. Nat Clim Chang 1–6
- Savolainen O, Lascoux M, Merilä J (2013) Ecological genomics of local adaptation. Nat. Rev. Genet. 14:807–820
- Sax DF, Stachowicz JJ, Brown JH, et al (2007) Ecological and evolutionary insights from species invasions. Trends Ecol Evol 22:465–471. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.06.009
- Schaefer J, Ryan A (2006) Developmental plasticity in the thermal tolerance of zebrafish Danio

*rerio*. J Fish Biol 69:722–734

- Scofield VL, Schlumpberger JM, Weissman IL (1982) Colony specificity in the colonial tunicate Botryllus and the origins of vertebrate immunity. Am Zool 22:783–794
- Seebacher F, White CR, Franklin CE (2015) Physiological plasticity increases resilience of ectothermic animals to climate change. Nat Clim Chang 5:61–66
- Simkanin C, Fofonoff PW, Larson K, et al (2016) Spatial and temporal dynamics of ascidian invasions in the continental United States and Alaska. Mar Biol 163:163. doi: 10.1007/s00227-016-2924-9
- Sinclair BJ, Marshall KE, Sewell MA, et al (2016) Can we predict ectotherm responses to climate change using thermal performance curves and body temperatures? Ecol Lett 19:1372–1385
- Slabber S, Worland MR, Leinaas HP, Chown SL (2007) Acclimation effects on thermal tolerances of springtails from sub-Antarctic Marion Island: indigenous and invasive species. J Insect Physiol 53:113–125
- Sokolova IM, Pörtner H-O (2003) Metabolic plasticity and critical temperatures for aerobic scope in a eurythermal marine invertebrate (*Littorina saxatilis*, Gastropoda: Littorinidae) from different latitudes. J Exp Biol 206:195–207
- Somero GN (2010) The physiology of climate change: How potentials for acclimatization and genetic adaptation will determine "winners" and "losers." J Exp Biol 213:912–920. doi: 10.1242/jeb.037473
- Somero GN (2012) The physiology of global change: linking patterns to mechanisms. Ann Rev Mar Sci 4:39–61. doi: 10.1146/annurev-marine-120710-100935
- Somero GN (2002) Thermal physiology and vertical zonation of intertidal animals: optima, limits, and costs of living. Integr Comp Biol 42:780–789
- Sorte CJB, Jones SJ, Miller LP (2011) Geographic variation in temperature tolerance as an indicator of potential population responses to climate change. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 400:209–217. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2011.02.009
- Sorte CJB, Williams SL, Zerebecki RA (2010) Ocean warming increases threat of invasive species in a marine fouling community. Ecology 91:2198–2204
- Stachowicz JJ, Terwin JR, Whitlatch RB, Osman RW (2002) Linking climate change and biological invasions: Ocean warming facilitates nonindigenous species invasions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:15497–15500. doi: 10.1073/pnas.242437499
- Stearns SC, Nesse RM, Govindaraju DR, Ellison PT (2010) Evolutionary perspectives on health and medicine. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:1691–1695
- Stuart YE, Campbell TS, Hohenlohe PA, et al (2014) Rapid evolution of a native species following invasion by a congener. Science 346:463–466
- Sultan SE, Horgan-Kobelski T, Nichols LM, et al (2013) A resurrection study reveals rapid adaptive evolution within populations of an invasive plant. Evol Appl 6:266–278
- Svane I, Young CM (1989) The ecology and behaviour of ascidian larvae. Ocean Mar Biol 27:45– 90
- Swearer SE, Shima JS, Hellberg ME, et al (2002) Evidence of self-recruitment in demersal marine populations. Bull Mar Sci 70:251–271
- Teets NM, Gantz JD, Kawarasaki Y (2020) Rapid cold hardening: ecological relevance, physiological mechanisms and new perspectives. J Exp Biol 223:jeb203448

- Tepolt CK, Somero GN (2014) Master of all trades: thermal acclimation and adaptation of cardiac function in a broadly distributed marine invasive species, the European green crab, *Carcinus maenas*. J Exp Biol 217:1129–1138. doi: 10.1242/jeb.093849
- Teske PR, Sandoval-Castillo J, Van Sebille E, et al (2016) Oceanography promotes selfrecruitment in a planktonic larval disperser. Sci Rep 6:34205
- Tigano A, Friesen VL (2016) Genomics of local adaptation with gene flow. Mol Ecol 25:2144–2164. doi: 10.1111/mec.13606
- Tomanek L, Helmuth B (2002) Physiological ecology of rocky intertidal organisms: a synergy of concepts. Integr Comp Biol 42:771–775
- Tovar-Hernández MA, Yáñez-Rivera B, Villalobos-Guerrero TF, et al (2014) Invertebrados marinos exóticos en el Golfo de California. In: Especies Invasoras Acuáticas: Casos de Estudio en Ecosistemas de México. pp 394–659
- Turner KG, Hufbauer RA, Rieseberg LH (2014) Rapid evolution of an invasive weed. New Phytol 202:309–321
- Villalobos SM, Lambert G, Shenkar N, López-Legentil S (2017) Distribution and population dynamics of key ascidians in North Carolina harbors and marinas. Aquat Invasions 12:
- Vitousek PM, D'Antonio CM, Loope LL, Westbrooks R (1996) Biological invasions as global environmental change. Am Sci 84:468–478
- Voskoboynik A, Neff NF, Sahoo D, et al (2013a) The genome sequence of the colonial chordate, *Botryllus schlosseri*. eLife 2:e00569. doi: 10.7554/elife.00569
- Voskoboynik A, Newman AM, Corey DM, et al (2013b) Identification of a colonial chordate histocompatibility gene. Science 341:384–387. doi: 10.1126/science.1238036
- Walther G-R, Roques A, Hulme PE, et al (2009) Alien species in a warmer world: risks and opportunities. Trends Ecol Evol 24:686–693
- West-Eberhard MJ (2003) Developmental Plasticity and Evolution. Oxford University Press, Oxford, U.K.
- Westley PAH (2011) What invasive species reveal about the rate and form of contemporary phenotypic change in nature. Am Nat 177:496–509
- Worcester SE (1994) Adult rafting versus larval swimming: dispersal and recruitment of a botryllid ascidian on eelgrass. Mar Biol 121:309–317
- Young DJN, Blush TD, Landram M, et al (2020) Assisted gene flow in the context of large-scale forest management in California, USA. Ecosphere 11:e03001
- Yund PO, Collins C, Johnson SL (2015) Evidence of a native northwest atlantic COI haplotype clade in the cryptogenic colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. Biol Bull 228:201–216. doi: 10.1086/BBLv228n3p201
- Yund PO, O'Neil PG (2000) Microgeographic genetic differentiation in a colonial ascidian (*Botryllus schlosseri*) population. Mar Biol 137:583–588. doi: 10.1007/s002270000378
- Zabin C, Davidson I, Holzer K, et al (2018) How will vessels be inspected to meet emerging biofouling regulations for the prevention of marine invasions? Manag Biol Invasions 9:195– 208
- Zerebecki RA, Sorte CJB (2011) Temperature tolerance and stress proteins as mechanisms of invasive species success. PLoS One 6:e14806. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014806
- Zhan A, Briski E, Bock DG, et al (2015) Ascidians as models for studying invasion success. Mar Biol 162:2449–2470. doi: 10.1007/s00227-015-2734-5

Population genomics of a marine invader reveals limited parallelism during local adaptation to temperature across both coasts of North

II

America

# ABSTRACT

Non-indigenous species (NIS) often face novel environmental conditions during establishment and subsequent range expansion. Evolutionary adaptation is often invoked as a mechanism by which NIS can adjust to new habitats during invasion, with many recent studies demonstrating local adaptation among populations in the invasive range of NIS. Biological invasions, then, can serve as powerful natural experiments to study the pace of adaptive evolution in natural populations. When invasions occur simultaneously across repeated environmental gradients, they provide the opportunity to investigate the potential for parallel evolution and its genetic basis. Botryllus schlosseri is an invasive colonial tunicate with a cosmopolitan distribution that is found in North America, where it is actively expanding northward along the Pacific and Atlantic coasts. Here we use low-coverage whole genome sequencing (IcWGS) to investigate population structure, local adaptation to temperature, and potential parallelism in genetic basis of thermal adaptation across both coasts of North America. We analyzed genome-scale data from 534 individuals from 24 populations, 12 from each coast, spanning a thermal gradient encompassing over 24° of latitude. Analyses of population structure revealed three main evolutionary lineages, one in the Atlantic and two in the Pacific, demonstrating multiple introductions to the west coast of North America. Genotype-environment association (GEA) analysis in two of these lineages, one on each coast, revealed thousands of loci associated with mean annual seawater temperature, suggestive of local thermal adaptation. We found little overlap in the identity of environment-associated SNPs and genes between these two lineages, illustrating the potential for parallel adaptation to temperature via contrasting molecular means. By taking advantage of parallel invasion fronts of B. schlosseri, we demonstrate how rapid adaptation to environmental temperature may contribute to invasion success in this pernicious NIS and provide insights into the role of local adaptation in responding to novel environmental conditions on contemporary time scales.

#### INTRODUCTION

How organisms will respond to changing environmental conditions is a central question in the contemporary study of ecology and evolutionary biology (Parmesan 2006). Specifically, there are questions as to whether the rate of evolutionary adaptation can keep pace with the rapid environmental changes of the Anthropocene (Martin et al. 2023). By encountering novel conditions during colonization and subsequent range expansion, invasions by non-indigenous species (NIS) provide tractable cases for studying the pace of adaptive change in nature (Huey et al. 2005; Sax et al. 2007). Furthermore, species invasions themselves are a major facet of global environmental change (Vitousek et al. 1996). While long dominated by studies examining the ecological causes and consequences of NIS introductions (Elton 1958; Williamson 1996; but see Baker and Stebbins 1965), invasion biology as a field has come to appreciate the importance of evolutionary processes in species invasions (Lee 2002). In particular, the role of natural selection in driving rapid evolutionary adaptation has emerged as a potentially important factor in mediating invasion success (Prentis et al. 2008). Common garden and reciprocal transplant studies of fitness-related traits have revealed local adaptation in the invasive ranges of a number of NIS (e.g. Maron et al. 2004; Colautti and Barrett 2013; Turner et al. 2014; van Boheemen et al. 2019), providing excellent examples of contemporary evolution and attesting to the speed at which local adaptation can arise. Studies of NIS, then, have contributed immensely to our understanding of the pace of evolutionary change and provided clues into the ability of native species to evolve in the face of rapid environmental change (Westley 2011). Genetic investigations of population differentiation and local adaptation in NIS are a logical complement to such experimental studies, as they enable investigation in a broader range of organisms and can shed light on the genetic basis of rapid adaptation in natural populations. Furthermore, the application of population genetics to species invasions can help elucidate invasion pathways, tracing introductions of NIS from their native range and tracking the spread of different lineages where they are invasive (Cristescu 2015). With the ability to resolve often complicated invasion histories and uncover loci that may be involved in adaptation to novel environments, invasion genetics can be a powerful tool for investigating

the biology of NIS and, more broadly, the potential for rapid evolution in a changing world (Bock et al. 2015).

Advances in genomics have revolutionized the field of invasion genetics, affording much greater resolution in characterizing population structure for such purposes as tracing sources of invasion, but especially for uncovering signatures of local adaptation (North et al. 2021). Approaches such as genome scans that search for regions of the genome exhibiting elevated population differentiation or genotype-environment association (GEA) analysis can reveal loci that may be involved in adaptation to distinct environments across an NIS's range (Hoban et al. 2016). For example, in an agricultural pest, the brown marmorated stink bug (*Halyomorpha halys*), population genomic investigation revealed multiple global introductions from its native range in East Asia and a genome scan uncovered signatures of adaptation near genes involved in resistance to insecticides, suggesting that the rapid evolution of insecticide resistance may contribute to its invasion success (Parvizi et al. 2023). While the genomic era has seen the expansion of such studies in certain realms, perhaps most notably in terrestrial agricultural pests (Kirk et al. 2013; Pélissié et al. 2018; Ryan et al. 2019), investigations of marine NIS have lagged behind (but see Bors et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2021; Jaspers et al. 2021; Tepolt et al. 2022 and others).

Biological invasions in the marine realm are widespread and can have devastating impacts on native ecosystems (Ruiz et al. 1999). Marine NIS receiving broad public attention such as the lionfish (*Pterois volitans*) in the Caribbean (Morris Jr et al. 2009) or *Caulerpa taxifolia* in the Mediterranean (Klein and Verlaque 2008) attest to a much broader problem in the world's ocean. Many marine NIS have broad geographic distributions in their invasive ranges and are thus exposed to a wide variety of environmental conditions. While many NIS are presumed to have intrinsically broad environmental tolerances and may thus be physiologically primed for success across broad environmental gradients (Baker 1965), it is become increasingly clear that natural selection can drive intraspecific divergence of fitness-related phenotypes on contemporary timescales (Prentis et al. 2008). While long assumed to be rare in the oceans due to the homogenizing effect of presumed high levels of gene flow, local adaptation is increasingly documented in marine species (reviewed by Sanford and Kelly 2011),

even in the face of gene flow (Butlin et al. 2014; Tigano and Friesen 2016; Barth et al. 2017). Further, high rates of dispersal are far from universal in the ocean, with some sessile species brooding their young or possessing extremely short-lived larvae that can only travel short distances. These taxa may be predisposed to local adaptation due to strong levels of larval retention and thus low gene flow among populations (Sanford and Kelly 2011). The application of genomic methods may be especially fruitful for uncovering the basis of local adaptation in such species. Additionally, the high resolution afforded by these approaches, paired with the potential for strong population genetic differentiation given short dispersal distances, makes them especially ripe for investigating demographic patterns.

Ascidians, a class of tunicates, are an especially prolific taxon of marine NIS that have invaded diverse locales around the globe (Lambert 2001). Invasive ascidians are commonly encountered in biofouling communities, growing on boat hulls, docks, and other marine infrastructure but also on natural substrates. Given their short larval duration (hours to days) (Svane and Young 1989), most long-distance dispersal is attributed to anthropogenic translocation of adults (Lambert 2001) or rafting on natural substrates (Worcester 1994). Invasive ascidians have a variety of impacts on native marine species (reviewed by Aldred and Clare 2014). For example, the invasive colonial tunicate *Didemnum vexillum* outcompetes native species for space on the benthos, often overgrowing them (Bullard et al. 2007). One species of ascidian that has become a particularly pernicious NIS is the golden star tunicate, Botryllus schlosseri. Found along most temperate coastlines, B. schlosseri is a colonial species that is often a dominant member of fouling communities (Dijkstra et al. 2007). While its native range is unknown, in its invasive range it can be found at lower latitudes in locales such as the Gulf of California (Tovar-Hernández et al. 2014) and the Indian subcontinent (Ali et al. 2009) and further north towards the subarctic in Newfoundland (Callahan et al. 2010) and Iceland (Ramos-Esplá et al. 2020). In North America, B. schlosseri occurs on both coasts. On the east coast, while its invasive status is unknown (i.e. cryptogenic) in the United States, it is invasive further north in the Maritime Provinces of Canada and in Newfoundland (Carver et al. 2006). On the west coast, it was first observed in 1947 in San Francisco Bay (Carlton 1979) but has since spread south towards the Gulf of California (Tovar-Hernández et al. 2014) and northwards

into Southeast Alaska (Ruiz et al. 2006; Simkanin et al. 2016; Jurgens et al. 2018). *Botryllus schlosseri* is likely a cryptic species complex (but see Reem et al. 2021), comprised of at least five lineages, only one of which (clade A) has become globally invasive (Bock et al. 2012). We thus use *B. schlosseri* to refer solely to clade A, following Brunetti et al. (2020).

Given its broad latitudinal extent in North America and beyond, B. schlosseri is subject to a variety of thermal regimes. Restricted larval dispersal and subsequent low levels of gene flow potentiate the emergence of strong genetic differentiation (Grosberg 1987; Yund and O'Neil 2000; Stoner et al. 2002) and highlight the potential for local adaptation to environmental temperature within its invasive range on contemporary timescales. Fast mutation rates and high levels of genetic diversity among ascidians (Leffler et al. 2012; Tsagkogeorga et al. 2012) further contribute to its strong potential for small-scale population genetic differentiation and rapid local adaptation. We previously demonstrated the potential for local adaptation to temperature in two experimental studies examining latitudinal differentiation of heat and cold tolerance along both coasts of North America (Chapters 3 and 4) (Tobias et al. 2024). However, because these studies used animals collected from the field, we could not rule out environmental effects (i.e. phenotypic plasticity) in shaping intraspecific differences phenotypic response. Genomic data, then, may provide additional evidence for local adaptation to temperature during the invasion of this marine NIS in North America and, importantly, uncover the genetic basis of thermal adaptation. Genomic data should also help resolve the complicated invasion history of *B. schlosseri* by describing patterns of population genetic structure.

*Botryllus schlosseri*'s bicoastal distribution in North America presents a useful opportunity to investigate whether putative local adaptation to environmental temperature has a shared genomic basis on each coast. Its northward expansion along both coasts has generated parallel invasion fronts, and potentially unique evolutionary replicates, across which *B. schlosseri* is exposed to vastly different selective environments with regards to temperature. The extent to which evolution is repeatable is an open question in evolutionary biology, and how evolutionary parallelism scales across levels of biological organization is poorly understood (Bolnick et al. 2018). In some cases, the genomic regions underlying parallel evolutionary

adaptation are highly conserved among replicate population pairs or laboratory lines (e.g. Stern et al. 2022). In others, there is little parallelism at the genetic level (e.g. Therkildsen et al. 2019). The circumstances mediating the degree of observed parallelism at these lower levels of biological organization remain unclear (Bolnick et al. 2018). The parallel northward range expansions of *B. schlosseri* present a rare opportunity to investigate rapid parallel evolution of thermal tolerance and the extent to which its genetic basis is shared or divergent.

Here, we present the results of a population genomics study of *B. schlosseri* comprising the majority of its latitudinal extent in North America. We used low-coverage whole genome sequencing (lcWGS) of 534 individuals from 24 populations, 12 along each coast, to explore patterns of population structure, genetic diversity, and local adaptation to temperature. We find evidence for three main lineages within North America and report that *B. schlosseri* populations exhibit extraordinarily strong levels of genetic differentiation, even allowing us to distinguish populations within a single embayment. As our sequencing method recovers mitochondrial DNA, we also present an analysis of *COI* haplotypes and report new haplotypes for the species, placing our results in the context of prior work on the species throughout its global distribution. We employ GEA methods to investigate potential signatures of local adaptation to temperature in two of the most widespread lineages. Interestingly, we find little overlap between the two lineages in the identity of environment-associated loci or of genes containing or located near environment-associated loci, suggesting parallel adaptation to temperature via contrasting genomic routes.

#### METHODS

# **Collections and DNA Extractions**

25-40 colonies of *B. schlosseri* were collected from each of 24 sites along the east and west coasts of North America (Figure 2-1, Table 2-1). Colonies were collected by hand from the underside of floating docks at recreational marinas and commercial wharves between August 2019 and September 2022. The short dispersal distances of *B. schlosseri* larvae means neighboring colonies are more prone to be close relatives (Grosberg 1987). To avoid sampling close kin, we spaced out our collections by at least two meters when possible. Approximately 1

cm<sup>2</sup> colony fragments were preserved in 95% ethanol and kept on ice until they could be stored in a -80 °C freezer.

Prior to DNA extraction, individual zooids were dissected out from the overlaying tunic using insulin syringes (Becton Dickinson; Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA; cat. no. 328289). Gut and brooding embryos were excised and discarded. The remaining tissue from 8-10 zooids from the same or adjacent systems was used for DNA extraction. DNA was extracted using a Qiagen DNeasy Blood and Tissue Extraction Kit (Qiagen; Hilden, Germany; cat. no. 69506) per the manufacturer's protocol for tissue extractions with the exception of eluting in 32 μl of elution buffer. DNA yields were measured using a Qubit 3.0 fluorometer (Invitrogen; Waltham, MA, USA; cat. no. Q33216) and a dsDNA Broad Range kit (Invitrogen; cat. no. Q32850).

#### Library preparation and sequencing

Sequencing libraries were prepared from a total of 540 specimens following Baym et al. (2015) and Therkildsen and Palumbi (2017), with some modifications. All incubation steps were performed using a BioRad T100 Thermal Cycler (BioRad; Hercules, CA, USA; cat. no. 1861096). 1-10 ng of genomic DNA was incubated in 1 $\mu$ l of 10 mM Tris, ph 8.5 with 0.25  $\mu$ l of TDE1 tagmentation enzyme and 1.25 µl of TD buffer (Illumina; San Diego, CA, USA; cat. no. 20034197) for 5 min at 55 °C. We then performed a two-step PCR to add Illumina sequencing adapters and indexes. First, 1.25 µl of IDT for Illumina Unique Dual Index (Illumina; cat. no. 20027213) and 3.75 µl of KAPA HiFi HotStart Library Amplication Kit (Roche; Basel, Switzerland; cat. no. 7958960001) was added to each reaction. PCR conditions were as follows: 72 °C for 3 min, 98 °C for 2 min 45 sec, eight cycles of 98 °C for 15 sec, 62 °C for 30 sec, and 72 °C for 3 min, and 72 °C for 1 min. Second, 0.5 µl of primer P1 (AATGATACGGCGACCACCGA) and 0.5 µl of primer P2 (CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA), each at 10uM, were added to the reaction along with 8.5 µl of KAPA HiFi. PCR conditions were as follows: 95 °C for 5 min, four cycles of 98 °C for 20 sec, 62 °C for 20 sec, and 72 °C for 2 min, and 72 °C for 2 min. Following PCR, 10 mM Tris, ph 8.5 was added to bring total volume to 30  $\mu$ l prior to bead cleaning. Reactions were cleaned at a 1:1 ratio using 30 μl of KAPA Pure Beads (Roche; cat. no. KK8002). Beads were washed two times with 80% ethanol while on a magnetic stand. Library DNA was resuspended in 32  $\mu$ l of 10

mM Tris, ph 8.5. Again, yields were measured using a Qubit 3.0 fluorometer, this time with a dsDNA High Sensitivity kit (Invitrogen, cat. no. Q32854).

Deviating from Baym et al. (2015) and Therkildsen and Palumbi (2017), rather than use magnetic beads for size-selection, we used an electrophoretic method. To concentrate DNA prior to size-selection, equal masses of DNA were combined into a series of pools of less than 400  $\mu$ l and precipitated by sodium acetate and ethanol. A 0.1 volume of 3 M sodium acetate, ph 5.2 (Thermo Fisher; Waltham, MA, USA; cat. no. R1181) and 2.5 volumes of ice-cold 100% ethanol were added to each pool and mixed thoroughly. Pools were left overnight at -80 °C to precipitate DNA. Pools were then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 20 min at 2 °C, supernatant decanted, and washed twice with ice cold 70% ethanol, each followed by a 10 min centrifugation at the aforementioned speed and temperature. Pellets were left to air dry for 5-10 minutes prior to resuspension in 32 µl of 10 mM Tris, ph 8.5. Concentrated pools were quantified with Qubit and a dsDNA assay as described above. Pools were then size-selected using a Blue Pippin (Sage Science; Beverly, MA, USA; cat. no. BLU0001) with a 1.5% agarose gel cassette (Sage Science; cat. no. CDF1510). The Blue Pippin was run in the "range" mode, collecting fragments from 500-8000bp. Resulting fragment size distributions were analyzed using a Fragment Analyzer at the MIT BioMicroCenter. From these traces, pool molarities were determined and pools were combined in equimolar amounts prior to sequencing across six lanes of three NovaSeq 6000 SP flow cells in 150x150bp paired end format. Sequencing was performed by the University of Utah's High-throughput Genomics Center.

# Sequence processing, alignment, and genotype likelihood estimation

All bioinformatic processing and most analyses were carried out using the Snakemake workflow manager (Köster and Rahmann 2012) and all code is available online at <u>https://github.com/zactobias44/Botryllus</u> and <u>https://github.com/zactobias44/BotryllusMito</u>. This pipeline is based on that described by Therkildsen and Palumbi (2017). From 540 initial individual libraries, one library (KWLM\_3) had no assigned sequencing reads, mostly likely due to misassigned barcodes. Reads from the remaining 539 libraries were trimmed and assessed for quality using Trim Galore! v0.6.5 (Krueger 2015), a wrapper for cutadapt v3.4 (Martin 2011) and FastQC v0.11.9 (Andrews 2010). Default parameters were used with the exception of an adapter trim stringency of 2 (--stringency 2). Reads were aligned to the *B. schlosseri* reference genome (available at http://botryllus.stanford.edu/botryllusgenome/) using the bowtie2 v2.4.4 aligner (Langmead and Salzberg 2012) with default parameters. One specimen (QUIV\_13) had an extremely low mapping rate to the reference (1.53%) and was independently verified to be the related botryllid tunicate *Botrylloides violaceus* (data not shown). It was subsequently dropped from the data set. We used SAMtools v1.13 (Danecek et al. 2021) to filter out reads with mapping quality < 20. Concordant, unpaired, and discordant reads were retained for downstream analyses. We chose to keep unpaired and discordant reads due to the fragmented nature of the reference genome. To avoid artificially inflating sequencing support during downstream single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) calling, we soft-clipped overlaps in concordant pairs using bamUtil v1.0.15 (Breese and Liu 2013), retaining the overlapping read with the highest quality. Duplicate reads were removed using MarkDuplicates in Picard v2.26.3 (http://broadinstitute.github.io/picard/). Reads were realigned around indels using GATK's v3.8.1 IndelRealigner (McKenna et al. 2010).

The resulting realigned BAM files were further processed with the software ANGSD v0.933 (Korneliussen et al. 2014) from within a Singularity v3.7 container (Kurtzer et al. 2017) (container available at <a href="https://datasets.datalad.org/?dir=/shub/James-S-Santangelo/singularity-recipes/angsd\_v0.933/2021-04-01-2e2bcdc0-c273bbe4">https://datasets.datalad.org/?dir=/shub/James-S-Santangelo/singularity-recipes/angsd\_v0.933/2021-04-01-2e2bcdc0-c273bbe4</a>) to compute genotype likelihoods for the entire data set of 538 individuals. We estimated genotype likelihoods using the GATK method (-GL 2) and the major allele was determined as that most frequent in the data (-doMajorMinor 1). We filtered SNPs by selecting those with data for at least 50% of individuals (-minInd 269), a minimum depth of one per individual (-setMinDepth 269), maximum depth of 3 x the number of individuals (-setMaxDepth 1614) to avoid paralogous regions, a minimum minor allele frequency of 0.05 (-minMaf 0.05), and we retained SNPs with a p-value <0.001 (-SNP\_pval 1e-3). We additionally created a counts file to later parse the coverage at each SNP for each sample (-doCounts 1 -dumpCounts 2).

After this initial analysis, four samples (QUIV\_26, SABS\_2, SABS\_7, SABS\_23) were found to have low coverage at the SNP level consistent with shallow read depth at the mapping

phase. These four samples were subsequently removed, leaving 534 individuals in the full data set. We then re-ran genotype likelihood and minor allele frequency estimation as described above, with the corresponding filtering thresholds adjusted to reflect the new number of individuals (-minInd 267 -setMinDepth 267 -setMaxDepth 1602). The resulting outputs were used as the basis for the following analyses.

# Population genetic structure and differentiation

We first used principal components analysis (PCA) to investigate population genetic structure across the species' North American range. Using the program PCAngsd (Meisner and Albrechtsen 2018), we constructed an individual covariance matrix and then in R v4.1.2 (R Core Team 2013) used the eigen function and the package ggplot2 (Wickham 2016) to create a PCA. Where PCA revealed distinct clusters of populations (see Results), we re-ran ANGSD using just individuals from those sites, re-calling SNPs and computing genotype likelihoods using the same filters as above, adjusting filtering thresholds based on the number of individuals. We then performed additional PCAs on these subsets of the data. This process was performed hierarchically in cases where additional sub-structure was observed.

To calculate pairwise F<sub>ST</sub> values among the populations, we ran ANGSD on each population separately to generate site allele frequency likelihood (saf) files (-doSaf 1). We additionally used the -sites flag to restrict the analysis to those SNPs identified in the full data set. The saf files were then used to estimate folded, two-dimensional site frequency spectra between all possible pairs of populations using the ANGSD subroutine realSFS. From these spectra the weighted F<sub>ST</sub> values were estimated using the realSFS fst stats command. To investigate to potential for isolation by distance (IBD) along each coast of North America, we repeated this analysis independently within two of the main clusters identified by PCA, termed the Pacific Northwest cluster (PNW) and the Northwest Atlantic cluster (NWA) (see Results). We again used the -sites flag to restrict the analysis to those SNPs identified in the hierarchical running of ANGSD for these clusters of populations. We calculated the pairwise geographic distance matrices from the population coordinates using the python v3.7.4 package GeoPy's geodesic function. For analysis of isolation by distance (IBD), we used Slatkin's linearized F<sub>ST</sub>

 $(F_{ST}/(1-F_{ST}))$  (Slatkin 1995) as our measure of genetic differentiation.

## Genetic diversity

To estimate population-level nucleotide diversity ( $\pi$ ), we ran ANGSD separately for each population to generate saf files (-doSaf 1). For filtering, we selected all sites with data for at least two individuals (-minInd 2), a minimum total depth of 2 (-midDepth 2), and a maximum depth of three times the number of individuals in the population to avoid paralogous sequences. We then used realSFS to create folded site frequency spectra for each population, followed by realSFS's command saf2theta, and finally thetaStat do\_stat to estimate various population genetic parameters. From this output, we estimated  $\pi$  by dividing the global estimate for pairwise  $\theta$  (tP) by the total number of sites (nSites), following Adams et al. (2023) and <u>https://github.com/nt246/lcwgs-guide-</u>

tutorial/blob/main/tutorial4 summary stats/markdowns/03 diversity.md.

# Linkage disequilibrium

Certain downstream analyses require physically unlinked loci. To estimate the degree of linkage disequilibrium (LD) between all sites within the PNW and NWA data sets separately, we used the program ngsLD (Fox et al. 2019). For this, we restricted our analysis only to placed chromosomes in the reference genome (excluding regions whose locations were given as "chrUn", indicating "unplaced"). To reduce computational demand, we restricted LD estimation between sites less than or equal to 50 kb apart (--max\_kb\_dist 50). We then used ngsLD's included utility script prune\_graph.pl to return a list of loci with low levels of LD ( $r^2 < 0.5$ ).

# Genotype-environment association analyses

To investigate potential signatures of local adaptation to temperature, we used two genotype-environment association (GEA) analysis approaches: baypass v2.1 (Gautier 2015) and LFMM v1.1 (Frichot et al. 2013). Given the high level of differentiation between the PNW and NWA populations (see Results) and the potential for this to confound detection of selection, we ran these analyses separately for each cluster/region. This additionally allowed us to assess the

potential for (non-)parallelism in the genomic targets of selection between these two regions.

Environmental temperature data were collected from publicly available sources (Table S2-1). All data were recorded from *in situ* instrumentation (shore-deployed sondes, ocean-moored buoys, etc.). In most cases, we obtained data starting from January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2015, through October 19<sup>th</sup>, 2023. Data availability/quality constrained this range at some sites. Because publicly available environmental data is lacking for certain regions of British Columbia, Canada, two pairs of sites (KWLM and MSST; NCSL and REED) each share temperature readings from two buoys. From the high-frequency sampling data we calculated four summary metrics: mean number of days per year exceeding 12 °C (the approximate threshold of reproduction for *B. schlosseri*), mean annual temperature, mean winter temperature, and mean summer temperature. We also included site latitude as a potential explanatory factor. Prior to running the GEA analyses, we assessed the level of correlation between our environmental variables, removing those with Pearson coefficients > 0.65.

We converted the minor allele frequency output from ANGSD into baypass format with a custom R script (format\_baypass.R, available in the aforementioned GitHub respository). This script also filters loci to select just those with data for at least half of the total individuals per population, following Mérot et al. (2021). To account for population structure, we used the unlinked SNPs to create an omega file from an initial run of baypass without environmental covariates. We then ran a final run of baypass for both the PNW and NWA clusters including the omega file and environmental covariates, centering and scaling covariates by standard deviation (-scalecov). Loci with empirical Bayesian p-values < 0.01 (eBPmc > 2) were considered to be significantly associated with environmental variables.

For LFMM, we similarly reformatted the ANGSD minor allele frequency outputs and again filtered loci to include just those with at least 50% of the total individuals per population (see LFMM.ipynb). We ran LFMM with K = 1, essentially running it without correction for population structure. At higher levels of K, LFMM returned a successively greater number of significant loci (data not shown); thus, selection of K = 1 resulted in a more conservative test. As for baypass, we centered the environmental variables around zero and scaled by standard deviation. Resulting p-values were converted to q-values using the R package qvalue and loci

were considered significant at a false discovery rate (FDR) < 0.1. Using the output of baypass and LFMM, we found their intersect for both the PNW and NWA clusters. Those identified as significant in both methods were classified as environment-associated (EA) SNPs.

Using the list of EA SNPs from each cluster, we identified which genes contain or are near EA SNPs using bedtools v2.28 (Quinlan and Hall 2010). Because the reference genome is partitioned into placed chromosomes (chrs1-13) and an unplaced chromosome (chrUn), along which positionality information is unreliable, we determined EA SNP placement separately for chrs1-13 and chrUn. For chrs1-13, we used bedtools' window function to find all genes that contain EA SNPs or are within 1000 bp of an EA SNP. The gff3 annotation file we used was downloaded from <u>https://aniseed.fr/aniseed/download/download\_data</u>. For chrUn, we used bedtools' intersect function to find all genes that contain EA SNPs. For each cluster, we then merged these two lists to create a list of EA genes.

# Test of genic enrichment

To test if EA SNPs are preferentially located in or near genes, we implemented a permutation test. First, to find out which EA SNPs were in or near genes, we repeated the same analysis in bedtools as described above for each cluster, but had the program return EA SNPs instead of genes. This returned a list of EA SNPs that were located within genes (for chrs1-13 and chrUn) or within 1000 bp of a gene (for chrs1-13). For the permutation test, we randomly sampled *n* SNPs (with *n* = # EA SNPs) from the list of SNPs included in the GEA analyses for each cluster. We then repeated the bedtools mapping procedure to determine how many randomly sampled SNPs are within or near genes. This was repeated 1,000 times to create pseudo-observed distributions of how many SNPs fall within or near genes for each cluster. For significance testing, we used numpy v1.17.4 (Harris et al. 2020) to calculate the 0.05 or 0.95 quantiles of each distribution to test for enrichment away from or close to genes, respectively.

#### Gene annotation and functional enrichment

Because the available annotation for the reference genome is somewhat outdated (published 2013), we performed homology-based annotation of predicted transcripts using

diamond v0.9.22 (Buchfink et al. 2015). We queried the transcripts downloaded from <a href="http://botryllus.stanford.edu/botryllusgenome/download/">http://botryllus.stanford.edu/botryllusgenome/download/</a> against the NCBI nr protein database (downloaded November 7<sup>th</sup>, 2023).

For functional annotation, we used an orthology-based approach implemented in eggNOG mapper v2.1.12 (Cantalapiedra et al. 2021). This approach similarly uses diamond (here v2.0.15) to match query sequences to a reference database, but instead uses the reference database of orthologous groups contained in eggNOG v5.0 (Huerta-Cepas et al. 2019). This method returns both gene IDs as well as functional annotations in the form of gene ontology (GO) terms.

To determine which functional categories (GO terms) may be overrepresented among genes containing EA SNPs, we used the tool GO\_MWU (https://github.com/z0on/GO\_MWU). Unlike other GO term enrichment approaches, which use Fisher exact tests to determine which GO terms are overrepresented among a list of genes below an arbitrarily defined significance threshold, GO\_MWU implements a Mann-Whitney U test to find GO terms that are more clustered near the top or bottom of a distribution of a gene-level measure of interest (e.g. log fold change for differential expression analyses). We used the -log10 p-values from baypass (eBPmc) as our measure of interest. To summarize this SNP-level metric to the gene level, we used bedtools intersect to find all genes that contained a SNP analyzed by baypass and assigned that gene the SNP's -log10 p-value. In cases where a gene contained more than one SNP, we used the -log10 p-value of the most significant SNP. We used a one-tailed test (Alternative="g") to test for enrichment of functions at the top of the -log10 p-value distribution. GO terms at a  $p_{adj} < 0.05$  were considered significant.

#### Tests of parallelism

To test whether the same SNPs and/or genes are implicated in putative parallel adaptation to temperature in the NWA and PNW clusters, we asked: are SNPs/genes more or less likely to be shared between clusters than expected due to chance? To assess the true degree of overlap of SNPs/genes between the two clusters, we simply took the intersect in the SNP/gene lists generated in the steps described above. For SNPs, we implemented a

permutation test, similar to that described above. In each cluster we randomly sampled *n* SNPs (with n = # EA SNPs) from all SNPs included in the GEA analysis. We then assessed the degree of overlap between the randomly sampled SNP lists. This was repeated 1,000 times to create a pseudo-observed distribution of SNP overlap between NWA and PNW. We again calculated the 0.05 and 0.95 quantiles of this distribution to test for significance of the observed degree of overlap.

For genes, in each cluster we randomly sampled *n* SNPs from the list of all SNPs from chrs1-13 which were known to be within 1000bp of or within a gene (where n = # EA SNPs observed to be in/near genes on chrs1-13) and *m* SNPs from the list of all SNPs on chrUn which were known to be within a gene (where m = # EA SNPs observed to be in genes on chrUn). We then used bedtools window (for chrs1-13) or intersect (for chrUn) to identify those genes near/containing the random sample of SNPs. From these lists of genes (one for chrs 1-13 and one for chrUn), we then randomly selected *x* genes (where x = # of genes with/containing EA SNPs). The union of these two lists (the selection of *x* genes within 1000bp of or containing a randomly drawn SNP on chrs 1-13 or containing a randomly drawn SNP on chrUn) for NWA and PNW were then compared to assess the degree of overlap. This procedure was repeated 1,000 times to create a null distribution of the expected frequency of overlapping genes between PNW and NWA. We took the 0.95 and 0.05 quantiles of this distribution to test if the observed overlap was more or less than expected due to chance.

#### Variant effect prediction

We used the software snpEff v5.2a (Cingolani et al. 2012) to assess the potential effects of EA SNPs (missense, synonymous, intronic, etc.). We used a custom python script to convert the minor allele frequency files (mafs.gz) from angsd into vcf format. We created two vcfs per PCA cluster: one containing just EA SNPs and another containing all SNPs for that cluster.

Given their potential to change the coding sequence of genes, we focused primarily on missense mutations. For each cluster we identified all missense SNPs and the genes they were contained within. To assess whether these genes may be involved in thermal physiology, we searched their associated GO terms from the eggNOG annotations for the term ID GO:000926

"response to temperature stimulus", which is a parent term to other temperature-related processes ("response to heat", "response to cold", etc.).

To evaluate if our EA SNPs were enriched for non-synonymous mutations, indicative of positive selection, we calculated the ratio of missense to synonymous mutations for each of the two clusters. We again used a permutation approach to determine if this ratio was greater or less than expected due to chance. Using the vcf files for all SNPs in each cluster, we randomly selected *n* SNPs (where n = # of EA SNPs). We then calculated the ratio of missense to synonymous mutations. This was repeated 1,000 times to create a pseudo-observed null distribution. We took the 0.95 and 0.05 quantiles of this distribution to test if the observed ratio was greater or less than the null expectation, respectively.

# Mitochondrial COI haplotypes

The sequencing approach we used also allows for the recovery of near-complete mitochondrial DNA. Because much of the existing population genetic literature focuses on the mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase c subunit 1 (COI) (López-Legentil et al. 2006; Lejeusne et al. 2011; Bock et al. 2012; Yund et al. 2015; Nydam et al. 2017), we attempted to recover COI haplotypes for each of our samples. Critically, because prior studies conducted more global sampling, analyzing COI haplotypes allows us to put our North American samples in a global context. Similar to nuclear data, our trimmed reads were mapped to a reference mitogenome (isolate sc6a-b; NC 021463.1) using bowtie2 v2.4.4, but using less stringent mapping criteria (-D 25 -R 5 -N 1 -L 15 -i S,1,0.50 -p 6 -I 0 -X 1500). We again dropped sample QUIV\_13, as this was identified as *Botrylloides violaceus* (data not shown). We followed the steps outlined above for the nuclear data, filtering reads with samtools, removing duplicates with Picard's MarkDuplicates, and realigning around indels with GATK's IndelRealigner. Coverage at each position of the mitogenome was calculated using samtools depth. To retain only samples that had sufficient coverage across the commonly used 524 bp barcoding region (coordinates 145-668), we identified those with a minimum of five reads for each position across the region. For these samples, we used freebayes v.1.3.5 (Garrison and Marth 2012) to detect variants across this region, converted vcfs to fasta format using freebayes' flattenvcf and vcf2fasta tools.

To correctly match our retrieved haplotypes to those previously identified and to include COI haplotypes not found in our study, we retrieved all available COI sequences for B. schlosseri from GenBank on May 18<sup>th</sup>, 2023. We also retrieved a COI haplotype for B. tyreus to use an as outgroup. We aligned these sequences using muscle v3.8.31 (Edgar 2004). The resulting alignment was manually trimmed to the 524 bp barcoding region using JalView v2.11.3.2 (Waterhouse et al. 2009), removing sequences that did not span this entire region. We then removed duplicate sequences from this alignment using an online tool (https://arn.ugr.es/srnatoolbox/helper/removedup/). Because B. schlosseri is a cryptic species complex (Bock et al. 2012; but see Reem et al. 2021), we sought to retain just reference sequences that belong to the globally invasive clade A. Using the deduplicated alignment, we constructed a pairwise distance tree using JalView and then selected just those sequences that fell into the previously identified clade A. Using the clade A alignment, we used the software PopArt (Leigh and Bryant 2015) to construct a haplotype network using the minimum spanning algorithm. The nodes of this network were distributed to match the arrangement of the network presented by Yund et al. (2015). Pie charts of haplotype proportions at each site were created using Excel and superimposed on maps and edited using Adobe Illustrator.

#### RESULTS

# Principal components analysis (PCA) of population structure

Of the original 540 libraries, 534 were retained for analysis (see Methods). Mean coverage among these individuals was 0.57x (range 0.19-1.21x). The mean number of samples per population was 22.25 (range 17-26) (Table 2-1). Our variant calling pipeline uncovered 1,578,760 SNPs. PCA of these variants revealed three major genetic clusters (Figure 2-2A): all twelve populations from the Northwest Atlantic (NWA), ten populations from the west coast from San Francisco Bay northward to the Gulf of Alaska (the "Pacific Northwest" cluster, PNW), and two populations from Southern California (SoCal). Each of these clusters exhibited further structure when analyzed independently. Variant calling within the NWA cluster revealed 1,402,032 SNPs, a PCA of which illustrates mostly strong genetic differentiation among

populations (Figure 2-2B), but no identifiable substructure. There was some overlap observed, particularly among members of LPCB (eastern Newfoundland) and BREK (southern Maine). Similarly, some individuals from DART (central Nova Scotia) cluster with the majority of individuals from HAWK (Strait of Canso).

We recovered 1,532,066 SNPs for the PNW cluster; PCA revealed strong genetic differentiation and pronounced substructure, with four readily identifiable "sub-clusters" (Figure 2-2C): one containing two sites from Southeast Alaska (ELSN and BHRB, "SEAK" group), a second containing two sites from San Francisco Bay (RICH and SFRA) and one from Oregon (COOS; "ORCA" group), a third containing sites from British Columbia (KWLM, MSST, NCSL, and REED; "BC" group), and a fourth containing individuals from Washington (SEAT).

We proceeded with SNP calling in two of these independent clusters to evaluate if further substructure/differentiation could be observed. For the cluster containing COOS, RICH, and SFRA, we recovered 1,619,913 SNPs and observed clear separation between all three populations (Figure 2-2G), including the two populations within San Francisco Bay (RICH and SFRA). For the British Columbia cluster (1,400,799 SNPs), we recovered two additional subclusters (Figure 2-2F), one containing individuals from sites in northern British Columbia (KWLM and MSST; "NBC" group) and another containing individuals from southern British Columbia (NCSL and REED; "SBC" group). SNPs were then re-called for each of these two clusters (NBC: 1,327,394 SNPs; SBC: 1,383,463 SNPs) and PCA revealed strong separation between REED and NCSL, and less so between KWLM and MSST. (Figure 2-2I-H).

Variant calling within the SoCal cluster returned 2,168,906 SNPs, and a PCA revealed clear differentiation between its two constituent populations (QUIV and SBRB) (Figure 2-2D).

# Genetic differentiation (F<sub>ST</sub>) and genetic diversity

We observed pronounced population genetic differentiation, with a mean pairwise  $F_{ST}$  of 0.178 (range 0.033-0.543) (Figure 2-3). Hierarchical clustering of the heatmap revealed three main clusters (Figure 2-3A), mirroring those indicated by PCA (see Figure S2-1 for a heatmap with just NWA and PNW sites).  $F_{ST}$  was appreciably higher for populations pairs among clusters than within them (Figure 2-3B). For the two clusters containing more than two populations

(NWA and PNW), we investigated isolation-by-distance (IBD) by plotting linearized  $F_{ST}$  ( $F_{ST}/(1-F_{ST})$ ) against geographic distance. Populations within the NWA cluster did not exhibit a pattern of IBD ( $R^2 = 0.026$ , p = 0.10) (Figure 2-3C). Contrastingly, populations in the PNW cluster exhibited a stronger pattern of IBD, with genetic distance increasing with geographic distance ( $R^2 = 0.12$ , p = 0.012) (Figure 2-3D). Four comparisons involving population pairs between the Southeast Alaska cluster (BHRB and ELSN) and the northern British Columbia cluster (KWLM and MSST) did not fit this general pattern, with high levels of genetic differentiation despite close geographic proximity. With these population pairs removed, consistency and significance of IBD increased substantially ( $R^2 = 0.48$ , p < 0.001).

Populations generally displayed high levels of genetic diversity with a mean nucleotide diversity ( $\pi$ ) of 0.00771 (range 0.00513-0.00937). However,  $\pi$  was consistently higher in some clusters than others (Figure 2-4). The NWA cluster had the highest diversity (mean  $\pi$  of 0.00889, range 0.00819-0.00937), followed by PNW (mean  $\pi$  of 0.00679, range 0.00644-0.00725), and then SoCal (mean  $\pi$  of 0.00518, range 0.00513-0.00522). Nucleotide diversity did not appear to be affected by the sampling depth at each site (Figure S2-2).

# Genotype-environment association analysis

We performed genotype-environment association (GEA) analysis to uncover signatures of putative local adaptation to temperature, analyzing the NWA and PNW clusters separately. All potential environmental variables to be used as covariates (mean number of days per year exceeding 12 °C, mean annual temperature, mean winter temperature, mean summer temperature, and site latitude) were found to be highly correlated with one another (r > 0.65) (Figure S2-3). We thus proceeded with mean annual temperature as our environmental covariate.

After filtering loci to include only those with data for at least 50% of individuals within each population, we were left with 1,061,658 SNPs for NWA and 1,178,245 SNPs for PNW. Of these, 600,979 (56.6% and 51.0%, respectively) were shared between the two clusters (Figure 2-5A). LFMM identified 3,091 candidate environmentally associated SNPs for NWA and 9,392 for PNW at an FDR < 0.1. Baypass identified 13,377 candidate environmentally associated SNPs

for NWA and 20,950 for PNW with p-values < 0.01 (eBPmc > 2). We considered a SNP to be putatively environment-associated (EA) if it was below these significance thresholds for both methods, taking their intersect (Figure 2-5B-C). For NWA, this comprised 1,439 EA SNPs and for PNW this constituted 3,937 EA SNPs.

#### Genic enrichment

For NWA, of the 1,439 EA SNPs, 613 fell in or within 1,000 bp of a gene. For PNW, 1,677 out of 3,937 EA SNP fell in or within 1,000 bp of a gene. We implemented a bootstrap procedure to test if the proportion of EA SNPs within or near genes was greater or less than expected due to chance, indicating that EA SNPs are preferentially found near/within or away from genes, respectively. For both NWA and PNW, the observed value of EA SNPs within or near genes did not exceed the 0.95 quantile of the pseudo-observed distributions, indicating that EA SNPs are not preferentially located in genic regions (Figure S2-4).

# Functional enrichment

Our test of functional enrichment among genes containing highly significant EA SNPs revealed enrichment of a handful of GO terms for the NWA and PNW clusters. For NWA, the molecular function GO terms DNA-binding transcription factor activity ( $p_{adj} = 0.0365$ ) and sequence-specific DNA binding activity ( $p_{adj} = 0.0365$ ) were significantly enriched. For PNW, the molecular function GO term sodium channel activity ( $p_{adj} = 0.0479$ ) was the only significantly enriched GO term.

#### Missense mutations and potential functional consequences

Of the 1,439 EA SNPs in NWA, 136 were in coding regions, of these, 54 resulted in missense mutations and 82 were synonymous, for a ratio of 0.659. Of the 3,937 EA SNPs in PNW, 385 were coding; 100 resulted in missense mutations and 285 were synonymous, for a ratio of 0.351. Our bootstrap test indicates that in NWA the ratio of missense to synonymous mutations is greater than expected due to chance (p = 0.035) (Figure 2-5F). By contrast, in PNW the missense to synonymous mutation was not significantly different from null expectations

(Figure 2-5G) (p = 0.879).

In NWA, none of the genes affected by missense mutations had clear relationships to thermal physiology. In PNW, by contrast, a search for the GO term "response to temperature stimulus" revealed three genes potentially related to temperature stress. Xanthine dehydrogenase, on chromosome 13, contained one missense mutation, resulting in the substitution T247S. A second gene, holocarboxylase synthetase, contained six amino acidsubstituting mutations (L8F, L32S, V193L, A206V, P242S, I249M). The last gene, interferon regulatory factor 4-like contained one non-synonymous mutation, resulting in the substitution A176V.

#### Shared EA variants among clusters

Of the 1,439 EA SNPs in NWA and 3,937 EA SNPs in PNW, three were shared between the two clusters (Figure 2-6A). This degree of observed overlap did not deviate from null expectations (p = 0.967) (Figure 2-6B), indicating that SNPs do not appear likely to be reused during putative parallel adaptation. The three shared EA SNPs are within or near genes encoding carnitine O-acetyltransferase (*CRAT*), lysozyme g, and Notch receptor 2 (*NOTCH2*) (Figure 2-6C). At the gene level (genes containing or within 1000 bp of an EA SNP), there were 769 EA genes in PNW and 325 EA genes in NWA, with 21 EA genes found in both clusters (Figure 2-6D). This degree of overlap was significantly less than expected under null expectations (p = 0.018) (Figure 2-6E).

# Mitochondrial COI haplotypes

After filtering for sequencing depth, we recovered mitochondrial *COI* haplotypes for 445 samples. These comprised 14 unique haplotypes, four of which are new for the species. A minimum spanning haplotype network including reference haplotypes revealed a similar topology to previous studies (Yund et al. 2015; Nydam et al. 2017), with four general haplogroups (Figure 2-7A). We refer to these haplogroups by their most central haplotype, following Yund et al. (2015).

The Bs2 haplogroup, comprising the haplotypes Bs2, Bs8, Bs14, and REED\_1 found in

this study is present on both coasts of North America (Figure 2-7A-C). Bs2 is strictly found on the east coast, whereas Bs8 is found on both coasts, though absent from the southern California sites of QUIV and SBRB. Bs14 was found just twice, in the east coast sites of CHRL and BREK. The new haplotype REED\_1 was found in REED and appears to be intermediate between haplogroups Bs2 and HB.

The HO haplogroup, comprising the haplotypes HB, Bs1, REED\_8, QUIV\_21, and LBPT\_16, was also distributed across both coasts. However, HB was found strictly on the east coast whereas Bs1 was found strictly on the west coast, being present in all populations there. The unique haplotypes of QUIV\_21 and REED\_8 are most closely related to Bs1, whereas LBPT\_16 is most closely related to HB.

The HA haplogroup, comprising the haplotypes HA, Bs10, and Bs36, is similarly found on both coasts. However, its constituent haplotypes are not shared, with HA only being found on the east coast and Bs10 and Bs36 only found on the west coast. Bs10 was most commonly found in southern California, but is also present at lower frequencies at COOS, SEAT, and REED. Bs36 was found only in the British Columbia population NCSL.

The HO haplogroup, comprising the haplotypes HO and Bs13 from this study is strictly found on the east coast. Bs13 was only found at LPCB, in eastern Newfoundland.

# DISCUSSION

Biological invasions present unique opportunities to investigate the pace of adaptive evolution in natural populations (Huey et al. 2005; Sax et al. 2007; Westley 2011; Moran and Alexander 2014). Here we used IcWGS to characterize the population genetic structure and detect signatures of local adaptation in the invasive golden star tunicate, *B. schlosseri*. We revealed the existence of three major lineages of *B. schlosseri* in North American waters, demonstrating multiple introductions of this NIS to the west coast. We found thousands of loci whose allele frequencies consistently vary with environmental temperature, providing evidence for rapid local adaptation to temperature during range expansion into cooler northern waters. Interestingly, despite a substantial proportion of shared standing genetic diversity, the SNPs and genes implicated in adaptation to temperature on either coast were largely distinct,

suggesting divergent means of local adaptation. Below, we discuss how our results inform our understanding of *B. schlosseri*'s invasion history in North America, the potential for rapid thermal adaptation and its molecular basis, and the possibility of parallel evolution mediated by divergent molecular means.

#### Invasion history of *B. schlosseri* in North America

Genomic data are often vital for reconstructing the complex invasion histories of marine NIS (Sherman et al. 2016; Viard et al. 2016). By describing variation across the entire genome of many individuals at an attainable cost, lcWGS is an especially promising approach (Lou et al. 2020), but one that, to our knowledge, has not yet been used in studying NIS, let alone one from the marine realm. While our focus on patterns within North America precludes investigation of the global origin of *B. schlosseri*, the data presented here can help unravel its complicated invasion history in the region.

We found three major lineages within our sequencing data, as revealed by PCA clustering (Figure 2-2). Most notably, the existence of two lineages on the west coast of North America demonstrates that there have been at least two independent introductions to the region. Furthermore, these two lineages (SoCal and PNW) bear little resemblance to the lineage present on the east coast (NWA) or to each other, with SoCal and PNW populations exhibiting strong genetic differentiation from populations within the NWA cluster (Figure 2-3A-B). This suggests that the east coast of North America is not the source of either introduction to the west coast, in line with the conclusions of earlier population genetic studies (Stoner et al. 2002; Lejeusne et al. 2011). This is also in accordance with physiological work that has shown that while east and west coast specimens belong to the same species, and are able to produce viable offspring, they do not fuse during allorecognition assays (Boyd et al. 1990), indicative of deep genetic divergence. Because we lack more comprehensive global sampling, we are unable to speculate as to the origins of the PNW and SoCal lineages. Prior work using allorecognition assays demonstrated the ability of colonies from Monterey Bay, California to fuse with colonies from Japan and, to a lesser extent, from Israel (Rinkevich et al. 1992), pointing to the West Pacific or Mediterranean as potential source regions for the PNW cluster. While there has been

somewhat limited population genetic investigation in the West Pacific, Lejeusne et al. (2011) found the *COI* haplotypes Bs1 and Bs10 in both Japan and Australia, but notably not in the Mediterranean. These haplotypes were present on the west coast of North America, as we also document here in both the PNW and SoCal clusters, suggesting that the West Pacific may indeed be the source of introduction to the west coast of North America. *Botryllus schlosseri*'s invasive status is unresolved (cryptogenic) in the Northwest Pacific, where some consider it native (Lee and Shin 2021) while others presume it is invasive (Ben-Shlomo et al. 2010; Lejeusne et al. 2011). In either case, the presence of haplotypes from two haplogroups (Bs1 from HB and Bs10/Bs36 from HA) in Japan (Yund et al. 2015), suggest that variants of Mediterranean origin are present in the West Pacific, as the Mediterranean contains the highest diversity of HA-group haplotypes (Yund et al. 2015). That we found the Bs10 and Bs36 haplotypes in five of our Northeast Pacific populations may suggest at least a partial Mediterranean origin, perhaps by way of Asia. The application of IcWGS to populations from these two regions would surely provide additional insights into its complex introduction history.

While our restricted global sampling leaves the question of the ultimate origin of *B. schlosseri* unresolved, our thorough sampling within North America allows for the examination of relationships among populations in the region. The strong differentiation we observe between all population pairs speaks to the sensitivity of IcWGS for describing patterns of population structure, especially in this species which has severely restricted larval dispersal and thus low potential for gene flow among populations. On the east coast, *B. schlosseri* is considered cryptogenic in the coastal waters of the United States and the Bay of Fundy, Canada. (Fofonoff et al. 2024). Long established in the Gulf of Maine (Gould 1870), *B. schlosseri* more recently expanded throughout Nova Scotia (Carver et al. 2006), Prince Edward Island (Ramsay et al. 2008), and Newfoundland (Callahan et al. 2010), where it is considered invasive (Fofonoff et al. 2024). Using analysis of mitochondrial *COI* haplotypes, Yund et al. (2015) provided evidence for the native status of at least certain lineages of *B. schlosseri* in the Northwest Atlantic. With our IcWGS data, the clustering of all Northwest Atlantic populations into a single lineage suggests that the northward spread of this species along the east coast has likely been mediated through successive introductions from further south. The lack of an

isolation-by-distance (IBD) signature (Figure 2-3C) indicates that this likely did not occur in a stepwise fashion. This is also supported by the PCA of NWA populations (Figure 2-2B), where samples from often geographically distant populations cluster together (e.g. LPCB [eastern Newfoundland] and BREK [South Portland, Maine]). The lack of IBD on the east coast could be a result of *B. schlosseri*'s longer evolutionary history there (Gould 1870; Yund et al. 2015), with the potential for long-distance dispersal events among populations to erode IBD over time.

Regarding the source of introduction to Newfoundland, the observation that our three sites from different regions of the island (BAIN, LPCB, and STPH) do not cluster together in PCA space suggests that they might have distinct origins and that there may have been independent introductions of *B. schlosseri* to the island. LPCB clusters with BREK, suggesting that the invasion of Conception Bay, Newfoundland may have originated from southern Maine or from a closely related, unsampled site. Interestingly, LPCB contains the highest diversity of COI haplotypes that we observed, with five unique haplotypes (Bs2, Bs8, Bs13, HA, HO) representing three haplogroups (Bs2, HA, HO). As for the remaining two populations from Newfoundland, specimens from both STPH and BAIN cluster most closely to those from HAWK, a port in the Strait of Canso, suggesting this as a possible origin for both sites, potentially followed by their differentiation after introduction. It should be noted that several samples from the site DART in central Nova Scotia cluster strongly with individuals from HAWK, suggesting that there may have been recent translocations of *B. schlosseri* from HAWK to DART, pointing to the potential importance of this port in mediating spread of *B. schlosseri* in the region. This is in line with a previous study that used COI and microsatellites that demonstrated that ports in this region, including HAWK, were likely beachheads for primary invasion from which secondary spread emanated (Lacoursière-Roussel et al. 2012).

That we observe strong genetic differentiation among all of our populations on the west coast speaks to the resolution afforded by lcWGS, but also the speed with which divergence arises in this species. *Botryllus schlosseri* was first detected on the west coast in 1947 in San Francisco Bay (Carlton 1979), and given that all populations from there northward fall in the same evolutionary lineage, all of this differentiation must have arisen since its introduction. The extremely restricted larval dispersal, coupled to high mutation rates in ascidians (Tsagkogeorga

et al. 2012), certainly enables the emergence of differentiation among our sampled populations. This differentiation is useful for tracing the relationships among invasive populations on the west coast, especially near the northern edge of the range.

Botryllus schlosseri's current northern range limit is in Sitka, Alaska (represented here by ELSN), where it was first detected in 2001 (Ruiz et al. 2006). Since then, it has also been documented in nearby locales such as Ketchikan, Alaska (represented by BHRB) in 2010 (Simkanin et al. 2016; Jurgens et al. 2018); Haida Gwaii, British Columbia (represented by MSST) in 2007 (Gartner et al. 2016); and Lax Kw'alaams, British Columbia (represented by KWLM) in 2018 (T. Therriault, pers. comm.). Given the relatively close proximity between these sites, it may have been anticipated that they shared a common origin or, perhaps, that Canadian populations were the source of the Alaskan populations or vice versa. To the contrary, our results demonstrate a lack of a genetic relationship between the populations in Southeast Alaska and those from northern British Columbia (Figure 2-2C). Instead, the populations in northern British Columbia of MSST and KWLM appear to be more closely allied to those in the south of the province in the Salish Sea (REED and NCSL). Similarly, while the origin of the Alaskan populations of BHRB and ELSN is not entirely clear, they do not appear to be of Canadian origin, as they are closer along PC1 to the populations of COOS, SFRA, and RICH, sites further south along the west coast in Oregon and northern California. This indicates that political boundaries, rather than strictly geography, may be governing the spread of this species in the region. As the spread of *B. schlosseri* is mostly attributed to hull fouling (Fofonoff et al. 2024), it is perhaps logical that shipping pressure is stronger between locations within national borders than across them. Another assumed vector for fouling tunicates is the transfer of shellfish aquaculture gear or spat. Given the regulations on the movement of gear or aquaculture species internationally (Muehlbauer et al. 2014), transfers within national borders may be more likely.

In contrast to the NWA cluster, the PNW cluster exhibited a strong pattern of IBD, with the exception of the four geographically close transnational population pairs involving BHRB, ELSN, KWLM, and MSST (Figure 2-3D). That we observe a stronger pattern of IBD here, but none in the NWA cluster, may be an effect of its shorter evolutionary history on the west coast.

It could also be indicative of more stepwise dispersal of *B. schlosseri* during northward range expansion from its original point of introduction in San Francisco Bay. This would be in line with the records of first observations along the west coast (see Fofonoff et al. 2024). Interestingly, while *B. schlosseri* was spreading south towards its current southern range limit near La Paz, Baja California Sur, México (Tovar-Hernández et al. 2014) in the 1960's (Lambert and Lambert 1998), apparently preceding its northward spread, this appears to have been mediated by the introduction of a distinct evolutionary lineage. It is worth noting the that the discontinuity between the PNW and SoCal lineages coincides with a broader biogeographic break at Point Conception (Briggs 1974). This break has been associated with intraspecific genetic discontinuities in native species (e.g. Burton, 1998; Eberl et al., 2013; Wares et al., 2001), often attributed genetic drift due to patterns of ocean circulation, but also potentially by selection across a sharp gradient in sea surface temperature, with the waters of the Southern California Bight being appreciably warmer than those to the north of Point Conception. It is likely that this southern California lineage of *B. schlosseri* possesses different thermal physiology than its more northern counterpart, more tolerant of warmer waters. Supporting this, we previously found that post-larvae from San Diego, California were significantly less sensitive to heat stress than those from populations in Bodega Bay, California and Sitka, Alaska (Chapter 4), suggesting the potential for genetically based, adaptive differences between the lineages present on the west coast. Through the use of genotype-environment association (GEA) analysis, we can more directly investigate patterns of adaptive evolution to environmental temperature within two of the lineages uncovered in this study, as discussed below.

# Signatures of thermal adaptation along both coasts

Rapid adaptation to novel environmental conditions is often implicated in the success of NIS (Prentis et al. 2008). By examining clines of allele frequencies across environmental gradients, genotype-environment association (GEA) analyses can uncover potential signatures of local adaptation. In NIS, such analyses may be especially useful, as the non-equilibrium dynamics of invasions can confound population differentiation-based genome scan approaches (Hoban et al. 2016). In both the NWA and PNW lineages, we found thousands of loci whose
allele frequencies across populations were highly correlated with environmental temperature (Figure 2-5). These findings suggest that *B. schlosseri* populations have become locally adapted to environmental temperature across the parallel invasion fronts on both coasts of North America. This speaks to the pace at which evolutionary adaptation can proceed in invasive species, progressing since its introduction on the west coast in the mid-1900s (Carlton 1979) and its northward spread into the Atlantic Maritime provinces in the 1970's (Carver et al. 2006). We should note that our conservative approach, which takes the intersection of EA SNPs from two distinct GEA methods, means that there are likely many more loci that are involved in local adaption to temperature than we report here. In focusing on the shared proportion of SNPs, we focus on the most likely candidates of selection.

To investigate the potential functional consequences of EA SNPs, we took two different approaches. First, we used the functional enrichment tool GO MWU to assess whether certain molecular function and biological process gene ontology (GO) terms were overrepresented among genes containing highly significant EA SNPs (using baypass' Bayesian p-values [eBPmc]). This analysis recovered few significant categories. In the NWA cluster, the recovered biological process terms "DNA-binding transcription factor activity" and "sequence-specific DNA binding activity" suggest selection on processes concerning the regulation of DNA transcription, a category of activity that of course may be important for adaptation to temperature, but one that is so general that, without a more detailed picture of the specific transcription factors and their targets, it precludes a more detailed discussion. For PNW, the enrichment of the molecular function GO term "sodium channel activity" suggests that processes mediating the ion permeability of cell membranes may be a target of temperature adaptation. This may be especially relevant to cells whose function relies on membrane excitability, such as neurons and muscle. Several genes (g19033, g02087, g26527) containing EA SNPs that contribute to the enrichment of sodium channel activity are orthologous to the vertebrate gene SCN4A, which encodes the voltage-gated sodium channel Nav1.4. This protein has been implicated in temperature adaptation of cardiac activity in fish, with a "faster" isoform being expressed in the cold-adapted rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), in contrast to the "slower" isoform expressed in the warm-adapted zebrafish (Danio rerio) (Haverinen et al. 2021). Furthermore,

several other genes contributing to the enrichment of sodium channel activity in PNW are also orthologous to vertebrate genes for voltage-gated sodium channels, suggesting their potential importance in temperature adaptation in *B. schlosseri*. For example, the voltage gated sodium channel Na<sub>v</sub>1.8 has been implicated in sensing cold and the propagation of neuronal action potentials at cold temperatures in other species across the evolutionary tree (Zimmermann et al. 2007; Kiss et al. 2014; Bagriantsev and Gracheva 2015).

As a second means of inferring the potential functional outcomes of EA SNPs, we identified genes with non-synonymous mutations at EA loci. We then gueried the GO terms of these genes for the function "response to temperature stimulus." In the NWA lineage, we found no genes that matched this description. However, in the PNW lineage we observed three genes with missense mutations associated with environmental temperature that had this functional annotation. These three genes are orthologous to those encoding the proteins holocarboxylase synthetase (HCS) (g52126), xanthine dehydrogenase (XDH) (g36797), and interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4) (g66813). HCS is a chromosomal protein that is associated with heat tolerance in Drosophila melanogaster; HCS-deficient flies have a 55% reduction in survival at 34 °C relative to flies kept at room temperature (Camporeale et al. 2006). In contrast to HCS' role in heat tolerance, XDH appears to be involved in cold tolerance. In *Caenorhabditis* elegans, XDH knockouts exhibited severely reduced survival at 2 °C compared to wild-type, and exogenous expression of XDH in neurons rescued this phenotype, suggesting that XDH's function in mediating cold tolerance is restricted to neural tissue (Takagaki et al. 2020), again highlighting the potential importance of neurological processes in cold adaptation. XDH also appears to play a role in cold tolerance in D. melanogaster (Duncker et al. 1995). As its name suggests, IRF4 is a protein involved in the regulation of interferons, a type of cytokine important in immune responses. Given the potential for higher diversity and virulence of parasites and pathogens at higher temperatures (Marcogliese 2008), populations spanning a thermal gradient may face differential selection pressures from these tiny foes. Indeed, other studies investigating local adaptation to temperature have demonstrated the potential role for immune-related genes, particularly in fishes (Dionne et al. 2007; Narum et al. 2013; Amish et al. 2019).

While the functional annotations of the EA SNPs can offer some corroborative evidence of their relevance to thermal adaptation, ultimately more detailed, experimental investigation would be required to definitively demonstrate their role. Nonetheless, that we observed thousands of variants whose frequencies strongly correlated with environmental temperature suggests the strong likelihood of local adaptation to temperature in this species. This offers an additional line of support for local adaptation's role in driving differentiation of thermal tolerance across latitude on both coasts, which we have also demonstrated experimentally (Chapters 3 and 4). A previous population genomic study using restriction site-associated DNA sequencing (RADseq) found evidence for local adaptation to a variety of environmental variables in *B. schlosseri*, including temperature (Gao et al. 2018, 2022). By investigating genomic variation across nine sites across several ocean basins, Gao et al. (2022) provided important insights into how adaptive variation may be partitioned across B. schlosseri global range. Critically, by focusing primarily on regions where *B. schlosseri* is known to be invasive and is currently expanding northward, our data provide a much more nuanced test of the pace at which thermal adaptation can proceed. Indeed, the clines in allele frequency we observed at EA SNPs must have been established since the species' introduction to the west coast in 1947 (Carlton 1979) and, on the east coast, since its northward spread into the Atlantic Maritime provinces in Canada in the 1970's (Carver et al. 2006).

Other population genomic studies of marine NIS have similarly revealed patterns suggestive of rapid adaptation to a variety of environmental variables (Tepolt and Palumbi 2015; Lin et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2021, 2024). In the invasive European green crab (*Carcinus maenas*), rapid selection at a putative inversion polymorphism appears to underlie adaptation across a temperature gradient in its invasive range on the west coast of North America (Tepolt et al. 2022). Allele frequency at this locus is strongly correlated with cold tolerance across its native and invasive ranges, suggesting that standing genetic variation from the native range fueled rapid adaptation to cold temperatures during northward expansion in its invasive range (Tepolt and Palumbi 2020). *Carcinus maenas*, like many marine invertebrates with highly dispersive larvae, experiences high levels of gene flow (Tepolt et al. 2022). Variation at regions of suppressed recombination, like inversions, which can contain few loci but of large effect,

may be especially important for adaptation in highly dispersive species (e.g. Barth et al. 2017; Samuk et al. 2017; Akopyan et al. 2022). In contrast, we found no evidence for extended regions of elevated linkage disequilibrium (Figure S2-5) and instead found many thousands of SNPs associated with environmental temperature distributed across the genome (Figure 2-5D). This suggests that highly polygenic, dispersive architectures of local adaptation may be favored in situations of low gene flow (Griswold 2006; Shi et al. 2023), as opposed to the evolution of genomic islands of divergence and/or inversions in regimes of high gene flow (Tigano and Friesen 2016; Schaal et al. 2022; Jay et al. 2024).

## Parallel adaptation via contrasting genomic routes?

The degree to which evolutionary adaptation is repeatable, and at which levels of biological organization, is an open question in contemporary evolutionary biology (Bolnick et al. 2018). The parallel thermal gradients across both coasts of North America afforded us the opportunity to interrogate whether the mechanisms putatively underlying adaptation to environmental temperature are shared versus divergent across these invasion fronts. The substantial overlap in the identity of overall SNPs between the NWA and PNW lineage (Figure 2-5A) suggests a large portion of standing genetic variation is segregating on both coasts. Nonetheless, we observed minimal overlap in the identity of EA loci between the two lineages, with just three SNPs that fit our criteria as EA in both clusters (Figure 2-6A). Our permutation test indicated that this degree of shared putatively adaptive variation at the SNP level is not significantly different from null expectations (Figure 2-6B). Given that putatively adaptive loci are no more likely to be shared among coasts than would be expected due to chance, we may conclude that parallel adaptation to temperature along these bicoastal temperature gradients is not underlain by parallel genomic shifts at the SNP level.

It should be noted that our approach for identifying EA SNPs may have affected our ability to detect parallel signatures of local adaptation, thus influencing our conclusion that adaptation has occurred primarily by divergent molecular routes. Because we used a rather conservative criterion for determining whether a SNP was associated with habitat temperature (using the intersection of two distinct methods), it is possible that some SNPs that were

marginally significant in one or both methods and displayed parallelism were excluded from the EA SNP set. If this were the case, our approach would favor detection of non-parallel SNPs and thus skew our interpretations. This could be explored further by proceeding with each GEA method independently, rather than taking the intersection, or by using less stringent significance thresholds. While it is possible that our permutation test would behave differently with a larger set of EA SNPs identified by a less conservative approach, the results presented here do indeed point toward limited parallelism during putative local adaptation to temperature on either coast.

While few in number, the identity of shared EA SNPs can provide some insights in the potential conserved mechanisms underlying thermal adaptation. The EA SNP chr13\_12950991 is within the gene *NOTCH2*, which encodes a Notch receptor which are widely implicated in developmental processes (Mumm and Kopan 2000). The EA SNP chr6\_2480339 is downstream of the gene *CRAT*, which encodes for the protein carnitine O-acetyltransferase. This protein is involved in the transport of fatty acids into mitochondria for subsequent  $\beta$ -oxidation (Ramsay et al. 2001). Changes in lipid metabolism, and specifically those involving carnitine transferases, have been implicated in adaptation and acclimation to cold temperatures (Lu et al. 2019; Mast et al. 2022); it is thus possible that this variant downstream of the *CRAT* gene may be involved in its regulation during cold stress. The EA SNP chr8\_1041275 is an intronic variant within the gene *LYG2*, which encodes a lysozyme g protein. Lysozymes are a component of the innate immune system that are responsible for lysing potentially pathogenic bacteria (Saurabh and Sahoo 2008). The appearance of another immune-related gene further suggests the involvement of immune processes in mediating adaptation across a thermal gradient, not adaptation to temperature *per se*, but rather to a covarying selective pressure from pathogens.

Despite the large proportion of shared variation, the lack of substantial overlap in EA SNP identity between the two coasts (Figure 2-6A) indicated a lack of SNP reuse (i.e. no significant parallelism at the SNP level). This was again reflected at the gene level (Figure 2-6D). The extent to which parallel phenotypic evolution is mediated by parallel changes at lower levels of biological organization (SNPs, genes, biochemical pathways, etc.) is highly variable among systems (reviewed by Bolnick et al. 2018). Because of many-to-one mapping and the

consequent redundancy afforded by the often highly polygenic genetic architecture underlying complex traits, there are potentially many different genomic trajectories to a parallel phenotypic outcome (Barghi et al. 2020). The large proportion of standing genetic variation that is shared between both coasts should perhaps increase the likelihood that SNPs/genes would be reused during parallel adaptation to temperature. Interestingly, we did not observe any evidence of excessive parallelism at these levels; the two clusters apparently developed largely idiosyncratic genomic responses to selection across parallel thermal gradients. Other studies have demonstrated how parallel phenotypic adaptation can be mediated by divergent molecular means (e.g. Elmer et al. 2014; Barghi et al. 2019; Fischer et al. 2021; Whiting et al. 2022; Szukala et al. 2023). For example, in an experimental evolution experiment in the Atlantic silverside (Menidia menidia), changes in body size in response to artificial size-selective fishing pressure were accompanied by mostly distinct genomic changes among replicate lines (Therkildsen et al. 2019). The inverse has also been observed, where the genetic mechanisms underlying adaptive evolution are highly parallel (e.g. Colosimo et al. 2005; Chan et al. 2010; Soria-Carrasco et al. 2014; Alves et al. 2019). For example, an experimental evolution study investigating the molecular basis of adaptation to low salinity in the copepod Eurytemora affinis found that nearly 80% of selected alleles were shared among ten replicate lines (Stern et al. 2022). The factors influencing whether parallel phenotypic evolution is mediated by parallel changes at the molecular level are varied and complex (see Bolnick et al. 2018), highlighting the need for more studies of parallelism and its molecular basis.

As for rapid adaptation more generally, biological invasions present excellent opportunities for investigating parallelism of evolutionary responses (Lin et al. 2015; Stuart et al. 2022). The aforementioned copepod *E. affinis* has repeatedly invaded freshwater habitats across its range (Lee 1999; Lee et al. 2011). These invasions are associated repeated evolution of specific molecular responses, at both the genomic (Stern and Lee 2020) and gene expression levels (Posavi et al. 2020). In contrast, Hodgins et al. (2016) found minimal reuse of orthologous genes during evolution among 35 native and invasive species of Asteraceae. In the present study, our observation of minimal SNP and gene reuse in putative thermal adaptation between the NWA and PNW lineages suggests that the molecular mechanisms are highly non-parallel.

Why we observed this degree of non-parallelism in unclear. One the one hand, the large proportion of shared genetic variation between the two regions, allowing selection to draw on an overlapping pool of variants, should potentiate parallel evolution. On the other hand, the large number of loci identified as adaptive, even with our conservative approach, suggests a highly polygenic basis of thermal tolerance, adding genetic redundancy and thus the potential for divergent molecular routes. Further investigations should explore how various factors such as the extent of standing genetic variation, genetic architecture, demographic history, and their interactions influence the observed level of parallelism.

# CONCLUSION

By applying IcWGS in a widespread marine NIS, we explore the potential for rapid evolutionary adaptation to temperature during invasion and subsequent range expansion. We also apply this genome-scale data towards the resolution of *B. schlosseri*'s invasion history in North America. That we found thousands of loci that are associated with environmental temperature suggests that thermal tolerance in this species has evolved rapidly and has a highly polygenic basis. Furthermore, the existence of several evolutionary lineages across both coasts of North America allowed us to evaluate the potential for parallel evolutionary adaptation on distinct genomic backgrounds. Despite a high proportion of shared standing genetic variation between two lineages, we found that the genetic targets of selection are largely distinct, adding valuable evidence to the potential for parallel evolution via contrasting molecular routes.

While study of NIS is valuable in its own right, it can also provide insights into broader problems in ecology and evolutionary biology (Huey et al. 2005; Sax et al. 2007). Specifically, by encountering novel environmental conditions during invasion and range expansion, NIS present useful opportunities to investigate the pace and mode of adaptive change in response to global change. By investigating genomic patterns of local adaptation in *B. schlosseri*, we demonstrate how a high-profile marine NIS has been able to adapt to environmental temperature on contemporary time scales. While NIS may represent an upper bound on the pace of adaptive change (Moran and Alexander 2014), they provide useful case studies for examining the potential of all species to adapt to a changing environment.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was funded by a National Defense Science and Engineering Graduate Fellowship to Z. Tobias, the Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution's Ocean Venture Fund and Grassle Fund awards to Z. Tobias, and a North Pacific Research Board grant to C. Tepolt (award #2212). Many people aided in the collection of *B. schlosseri* specimens for this project, including Cynthia McKenzie, Terri Wells, Haley Lambert, Claudio DiBacco, J. Ben Lowen, Shon Schooler, Rachel Flannery, Thom Therriault, Calley Wasser, Brett Howard, Stuart Crawford, Gary Freitag, Marnie Chapman, and Angela Bowers. We would especially like to acknowledge the Haida Nation and the Lax Kw'alaams Band for facilitating access to specimens from their respective waters. We would like to thank Rayna Hamilton for assistance with troubleshooting snpEff and Mikhail Matz for advice on implementing GO\_MWU.

TABLES

Code	Locality	Latitude	Longitude	n	π
BAIN	Baine Harbour, NL, Canada	47.3634	-54.8984	20	0.00840
BHRB	Ketchikan, AK, USA	55.3506	-131.6837	22	0.00650
BREK	South Portland, ME, USA	43.6500	-70.2319	22	0.00907
CHRL	Boston, MA, USA	42.3770	-71.0487	24	0.00907
COOS	Charleston, OR, USA	43.3462	-124.3268	24	0.00648
DART	Dartmouth, NS, Canada	44.7004	-63.6120	23	0.00937
DEAD	New York City, NY, USA	40.5859	-73.9008	22	0.00905
ELSN	Sitka, AK, USA	57.0581	-135.3542	26	0.00644
FALM	Falmouth, MA, USA	41.5483	-70.6027	24	0.00928
HAWK	Port Hawkesbury, NS, Canada	45.6136	-61.3652	23	0.00928
INRV	Delaware Seashore State Park, DE, USA	38.6130	-75.0737	24	0.00878
KWLM	Lax Kw'alaams, BC, Canada	54.5609	-130.4316	22	0.00689
LBPT	Virginia Beach, VA, USA	36.9038	-76.0736	20	0.00843

Table 2-1. Site information	, including number of	of specimens and	nucleotide diversity ( $\pi$ ).

LPCB	Conception Bay South, NL, USA	47.5222	-52.9680	24	0.00919
MSST	Masset, BC, USA	54.0082	-132.1407	23	0.00659
NCSL	Nanaimo, BC, USA	49.1801	-123.9293	23	0.00725
QUIV	San Diego, CA, USA	32.7624	-117.2380	21	0.00513
REED	Port Moody, BC, Canada	49.2925	-122.8844	22	0.00704
RICH	Richmond, CA, USA	37.9135	-122.3521	22	0.00700
SABS	St. Andrews, NB, Canada	45.0825	-67.0849	21	0.00819
SBRB	Santa Barbara, CA, USA	34.4050	-119.6921	17	0.00522
SEAT	Seattle, WA, USA	47.6289	-122.3923	24	0.00663
SFRA	San Francisco, CA, USA	37.8066	-122.4447	17	0.00712
STPH	Stephenville, NL, Canada	48.5141	-58.5382	24	0.00859







Figure 2-2. Principal components analysis (PCA) reveals hierarchical population structure in B. schlosseri. NWA = Northwest Atlantic, PNW = Pacific Northwest, SoCal = Southern California, SEAK = Southeast Alaska, ORCA = Oregon and northern California, BC = British Columbia, NBC = northern British Columbia, SBC = southern British Columbia. 83



**Figure 2-3.** IcWGS reveals strong genetic differentiation among populations of *B. schlosseri*. A) Heatmap of pairwise  $F_{ST}$  among populations. Hierarchical clustering reveals identical groupings to those in Figure 2A. (See Figure S2 for heatmap without SoCal populations). B) Mean pairwise  $F_{ST}$ within and among clusters. Error bars represent standard deviations. C) No signal of isolation-bydistance (IBD) in NWA cluster ( $R^2 = 0.026$ , p = 0.10). D) PNW cluster exhibited strong IBD ( $R^2 = 0.12$ , p = 0.012;  $R^2 = 0.48$ , p < 0.001 with labelled outliers removed).



**Figure 2-4.** Nucleotide diversity ( $\pi$ ) systematically differs by cluster. Bold lines within boxes represent the median. Edges of boxes represent the interquartile range. Whiskers represent the maximum and minimum values within each set.



**Figure 2-5.** A) Venn diagram showing the overlap of all SNPs between NWA and PNW clusters. B-C) Overlap between BAYPASS- and LFMM-identified environmentally associated (EA) SNPs reveals 1,439 EA SNPs in NWA and 3,937 EA SNPs in PNW, respectively. D). Manhattan plot of LFMM q-values in NWA across chromosomes 1-13 of the *B. schlosseri* reference genome. E) Plot of allele frequency vs. environmental tempearture at the most significant LFMM locus in NWA cluster. F-G) Histograms of null distribution of ratio of missense to synonymous mutations for NWA and PNW, respectively. Red lines represent observed value. NWA had a significantly higher ratio than expected due to chance (p = 0.035). No significant difference in PNW (p = 0.879).



**Figure 2-6.** Putative parallel evolution of thermal tolerance is mediated by divergent molecular means across the NWA and PNW clusters. A) Venn diagram showing the overlap in EA SNPs between NWA and PNW. B) Histogram showing the distribution of EA SNP overlap under null expectations. Red line represents the observed value of 3. C) Allele frequency vs. mean annual environmental temperature for the three EA SNPs found in both clusters. D) Venn diagram showing overlap in EA genes between PNW and NWA. E) Histogram of expected degree of EA gene overlap from permutation test. Red line represents observed overlap. There is significantly less overlap at the gene level than expected due to chance (p = 0.018).



**Figure 2-7.** Mitochondrial *COI* haplotype analysis. A) Minimum spanning haplotype network reveals four primary haplogroups, all of which are represented in our sampling. Grey circles represent haplotypes found in other studies but not in our own. B) Map of haplotype frequencies at each population.

# REFERENCES

- Adams NE, Bandivadekar RR, Battey CJ, et al (2023) Widespread gene flow following range expansion in Anna's Hummingbird. Mol Ecol 32:3089–3101. doi: 10.1111/mec.16928
- Akopyan M, Tigano A, Jacobs A, et al (2022) Comparative linkage mapping uncovers recombination suppression across massive chromosomal inversions associated with local adaptation in Atlantic silversides. Mol Ecol 31:3323–3341

Aldred N, Clare AS (2014) Mini-review: Impact and dynamics of surface fouling by solitary and compound ascidians. Biofouling 30:259–270. doi: 10.1080/08927014.2013.866653

- Ali HAJ, Tamilselvi M, Sivakumar V (2009) Distribution of alien and cryptogenic ascidians along the southern coasts of Indian Peninsula. World J Fish Mar Sci 1:305–312
- Alves JM, Carneiro M, Cheng JY, et al (2019) Parallel adaptation of rabbit populations to myxoma virus. Science 363:1319–1326

Amish SJ, Ali O, Peacock M, et al (2019) Assessing thermal adaptation using family-based association and FST outlier tests in a threatened trout species. Mol Ecol 28:2573–2593

Andrews S (2010) FastQC: A Quality Control Tool for High Throughput Sequence Data. http://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/

Bagriantsev SN, Gracheva EO (2015) Molecular mechanisms of temperature adaptation. J Physiol 593:3483–3491

- Baker HG (1965) Characteristics and modes of origin of weeds. In: Stebbins GL, Baker HG (eds) The Genetics of Colonizing Species. Academic Press, New York, pp 147–172
- Baker HG, Stebbins GL (eds) (1965) The Genetics of Colonizing Species. Academic Press, New York
- Barghi N, Hermisson J, Schlötterer C (2020) Polygenic adaptation: a unifying framework to understand positive selection. Nat Rev Genet 21:769–781
- Barghi N, Tobler R, Nolte V, et al (2019) Genetic redundancy fuels polygenic adaptation in Drosophila. PLoS Biol 17:e3000128

Barth JMI, Berg PR, Jonsson PR, et al (2017) Genome architecture enables local adaptation of Atlantic cod despite high connectivity. Mol Ecol 26:4452–4466. doi: 10.1111/mec.14207

- Baym M, Kryazhimskiy S, Lieberman TD, et al (2015) Inexpensive multiplexed library preparation for megabase-sized genomes. PLoS One 10:e0128036. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128036
- Ben-Shlomo R, Reem E, Douek J, Rinkevich B (2010) Population genetics of the invasive ascidian Botryllus schlosseri from South American coasts. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 412:85–92. doi: 10.3354/meps08688
- Bock DG, Caseys C, Cousens RD, et al (2015) What we still don't know about invasion genetics. Mol Ecol 24:2277–2297. doi: 10.1111/mec.13032
- Bock DG, Macisaac HJ, Cristescu ME (2012) Multilocus genetic analyses differentiate between widespread and spatially restricted cryptic species in a model ascidian. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 279:2377–2385. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.2610
- Bolnick DI, Barrett RDH, Oke KB, et al (2018) (Non)parallel evolution. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 49:303–330. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110617-062240
- Bors EK, Herrera S, Morris Jr JA, Shank TM (2019) Population genomics of rapidly invading lionfish in the Caribbean reveals signals of range expansion in the absence of spatial

population structure. Ecol Evol 9:3306–3320

- Boyd HC, Weissman IL, Saito Y (1990) Morphologic and genetic verification that Monterey *Botryllus* and Woods Hole *Botryllus* are the same species. Biol Bull 178:239–250. doi: 10.2307/1541825
- Breese MR, Liu Y (2013) NGSUtils: a software suite for analyzing and manipulating nextgeneration sequencing datasets. Bioinformatics 29:494–496
- Briggs JC (1974) Marine Zoogeography. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Brunetti R, Griggio F, Mastrototaro F, et al (2020) Toward a resolution of the cosmopolitan Botryllus schlosseri species complex (Ascidiacea, Styelidae): mitogenomics and morphology of clade E (Botryllus gaiae). Zool J Linn Soc 1–18. doi: 10.1093/zoolinnean/zlaa023
- Buchfink B, Xie C, Huson DH (2015) Fast and sensitive protein alignment using DIAMOND. Nat Methods 12:59–60. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3176
- Bullard SG, Lambert G, Carman MR, et al (2007) The colonial ascidian *Didemnum* sp. A: current distribution, basic biology and potential threat to marine communities of the northeast and west coasts of North America. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 342:99–108
- Burton RS (1998) Intraspecific phylogeography across the Point Conception biogeographic boundary. Evolution 52:734–745
- Butlin RK, Saura M, Charrier G, et al (2014) Parallel evolution of local adaptation and reproductive isolation in the face of gene flow. Evolution 68:935–949
- Callahan AG, Deibel D, McKenzie CH, et al (2010) Survey of harbours in Newfoundland for indigenous and non-indigenous ascidians and an analysis of their cytochrome c oxidase I gene sequences. Aquat Invasions 5:31–39. doi: 10.3391/ai.2010.5.1.5
- Camporeale G, Giordano E, Rendina R, et al (2006) *Drosophila melanogaster* holocarboxylase synthetase is a chromosomal protein required for normal histone biotinylation, gene transcription patterns, lifespan, and heat tolerance. J Nutr 136:2735–2742
- Cantalapiedra CP, Hernández-Plaza A, Letunic I, et al (2021) eggNOG-mapper v2: functional annotation, orthology assignments, and domain prediction at the metagenomic scale. Mol Biol Evol 38:5825–5829
- Carlton JT (1979) History, biogeography, and ecology of the introduced marine and estuarine invertebrates of the Pacific Coast of North America. University of California, Davis
- Carver CE, Mallet AL, Vercaemer B (2006) Biological synopsis of the colonial tunicates (*Botryllus schlosseri* and *Botrylloides violaceus*). Bedford Institute of Oceanography
- Chan YF, Marks ME, Jones FC, et al (2010) Adaptive evolution of pelvic reduction in sticklebacks by recurrent deletion of a Pitx1 enhancer. Science 327:302–305
- Chen Y, Gao Y, Huang X, et al (2021) Local environment-driven adaptive evolution in a marine invasive ascidian (*Molgula manhattensis*). Ecol Evol 11:4252–4266
- Chen Y, Ni P, Fu R, et al (2024) (Epi) genomic adaptation driven by fine geographical scale environmental heterogeneity after recent biological invasions. Ecol Appl 34:e2772
- Cingolani P, Platts A, Wang LL, et al (2012) A program for annotating and predicting the effects of single nucleotide polymorphisms, SnpEff: SNPs in the genome of *Drosophila melanogaster* strain w1118; iso-2; iso-3. Fly (Austin) 6:80–92
- Colautti RI, Barrett SCH (2013) Rapid adaptation to climate facilitates range expansion of an invasive plant. Science 342:364–366
- Colosimo PF, Hosemann KE, Balabhadra S, et al (2005) Widespread parallel evolution in

sticklebacks by repeated fixation of ectodysplasin alleles. Science 307:1928–1933 Cristescu ME (2015) Genetic reconstructions of invasion history. Mol Ecol 24:2212–2225. doi:

- 10.1111/mec.13117
- Danecek P, Bonfield JK, Liddle J, et al (2021) Twelve years of SAMtools and BCFtools. Gigascience 10:giab008
- Dijkstra J, Harris LG, Westerman E (2007) Distribution and long-term temporal patterns of four invasive colonial ascidians in the Gulf of Maine. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 342:61–68. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2006.10.015
- Dionne M, Miller KM, Dodson JJ, et al (2007) Clinal variation in MHC diversity with temperature: evidence for the role of host--pathogen interaction on local adaptation in Atlantic salmon. Evolution 61:2154–2164
- Duncker BP, Chen C-P, Davies PL, Walker VK (1995) Antifreeze protein does not confer cold tolerance to transgenic Drosophila melanogaster. Cryobiology 32:521–527
- Eberl R, Mateos M, Grosberg RK, et al (2013) Phylogeography of the supralittoral isopod *Ligia* occidentalis around the Point Conception marine biogeographical boundary. J Biogeogr 40:2361–2372
- Edgar RC (2004) MUSCLE: multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. Nucleic Acids Res 32:1792–1797
- Elmer KR, Fan S, Kusche H, et al (2014) Parallel evolution of Nicaraguan crater lake cichlid fishes via non-parallel routes. Nat Commun 5:5168. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6168
- Elton CS (1958) The Ecology of Invasions by Animals and Plants. Methuen, London, U.K.
- Fischer EK, Song Y, Hughes KA, et al (2021) Nonparallel transcriptional divergence during parallel adaptation. Mol Ecol 30:1516–1530
- Fofonoff P, Ruiz G, Steves B, et al (2024) National Exotic Marine and Estuarine Species Information System. https://invasions.si.edu/nemesis/
- Fox EA, Wright AE, Fumagalli M, Vieira FG (2019) NgsLD: Evaluating linkage disequilibrium using genotype likelihoods. Bioinformatics 35:3855–3856. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btz200
- Frichot E, Schoville SD, Bouchard G, François O (2013) Testing for associations between loci and environmental gradients using latent factor mixed models. Mol Biol Evol 30:1687–1699
- Gao Y, Chen Y, Li S, et al (2022) Complementary genomic and epigenomic adaptation to environmental heterogeneity. Mol Ecol 31:3598–3612
- Gao Y, Li S, Zhan A (2018) Genome-wide single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) for a model invasive ascidian Botryllus schlosseri. Genetica 146:227–234. doi: 10.1007/s10709-018-0015-1
- Garrison E, Marth G (2012) Haplotype-based variant detection from short-read sequencing. arXiv Prepr arXiv12073907
- Gartner HN, Murray CC, Frey MA, et al (2016) Non-indigenous invertebrate species in the marine fouling communities of British Columbia, Canada. BioInvasions Rec 5:205–212. doi: 10.3391/bir.2016.5.4.03
- Gautier M (2015) Genome-wide scan for adaptive divergence and association with populationspecific covariates. Genetics 201:1555–1579
- Gould AA (1870) Report on the Invertebrata of Massachusetts. Wright and Potter, State Printers, Boston, MA
- Griswold CK (2006) Gene flow's effect on the genetic architecture of a local adaptation and its

consequences for QTL analyses. Heredity 96:445–453

- Grosberg RK (1987) Limited dispersal and proximity-dependent mating success in the colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. Evolution 41:372–384. doi: 10.2307/2409145
- Harris CR, Millman KJ, Van Der Walt SJ, et al (2020) Array programming with NumPy. Nature 585:357–362
- Haverinen J, Dzhumaniiazova I, Abramochkin D V, et al (2021) Effects of Na+ channel isoforms and cellular environment on temperature tolerance of cardiac Na+ current in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). J Exp Biol 224:jeb241067
- Hoban S, Kelley JL, Lotterhos KE, et al (2016) Finding the Genomic Basis of Local Adaptation: Pitfalls, Practical Solutions, and Future Directions. Am Nat 188:379–397. doi: 10.1086/688018
- Hodgins KA, Bock DG, Hahn MA, et al (2016) Comparative genomics in the Asteraceae reveals little evidence for parallel evolutionary change in invasive taxa. Invasion Genet Bak Stebbins Leg 283–299
- Huerta-Cepas J, Szklarczyk D, Heller D, et al (2019) eggNOG 5.0: a hierarchical, functionally and phylogenetically annotated orthology resource based on 5090 organisms and 2502 viruses. Nucleic Acids Res 47:D309--D314
- Huey RB, Gilchrist GW, Hendry AP (2005) Using invasive species to study evolution. In: Sax DF,
   Stachowicz JJ, Gaines SD, Freeman WH (eds) Species Invasions: Insights into Ecology,
   Evolution, and Biogeography. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA, pp 139–164
- Jaspers C, Ehrlich M, Pujolar JM, et al (2021) Invasion genomics uncover contrasting scenarios of genetic diversity in a widespread marine invader. Proc Natl Acad Sci 118:e2116211118
- Jay P, Aubier TG, Joron M (2024) The interplay of local adaptation and gene flow may lead to the formation of supergenes. Mol Ecol e17297
- Jurgens L, Bonfim M, Lopez DP, et al (2018) Poleward range expansion of a non-indigenous bryozoan and new occurrences of exotic ascidians in southeast Alaska. BioInvasions Rec 7:357–366. doi: 10.3391/bir.2018.7.4.02
- Kirk H, Dorn S, Mazzi D (2013) Molecular genetics and genomics generate new insights into invertebrate pest invasions. Evol Appl 6:842–856
- Kiss T, Battonyai I, Pirger Z (2014) Down regulation of sodium channels in the central nervous system of hibernating snails. Physiol Behav 131:93–98
- Klein J, Verlaque M (2008) The Caulerpa racemosa invasion: a critical review. Mar Pollut Bull 56:205–225
- Korneliussen TS, Albrechtsen A, Nielsen R (2014) ANGSD: Analysis of Next Generation Sequencing Data. BMC Bioinformatics 15:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s12859-014-0356-4
- Köster J, Rahmann S (2012) Snakemake—a scalable bioinformatics workflow engine. Bioinformatics 28:2520–2522. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts480
- Krueger F (2015) Trim Galore!: A wrapper tool around Cutadapt and FastQC to consistently apply quality and adapter trimming to FastQ files.
- Kurtzer GM, Sochat V, Bauer MW (2017) Singularity: Scientific containers for mobility of compute. PLoS One 12:e0177459
- Lacoursière-Roussel A, Bock DG, Cristescu ME, et al (2012) Disentangling invasion processes in a dynamic shipping-boating network. Mol Ecol 21:4227–4241. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05702.x

- Lambert CC, Lambert G (1998) Non-indigenous ascidians in southern California harbors and marinas. Mar Biol 130:675–688
- Lambert G (2001) A global overview of ascidian introductions and their possible impact on the endemic fauna. Biol ascidians 249–257
- Langmead B, Salzberg SL (2012) Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. Nat Methods 9:357. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1923
- Lee CE (2002) Evolutionary genetics of invasive species. Trends Ecol Evol 17:386–391. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(01)02405-3
- Lee CE (1999) Rapid and repeated invasions of fresh water by the copepod *Eurytemora affinis*. Evolution 53:1423–1434
- Lee CE, Kiergaard M, Gelembiuk GW, et al (2011) Pumping ions: Rapid parallel evolution of ionic regulation following habitat invasions. Evolution 65:2229–2244. doi: 10.1111/j.1558-5646.2011.01308.x
- Lee T, Shin S (2021) First record of colonial ascidian, *Botrylloides diegensis* Ritter and Forsyth, 1917 (Ascidiacea, Stolidobranchia, Styelidae), in South Korea. Water 13:2164. doi: 10.3390/w13162164
- Leffler EM, Bullaughey K, Matute DR, et al (2012) Revisiting an old riddle: what determines genetic diversity levels within species?
- Leigh JW, Bryant D (2015) POPART: Full-feature software for haplotype network construction. Methods Ecol Evol 6:1110–1116. doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.12410
- Lejeusne C, Bock DG, Therriault TW, et al (2011) Comparative phylogeography of two colonial ascidians reveals contrasting invasion histories in North America. Biol Invasions 13:635–650. doi: 10.1007/s10530-010-9854-0
- Lin T, Klinkhamer PGL, Vrieling K (2015) Parallel evolution in an invasive plant: effect of herbivores on competitive ability and regrowth of *Jacobaea vulgaris*. Ecol Lett 18:668–676
- Lin Y, Chen Y, Yi C, et al (2017) Genetic signatures of natural selection in a model invasive ascidian. Sci Rep 7:. doi: 10.1038/srep44080
- López-Legentil S, Turon X, Planes S (2006) Genetic structure of the star sea squirt, *Botryllus schlosseri*, introduced in southern European harbours. Mol Ecol 15:3957–3967. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2006.03087.x
- Lou RN, Jacobs A, Wilder A, Therkildsen NO (2020) A beginner's guide to low-coverage whole genome sequencing for population genomics. Authorea Prepr 1–68
- Lu D-L, Ma Q, Wang J, et al (2019) Fasting enhances cold resistance in fish through stimulating lipid catabolism and autophagy. J Physiol 597:1585–1603
- Marcogliese DJ (2008) The impact of climate change on the parasites and infectious diseases of aquatic animals. Rev Sci Tech 27:467–484
- Maron JL, Vilà M, Bommarco R, et al (2004) Rapid evolution of an invasive plant. Ecol Monogr 74:261–280
- Martin M (2011) Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads. EMBnet J 17:10–12. doi: 10.14806/ej.17.1.200
- Martin RA, da Silva CRB, Moore MP, Diamond SE (2023) When will a changing climate outpace adaptive evolution? Wiley Interdiscip Rev Clim Chang 14:e852
- Mast H, Holody CD, Lemieux H (2022) Fatty acid oxidation: a neglected factor in understanding the adjustment of mitochondrial function to cold temperatures. J Exp Biol 225:jeb244934

- McKenna A, Hanna M, Banks E, et al (2010) The Genome Analysis Toolkit: a MapReduce framework for analyzing next-generation DNA sequencing data. Genome Res 20:1297– 1303
- Meisner J, Albrechtsen A (2018) Inferring population structure and admixture proportions in low-depth NGS data. Genetics 210:719–731
- Mérot C, Berdan EL, Cayuela H, et al (2021) Locally Adaptive Inversions Modulate Genetic Variation at Different Geographic Scales in a Seaweed Fly. Mol Biol Evol 38:3953–3971. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msab143
- Moran E V, Alexander JM (2014) Evolutionary responses to global change: lessons from invasive species. Ecol Lett 17:637–649. doi: 10.1111/ele.12262
- Morris Jr JA, Akins JL, Barse A, et al (2009) Biology and ecology of the invasive lionfishes, Pterois miles and Pterois volitans.
- Muehlbauer F, Fraser D, Brenner M, et al (2014) Bivalve aquaculture transfers in Atlantic Europe. Part A: Transfer activities and legal framework. Ocean Coast Manag 89:127–138
- Mumm JS, Kopan R (2000) Notch signaling: from the outside in. Dev Biol 228:151–165
- Narum SR, Campbell NR, Meyer KA, et al (2013) Thermal adaptation and acclimation of ectotherms from differing aquatic climates. Mol Ecol 22:3090–3097
- North HL, McGaughran A, Jiggins CD (2021) Insights into invasive species from whole-genome resequencing. Mol Ecol 30:6289–6308. doi: 10.1111/mec.15999
- Nydam ML, Giesbrecht KB, Stephenson EE (2017) Origin and dispersal history of two colonial ascidian clades in the *Botryllus schlosseri* species complex. PLoS One 12:e0169944. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169944
- Parmesan C (2006) Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 37:637–669. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110100
- Parvizi E, Dhami MK, Yan J, McGaughran A (2023) Population genomic insights into invasion success in a polyphagous agricultural pest, *Halyomorpha halys*. Mol Ecol 32:138–151
- Pélissié B, Crossley MS, Cohen ZP, Schoville SD (2018) Rapid evolution in insect pests: the importance of space and time in population genomics studies. Curr Opin insect Sci 26:8–16
- Posavi M, Gulisija D, Munro JB, et al (2020) Rapid evolution of genome-wide gene expression and plasticity during saline to freshwater invasions by the copepod *Eurytemora affinis* species complex. Mol Ecol 29:4835–4856
- Prentis PJ, Wilson JRU, Dormontt EE, et al (2008) Adaptive evolution in invasive species. Trends Plant Sci 13:288–294. doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2008.03.004
- Quinlan AR, Hall IM (2010) BEDTools: a flexible suite of utilities for comparing genomic features. Bioinformatics 26:841–842
- R Core Team (2013) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing
- Ramos-Esplá AA, Micael J, Halldórsson HP, Gíslason S (2020) Iceland: A laboratory for nonindigenous ascidians. BioInvasions Rec 9:450–460. doi: 10.3391/bir.2020.9.3.01
- Ramsay A, Davidson J, Landry T, Arsenault G (2008) Process of invasiveness among exotic tunicates in Prince Edward Island, Canada. Biol Invasions 10:1311–1316
- Ramsay RR, Gandour RD, van der Leij FR (2001) Molecular enzymology of carnitine transfer and transport. Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA)-Protein Struct Mol Enzymol 1546:21–43
- Reem E, Douek J, Rinkevich B (2021) A critical deliberation of the "species complex" status of the globally spread colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. J Mar Biol Assoc United Kingdom

101:1047-1060. doi: 10.1017/S0025315422000029

- Rinkevich B, Shapira M, Weissman IL, Saito Y (1992) Allogeneic responses between three remote populations of the cosmopolitan ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. Zoolog Sci 9:989–994
- Ruiz GM, Fofonoff P, Hines AH, Grosholz ED (1999) Non-indigenous species as stressors in estuarine and marine communities: assessing invasion impacts and interactions. Limnol Oceanogr 44:950–972
- Ruiz GM, Huber T, Larson K, et al (2006) Biological Invasions in Alaska's Coastal Marine Ecosystems: Establishing a Baseline
- Ryan SF, Lombaert E, Espeset A, et al (2019) Global invasion history of the agricultural pest butterfly Pieris rapae revealed with genomics and citizen science. Proc Natl Acad Sci 116:20015–20024
- Samuk K, Owens GL, Delmore KE, et al (2017) Gene flow and selection interact to promote adaptive divergence in regions of low recombination. Mol Ecol 26:4378–4390
- Sanford E, Kelly MW (2011) Local adaptation in marine invertebrates. Ann Rev Mar Sci 3:509– 535. doi: 10.1146/annurev-marine-120709-142756
- Saurabh S, Sahoo PK (2008) Lysozyme: an important defence molecule of fish innate immune system. Aquac Res 39:223–239
- Sax DF, Stachowicz JJ, Brown JH, et al (2007) Ecological and evolutionary insights from species invasions. Trends Ecol Evol 22:465–471. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.06.009
- Schaal SM, Haller BC, Lotterhos KE (2022) Inversion invasions: when the genetic basis of local adaptation is concentrated within inversions in the face of gene flow. Philos Trans R Soc B 377:20210200
- Sherman CDH, Lotterhos KE, Richardson MF, et al (2016) What are we missing about marine invasions? Filling in the gaps with evolutionary genomics. Mar Biol 163:198. doi: 10.1007/s00227-016-2961-4
- Shi Y, Bouska KL, McKinney GJ, et al (2023) Gene flow influences the genomic architecture of local adaptation in six riverine fish species. Mol Ecol 32:1549–1566
- Simkanin C, Fofonoff PW, Larson K, et al (2016) Spatial and temporal dynamics of ascidian invasions in the continental United States and Alaska. Mar Biol 163:163. doi: 10.1007/s00227-016-2924-9
- Slatkin M (1995) A measure of population subdivision based on microsatellite allele frequencies. Genetics 139:457–462
- Soria-Carrasco V, Gompert Z, Comeault AA, et al (2014) Stick insect genomes reveal natural selection's role in parallel speciation. Science 344:738–742
- Stern D Ben, Lee CE (2020) Evolutionary origins of genomic adaptations in an invasive copepod. Nat Ecol Evol 4:1084–1094. doi: 10.1038/s41559-020-1201-y
- Stern DB, Anderson NW, Diaz JA, Lee CE (2022) Genome-wide signatures of synergistic epistasis during parallel adaptation in a Baltic Sea copepod. Nat Commun 13:4024
- Stoner DS, Ben-Shlomo R, Rinkevich B, Weissman IL (2002) Genetic variability of *Botryllus schlosseri* invasions to the east and west coasts of the USA. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 243:93–100. doi: 10.3354/meps243093
- Stuart KC, Sherwin WB, Austin JJ, et al (2022) Historical museum samples enable the examination of divergent and parallel evolution during invasion. Mol Ecol 31:1836–1852

- Szukala A, Lovegrove-Walsh J, Luqman H, et al (2023) Polygenic routes lead to parallel altitudinal adaptation in *Heliosperma pusillum* (Caryophyllaceae). Mol Ecol 32:1832–1847
- Takagaki N, Ohta A, Ohnishi K, et al (2020) The mechanoreceptor DEG-1 regulates cold tolerance in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. EMBO Rep 21:e48671
- Tepolt CK, Grosholz ED, de Rivera CE, Ruiz GM (2022) Balanced polymorphism fuels rapid selection in an invasive crab despite high gene flow and low genetic diversity. Mol Ecol 31:55–69
- Tepolt CK, Palumbi SR (2015) Transcriptome sequencing reveals both neutral and adaptive genome dynamics in a marine invader. Mol Ecol 24:4145–4158. doi: 10.1111/mec.13294
- Tepolt CK, Palumbi SR (2020) Rapid adaptation to temperature via a potential genomic island of divergence in the invasive green crab, Carcinus maenas. Front Ecol Evol 8:580701
- Therkildsen NO, Palumbi SR (2017) Practical low-coverage genomewide sequencing of hundreds of individually barcoded samples for population and evolutionary genomics in nonmodel species. Mol Ecol Resour 17:194–208. doi: 10.1111/1755-0998.12593
- Therkildsen NO, Wilder AP, Conover DO, et al (2019) Contrasting genomic shifts underlie parallel phenotypic evolution in response to fishing. Science 365:487–490. doi: 10.1126/science.aaw7271
- Tigano A, Friesen VL (2016) Genomics of local adaptation with gene flow. Mol Ecol 25:2144–2164. doi: 10.1111/mec.13606
- Tobias Z, Solow A, Tepolt C (2024) Geography and developmental plasticity shape post-larval thermal tolerance in the golden star tunicate, *Botryllus schlosseri*. J Therm Biol 119:103763. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2023.103763
- Tovar-Hernández MA, Yáñez-Rivera B, Villalobos-Guerrero TF, et al (2014) Invertebrados marinos exóticos en el Golfo de California. In: Especies Invasoras Acuáticas: Casos de Estudio en Ecosistemas de México. pp 394–659
- Tsagkogeorga G, Cahais V, Galtier N (2012) The population genomics of a fast evolver: High levels of diversity, functional constraint, andmolecular adaptation in the tunicate *Ciona intestinalis*. Genome Biol Evol 4:740–749. doi: 10.1093/gbe/evs054
- Turner KG, Hufbauer RA, Rieseberg LH (2014) Rapid evolution of an invasive weed. New Phytol 202:309–321
- van Boheemen LA, Atwater DZ, Hodgins KA (2019) Rapid and repeated local adaptation to climate in an invasive plant. New Phytol 222:614–627. doi: 10.1111/nph.15564
- Viard F, David P, Darling JA (2016) Marine invasions enter the genomic era: Three lessons from the past, and the way forward. Curr Zool 62:629–642. doi: 10.1093/cz/zow053
- Vitousek PM, D'Antonio CM, Loope LL, Westbrooks R (1996) Biological invasions as global environmental change. Am Sci 84:468–478
- Wares JP, Gaines S, Cunningham CW (2001) A comparative study of asymmetric migration events across a marine biogeographic boundary. Evolution 55:295–306
- Waterhouse AM, Procter JB, Martin DMA, et al (2009) Jalview Version 2—a multiple sequence alignment editor and analysis workbench. Bioinformatics 25:1189–1191
- Westley PAH (2011) What invasive species reveal about the rate and form of contemporary phenotypic change in nature. Am Nat 177:496–509
- Whiting JR, Paris JR, Parsons PJ, et al (2022) On the genetic architecture of rapidly adapting and

convergent life history traits in guppies. Heredity 128:250–260

Wickham H (2016) ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer, Cham, Switzerland Williamson M (1996) Biological invasions. Springer Science & Business Media

- Worcester SE (1994) Adult rafting versus larval swimming: dispersal and recruitment of a botryllid ascidian on eelgrass. Mar Biol 121:309–317
- Yund PO, Collins C, Johnson SL (2015) Evidence of a native northwest atlantic COI haplotype clade in the cryptogenic colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. Biol Bull 228:201–216. doi: 10.1086/BBLv228n3p201
- Yund PO, O'Neil PG (2000) Microgeographic genetic differentiation in a colonial ascidian (*Botryllus schlosseri*) population. Mar Biol 137:583–588. doi: 10.1007/s002270000378
- Zimmermann K, Leffler A, Babes A, et al (2007) Sensory neuron sodium channel Nav1. 8 is essential for pain at low temperatures. Nature 447:856–859

Station name	Site(s)	Lat	Lon	Agency	D	Start
Hog Island Channel, NY	DEAD	40.6088	-73.6561	USGS	1311143	5/5/15
West Chedabucto Bay, NS	HAWK	45.4869	-61.1410	Smart Atlantic	44489	9/16/20
Sewells Point, VA	LBPT	36.9467	-76.3300	NOAA	8638610	1/1/15
Hollyrood 2, NL	LPCB	-53.1081	-53.1081	Smart Atlantic		8/29/18
San Diego, CA	QUIV	32.7142	-117.1736	NOAA	9410170	1/1/15
Richmond, CA	RICH	37.9231	-122.4097	NOAA	9414863	1/1/15
Stearns Wharf, CA	SBRB	34.4107	-119.6874	SCCOOS		9/16/05
Massey Ditch, DE	INRV	38.6249	-75.0992	USGS	1484680	11/2/11
Menauhant Yacht Club, MA	FALM	41.5526	-70.5485	NERRS	WQBMHW	1/1/15
Boston, MA	CHRL	42.3539	-71.0503	NOAA	8443970	1/14/07
Portland, ME	BREK	43.6581	-70.2442	NOAA	8418150	1/1/15
Eastport, ME	SABS	44.9046	-66.9829	NOAA	8410140	1/1/15
Halifax Herring Cove Buoy, NS	DART	44.5559	-63.5445	Smart Atlantic		11/7/13
Channel/Port Aux Basques Buoy, NL	STPH	47.5628	-59.1004	Smart Atlantic		8/29/13
Pilot Boarding Station/Red Island Shoal Buoy, NL	BAIN	47.3184	-54.1222	Smart Atlantic		7/6/10
Charleston Bridge, OR	COOS	43.3377	-124.3205	NERRS	SOSCHWQ	1/1/15
Seattle, WA	SEAT	47.6019	-122.3392	NOAA	9447130	1/1/15
Halibut Bank, BC	NCSL, REED	49.3400	-123.7300	Environment CA	46146	5/5/15
Central Dixon Entrance Buoy, BC	KWLM, MSST	54.3700	-132.4400	Environment CA	46145	5/5/15
Ketchikan, AK	BHRB	55.3319	-131.6261	NOAA	9450460	1/1/15
Sitka, AK	ELSN	57.0517	-135.342	NOAA	9451600	1/1/15

# Table S2-1. Environmental temperature source metadata (continued on next page).

# SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES

1	
End	URL
10/19/23	http://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/gov_usgs_waterdata_01311143.html
10/19/23	https://www.smartatlantic.ca/erddap/tabledap/eccc_opp_44489_west_chedabucto_bay.html
12/31/21	http://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa_nos_co_ops_8638610.html
10/19/23	https://www.smartatlantic.ca/erddap/tabledap/SMA_Holyrood_Buoy2.html
10/19/23	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa_nos_co_ops_9410170.html
10/19/23	http://erddap.cencoos.org/erddap/tabledap/noaa_nos_co_ops_9414863.html
10/19/23	https://erddap.sccoos.org/erddap/tabledap/autoss.html?station=%22stearns_wharf%22
10/19/23	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/gov_usgs_waterdata_01484680.html
10/19/23	https://cdmo.baruch.sc.edu/aqs/index.cfm
6/16/17	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa_nos_co_ops_8443970.html
10/19/23	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa_nos_co_ops_8418150.html
10/19/23	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa_nos_co_ops_8410140.html
10/19/23	https://www.smartatlantic.ca/erddap/tabledap/SMA_halifax.html
4/18/23	https://www.smartatlantic.ca/erddap/tabledap/SMA_port_aux_basques.html
2/9/23	https://www.smartatlantic.ca/erddap/tabledap/SMA_red_island_shoal.html
10/19/23	https://cdmo.baruch.sc.edu/aqs/index.cfm
10/19/23	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa_nos_co_ops_9447130.html
10/19/23	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/ca_weather_46146.html
10/19/23	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/ca_weather_46145.html
10/19/23	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa_nos_co_ops_9450460.html
10/19/23	https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa_nos_co_ops_9451600.html

# SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES



Figure S2-1. Heatmap of pairwise F<sub>ST</sub> with SoCal populations removed.



**Figure S2-2.** Sampling depth at each site does not affect nucleotide diversity ( $\pi$ ).



**Figure S2-3.** Temperature variables across sites in NWA are highly correlated with one another (r > 0.65). Upper triangle shows Pearson correlation coefficients. Diagonal shows distribution of metrics. Lower triangle shows Loess regressions of environmental covariates on one another.



**Figure S2-4.** Histograms of expected number of EA SNPs to fall within 1000bp of a gene (for chrs1-13) or within a gene (for chrUn) in NWA (top) and PNW (bottom). Red line represents the observed value.





# Geography and developmental plasticity shape post-larval thermal tolerance in the golden star tunicate, *Botryllus schlosseri*<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This chapter has been published as:

Tobias Z, Solow A, Tepolt CK (2024). Geography and developmental plasticity shape post-larval thermal tolerance in the golden star tunicate, *Botryllus schlosseri*. Journal of Thermal Biology, 119, 103763.

As original authors of the work, we have permission to reproduce this material in this dissertation. Minor formatting changes slightly alter the presentation of this work.

## ABSTRACT

Local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity play key roles in mediating organisms' ability to respond to spatiotemporal variation in temperature. These two processes often act together to generate latitudinal or elevational clines in acute temperature tolerance. Phenotypic plasticity is also subject to local adaptation, with the expectation that populations inhabiting more variable environments should exhibit greater phenotypic plasticity of thermal tolerance. Here we examine the potential for local adaptation and developmental plasticity of thermal tolerance in the widespread invasive tunicate, *Botryllus schlosseri*. By comparing five populations across a thermal gradient spanning 4.4° of latitude in the northwest Atlantic, we demonstrate that warmer populations south of the Gulf of Maine exhibit significantly increased (~0.2 °C) post-larval temperature tolerance relative to the colder populations within it. We also show that *B. schlosseri* post-larvae possess a high degree of developmental plasticity for this trait, shifting their median temperature of survival ( $LT_{50}$ ) upwards by as much as 0.18 °C per 1 °C increase in environmental temperature. Lastly, we found that populations vary in their degrees of developmental plasticity, with populations that experience more pronounced shortterm temperature variability exhibiting greater developmental plasticity, suggesting the local adaptation of developmental plasticity. By comparing the thermal tolerance of populations across space and through time, we demonstrate how geography and developmental plasticity have shaped thermal tolerance in *B. schlosseri*. These results help inform our understanding of how species are able to adjust their thermal physiology in new environments, including those encountered during invasion and under increasingly novel climate conditions.

# INTRODUCTION

Temperature exerts broad influence on biological systems, from setting rates of biochemical reactions to impacting the geographic distribution of species (Hochachka and Somero 2002). Understanding how species cope with changes in temperature is a fundamental concern of ecophysiology and has broad implications in an era of global climate change (Chown et al. 2010; Somero 2010). For sessile marine ectotherms, which have limited capacity for behavioral thermoregulation, the physiological effects of temperature can be especially

pronounced (e.g. Hofmann and Somero, 1995). Nonetheless, many marine invertebrates have extensive geographic distributions and persist over broad spatial gradients in temperature. Many such organisms, especially those in coastal and intertidal environments, are subject to wide swings in temperature across a range of temporal scales, including tidal, diel, seasonal, and interannual (Hochachka and Somero 2002; Deser et al. 2010). The persistence of marine ectotherms in the face of such spatiotemporal variation demonstrates their ability to tune their physiological performance to the prevailing temperature conditions.

Geographic variation in temperature is often reflected by clines in the acute thermal tolerance of a focal species across its range (Fangue et al. 2006; Kuo and Sanford 2009; Zippay and Hofmann 2010; Kelly et al. 2012; Tepolt and Somero 2014; Pereira et al. 2017; Sasaki and Dam 2019). For example, populations of the intertidal copepod *Tigriopus californicus* exhibit increasing thermal tolerance with decreasing latitude across a gradient spanning British Columbia to Baja California (Pereira et al. 2017). Such patterns can arise through two general mechanisms. First, provided sufficient heritable variation and selective pressure, separate populations of a given species may evolve different thermophysiological phenotypes (Angilletta 2009). This type of local adaptation, while historically considered to be rare in the marine environment due to the assumption of widespread connectivity, has now been demonstrated in a variety of systems (reviewed in Sanford and Kelly, 2011). By contrast, individual organisms are also often capable of altering their phenotypes depending on environmental conditions. Phenotypic plasticity, the ability of an individual genotype to produce multiple phenotypes depending on its environment (West-Eberhard 2003), is pervasive in the ocean and is a key modality for coping with environmental variability (Somero 2010; Padilla and Savedo 2013; Foo and Byrne 2016). Phenotypic plasticity is itself subject to natural selection, leading to the expectation that populations experiencing more variable environments should exhibit greater acclimatory capacity (Bradshaw 1965; Levins 1968).

Investigating how thermal tolerance varies within a species both across space and through time can inform us about how local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity are operating in natural populations. However, most studies of intraspecific variation of thermal tolerance in marine invertebrates focus on either the spatial or temporal dimension, but not both (but see

Crickenberger et al., 2015; Morley et al., 2012). When the temporal scale of environmental temperature variation is less than the generation time of the focal species, temporal variation in thermal tolerance can generally be attributed to phenotypic plasticity. Spatial variation in thermal tolerance, however, can be shaped by both local adaptation and plasticity. By studying different populations both across space and through time, one can assess how thermal tolerance is shaped by both long-term temperature trends coincident with latitude (potentially *via* local adaptation) and short-term variation due to more rapid bouts of heating and cooling (*via* phenotypic plasticity). While definitively disentangling the relative contributions of local adaptation and plasticity to variation in a particular phenotype requires a reciprocal transplant or common garden approach, ideally across multiple generations, a comparison among wild individuals from populations along a latitudinal gradient can inform us of the *potential* for local adaptation. A spatiotemporal approach can also reveal how the capacity for phenotypic plasticity differs among populations, testing the prediction that populations experiencing more variable environments should exhibit greater acclimatization potential.

Temperature tolerance is often not fixed throughout the life of an individual, but rather can shift across ontogeny (Komoroske et al. 2014; Pincebourde and Casas 2015; Klockmann et al. 2017; Ruthsatz et al. 2022). In general, it is early life history stages of marine species that are most vulnerable to temperature stress (Collin et al., 2021; Pandori and Sorte, 2019; Pineda et al., 2012; but see Peck et al., 2013; Tangwancharoen and Burton, 2014). Given the biphasic life history of many marine organisms and the importance of larval dispersal, studying thermal tolerance at early stages in development is critical for assessing the sensitivity of marine species to climatic changes (Pankhurst and Munday 2011; Przeslawski et al. 2015; Pandori and Sorte 2019). Importantly, temperature tolerance of later life stages can be affected by the thermal environment experienced by individuals earlier in ontogeny. Developmental plasticity is a form of phenotypic plasticity and is a critical means of coping with variability in the thermal environment, especially for marine and aquatic organisms (Pottier et al. 2022). Studies that simultaneously investigate how local adaptation and developmental plasticity affect thermal tolerance in natural populations of marine animals are rare (but see Pereira et al., 2017; Sasaki and Dam, 2020, 2019) but important for assessing species' ability to cope with increasing
environmental stress. Here we use cross-population comparisons and natural temporal variability in environmental temperature to investigate the potential for local adaptation and developmental plasticity of thermal tolerance in post-larvae of the colonial tunicate *Botryllus schlosseri*.

Botryllus schlosseri (Pallas, 1776) is an invasive ascidian that has successfully colonized diverse habitats around the globe (invasions.si.edu/nemesis/species summary/159373). In the northwest Atlantic, where it is considered cryptogenic, B. schlosseri's range extends from Virginia, USA to Newfoundland, Canada. Botryllus schlosseri is thus subject to a wide gradient of temperatures across this range, exceeding 30 °C in the summer in the south and reaching subzero temperatures during the northern winters. Its persistence across this broad temperature gradient suggests the potential for local adaptation and/or phenotypic plasticity of thermal tolerance. Botryllus schlosseri larvae are incredibly short-lived, spending mere hours in the water column, which severely restricts their capacity for larval dispersal (Grosberg 1987). Instead, most long-distance dispersal is thought to be through relatively infrequent anthropogenic translocation events or rafting on natural substrates (Worcester 1994; Thiel and Gutow 2005; Lacoursière-Roussel et al. 2012). This results in limited gene flow and a high degree of genetic differentiation among populations (Grosberg 1987; Chapter 2), thus contributing to the high potential for local adaptation in this species. Furthermore, ascidians are known to be extremely fast-evolving at the molecular level, exhibiting high mutation rates (Vinson et al. 2005; Tsagkogeorga et al. 2010, 2012), which may further potentiate adaptive divergence of thermal tolerance among populations. In addition to its high potential for local adaptation, B. schlosseri exhibits a high degree of physiological flexibility. Prior studies have demonstrated pronounced plasticity for traits including growth and reproductive effort in response to changes in temperature (Rinkevich et al. 1998; Newlon et al. 2003). Botryllus schlosseri can also establish in extremely thermally variable environments, for example, at the mouths of large estuaries, where temperatures can fluctuate in excess of 10 °C over the six hours of a tidal period (pers. obs.). This suggests that individuals must be capable of tuning their physiology over short temporal scales. This, coupled with its high potential for adaptive divergence, make B. schlosseri an excellent system for testing predictions about the evolution

of phenotypic plasticity by comparing populations experiencing differing levels of short-term temperature variability.

In the present study, we conducted experiments across a latitudinal and temporal gradient in temperature to address three questions: 1) how does local adaptation potentially shape thermal tolerance across populations?, 2) how does short-term temperature history affect subsequent thermal tolerance through developmental plasticity?, and 3) how does the degree of developmental plasticity vary among populations, potentially through local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity?

# METHODS

#### <u>Sites</u>

Lethal tolerance of 50% survival (LT<sub>50</sub>) experiments were conducted during the summer of 2022 at five sites in the northeastern USA: Rutgers University Marine Field Station, Tuckerton, NJ (RUTG), Falmouth Harbor, Falmouth, MA (FALM), Sandwich Marina, Sandwich, MA (SAND), Chatham Fish Pier, Chatham, MA (CHAT), and Darling Marine Center, Walpole, ME (DARL) (Figure 3-1A, Table 3-1). For the three Massachusetts sites, all experiments were conducted at Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution. For RUTG and DARL, experiments were conducted over two weeks at the each field station.

#### Environmental temperature

Short-term environmental temperature data from all sites were collected with HOBO loggers while experiments were being run. Long-term field temperatures were obtained with HOBO loggers (for FALM and SAND) or from publicly available sources (for CHAT, DARL, RUTG) (see Supplementary Materials).

## Experimentation

The day prior to each experiment, 24 adult *B. schlosseri* colonies were collected by hand from the underside of floating docks and other substrates. Colonies were transported back to the laboratory and placed into individual  $3.5 \times 2 \times 2^{"}$  wells of polycarbonate compartment

boxes with ~200 ml of local seawater. Each well was fitted with five 3 x 2" extra-thick microscope slides (Fisherbrand, Pittsburgh, PA, USA) along the bottom and side walls. Colonies were left overnight at room temperature and allowed to release larvae. Like in all colonial ascidians, fertilization of ova in *B. schlosseri* occurs internally and embryos are brooded for roughly one week before being released as tadpole larvae. Thus, larvae used in this experiment experienced field temperatures throughout the majority of their development.

The following morning, each well was checked for larval release and settlement on the slides. To facilitate counting, oozooids (settled and metamorphosed larvae) were thinned to a maximum of 35 individuals per slide. Oozooids were then censused under a Stemi dissecting stereomicroscope (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) at 50x magnification and examined for a heartbeat and typical development. All those showing slowed (tail still present) or abnormal development were removed prior to the experiment.

The five slides from each clutch (offspring of a single clonal colony) were partitioned across five temperature treatments, consisting of set temperatures of 30.0, 30.6, 31.1, 31.7, and 32.2 °C. These temperatures were selected based on pilot experiments run in the summer of 2021 in Woods Hole, MA and were chosen to yield approximately 100% survival at the lower end, 100% mortality at the higher end, and intermediate survivorship in between. The heat exposures were performed in polycarbonate 4"-deep 1/3 pans (Cambro, Huntington Beach, CA, USA) equipped with programmable 25 W glass aquarium heaters (YOFOTHS, Shenzhen, Guangdong, China) and HOBO Pendant temperature loggers (Onset, Bourne, MA, USA). While temperatures were set using the programmable aquarium heaters, the temperatures used for downstream analysis were those recorded by the temperature loggers.

Heat exposures lasted for 20 hours, starting from the ambient temperature of local seawater with a ramp speed of approximately 4°C/hr, which approximates the maximum rate of temperature change at our most variable site of CHAT (Figure 3-1C). After exposure, survivorship was assessed through a second census. All individuals without a detectable heartbeat were considered dead.

LT<sub>50</sub> experiments were repeated through time across the summer at each site with the exception of CHAT. Because environmental temperature varied across the summer, even during

the course of the two-week-long field excursions at RUTG and DARL, we used temporal variation in environmental temperature as a proxy for developmental temperature (see 2.4. *Data analysis*), essentially providing pseudo-developmental temperature treatments. While our design does not directly manipulate developmental temperature, by investigating how heat tolerance varies across short-term changes in environmental temperature we are able to make inferences about how developmental plasticity is operating in natural populations.

#### Data analysis

All data analysis was performed in R v. 4.1.2 (R Core Team 2013). To investigate differences in thermal tolerance among sites, we first used the R package *drc* v. 3.0.1 (Ritz et al. 2015) to derive LT<sub>50</sub> estimates for each population. Two-parameter (slope and midpoint [i.e. LT<sub>50</sub>]) log-logistic curves were fit to the binomial survivorship data. To test for significance of population-level differences in LT<sub>50</sub>, a model with separately estimated LT<sub>50</sub> values for each population was compared to a jointly-estimated LT<sub>50</sub> model using a likelihood ratio test. Posthoc comparisons between population pairs were made using the same approach, using Bonferroni-corrected p-values to account for multiple comparisons.

## <u>Model</u>

While the package *drc* allows for a comparison of response curves among categorical variables (i.e. population), it does not contain an accessible functionality for investigating the effect of continuous variables (i.e. environmental temperature). In order to explore the effect of short-term temperature history on thermal tolerance through developmental plasticity, we created a separate statistical model, reparameterizing a conventional logistic regression model in terms of LT<sub>50</sub>.

We defined  $p_{jk}(x)$  as the survival probability at experimental temperature x of individuals collected at site j (j = 1, 2, ..., J) on day k ( $k = 1, 2, ..., n_j$ ). The analysis was performed under the general model:

$$p_{jk}(x) = \frac{e^{a_{jk} \cdot \left(1 - \frac{x}{g_{jk}}\right)}}{1 + e^{a_{jk} \cdot \left(1 - \frac{x}{g_{jk}}\right)}}$$
(1)

where  $g_{jk}$  is the LT<sub>50</sub> at site *j* for individuals collected on day *k*. Under this model, the parameters  $a_{jk}$  and  $g_{jk}$  represent the slope and LT<sub>50</sub>, respectively (Figure S3-1). This is analogous to the model used above in the R package *drc*. Indeed, both approaches yield near identical LT<sub>50</sub> values (Figure S3-2).

To assess the effect of environmental temperature on survival probability through developmental plasticity, we introduced a linear dependence of g (LT<sub>50</sub>) on environmental temperature:

$$g_{jk} = c_{0j} + c_{1j} \cdot T_{jk}$$
 (2)

such that  $g_{jk}$  is modulated by a constant  $c_{0j}$ , a plasticity parameter  $c_{1j}$ , and environmental temperature  $T_{jk}$ .  $c_1$  is referred to as the plasticity parameter, as it relates the environmental temperature experienced by oozooids as embryos during development to heat tolerance postsettlement. Greater values of  $c_1$  indicate greater levels of plasticity, with each increment in developmental temperature inducing a greater upward shift in thermal tolerance.  $c_0$  has a limited biological interpretation (i.e. basal thermal tolerance at a developmental temperature of 0°C) and is not a focus of our study. We defined  $T_{jk}$  as the mean temperature of the day prior to collection and chose this rather than an earlier day or longer time period because it would be less likely to impose biases in developmental stage among sites/collection days due to the temperature-dependence of development. Thus, the full model can be written as:

$$p_{jk}(x) = \frac{e^{a_{jk} \cdot \left(1 - \frac{x}{c_{0j} + c_{1j} \cdot T_{jk}}\right)}}{1 + e^{a_{jk} \cdot \left(1 - \frac{x}{c_{0j} + c_{1j} \cdot T_{jk}}\right)}}$$
(3)

We used a maximum likelihood approach to fit this model, estimating the parameters  $a_{jk}$ ,  $c_{0jk}$ , and  $c_{1jk}$  for each combination of site and collection day. Because clutches born from

adults collected on the same day experienced the same field temperatures, grouping by collection day provides the most granular perspective. We used the R package *bbmle* (Bolker 2022) to perform maximum likelihood estimation, using its core function *mle2* with default parameters, apart from using Nelder-Mead as the optimization algorithm (Nelder and Mead 1965).

Clutches from adults collected from CHAT and a small number of additional clutches were excluded from these analyses. Because CHAT is only represented by a single collection date, oozooids from this site all experienced the same field temperatures, precluding an analysis of how thermal tolerance is influenced by developmental temperature. Oozooids belonging to one clutch from an adult collected at RUTG on June 5<sup>th</sup> exhibited 100% survival across the experimental temperatures, precluding fitting a survivorship curve. Two clutches from adults collected at DARL on August 29<sup>th</sup> were also excluded, as there was only one experimental temperature of the five with intermediate survivorship (not 100% survival/mortality). This results in an inability to accurately estimate the *a* and *g* parameters. See Figures S3-3 and S3-4 for plots of raw data for these two collection dates. With these clutches excluded from the dataset, we used three separate tests to evaluate 1) the potential for local adaptation of thermal tolerance among sites, 2) whether short-term temperature history affects temperature tolerance through developmental plasticity, and 3) how the degree of developmental plasticity varies among sites. See Supplementary Materials and Figure 3-2 for detail on null models used for these tests.

## RESULTS

# Environmental temperature

While data was missing from SAND for 2022, sites mostly followed the expected latitudinal trend in environmental temperature, with more southern sites exhibiting higher mean daily temperatures over the course of the summer (Figure 3-1B). The exception to this pattern is RUTG showing lower daily mean temperature than expected, falling in between two more northern populations on Cape Cod, FALM and CHAT.

Sites also differed in their degree of short-term (tidal or diel) temperature variability (Figure 3-1C). Both CHAT and RUTG exhibit pronounced tidal fluctuations in temperature across the summer months, with mean daily ranges of 5.24 and 4.05 °C, respectively. DARL showed some tidal variation in temperature, though to a lesser extent (mean daily range of 1.84 °C). FALM exhibited the least short-term variability, fluctuating slightly over a diel period (mean daily range of 1.05 °C). SAND, while missing from the 2022 temperature data, showed pronounced tidal variability in the summer of 2021 (mean daily range of 3.42 °C), a pattern that is likely to hold across years (Figure S3-5).

# Thermal tolerance experiment

In total across the five sites, 3,728 oozooids from 93 clutches were included in 24 experiments across the summer (Table 3-1, Figure S3-6). Using the R package *drc*, the LT<sub>50</sub> estimates at each site ranged from 32.01 to 32.24 °C. A model including separate LT<sub>50</sub> estimates for each population explained the data significantly better than a model with a jointly estimated LT<sub>50</sub> value ( $\chi^2(4) = 77.30$ , p = 6.66 x 10<sup>-16</sup>), indicating a significant effect of site. Posthoc comparisons revealed that sites in the Gulf of Maine (DARL and SAND) exhibited significantly lower LT<sub>50</sub> values than sites further to the south (CHAT, FALM, and RUTG) (Figure 3-3, Table S3-1).

After removing clutches from CHAT and from adults collected on June 5<sup>th</sup> at RUTG and August 29<sup>th</sup> at DARL, 2,907 oozooids from 80 clutches across 21 collection days at four sites remained for investigating the effect of environmental temperature history on thermal tolerance using our statistical model. Plotting the estimated  $LT_{50}$  for each collection day against the mean environmental temperature the day prior to collection demonstrated a clear relationship between thermal tolerance and the temperature experienced during development (Figure 3-4). All sites exhibited some degree of developmental plasticity, with warmer field temperatures prior to collection resulting in higher  $LT_{50}$  values. However, the degree of developmental plasticity, represented by the  $c_1$  plasticity parameter in the model, varied by site (Figure 3-5). Sites that experienced more short-term temperature variability exhibited higher estimates for  $c_1$  (RUTG  $c_1 = 0.184$ ; SAND  $c_1 = 0.187$ ) and thus greater developmental plasticity

for thermal tolerance. FALM, the site with the least short-term temperature variability ( $c_1 = 0.070$ ), correspondingly exhibited the least developmental plasticity. DARL, with intermediate temperature variability, showed intermediate plasticity ( $c_1 = 0.142$ ), though this estimate is subject to great uncertainty due to small sample size and a small range of field temperatures during the experimental period. In addition to  $LT_{50}$  being sensitive to environmental temperatures, survivorship curves also became steeper with increasing developmental temperatures, as indicated by upward shifts in the *a* parameter (Figure 3-6).

A likelihood ratio test comparing our full model against a "no differentiation" null model (Figure 3-2, upper left) in which  $c_0$  and  $c_1$  are fixed across populations revealed a significant effect of site ( $\chi^2(6) = 227.43$ , p = 2.71 x 10<sup>-46</sup>), indicating that each population's thermal tolerances responded differently to environmental temperature. A second likelihood ratio test comparing our full model against a "no plasticity" null model (Figure 3-2, lower left) in which  $c_0$ is allowed to vary by population but  $c_1$  is fixed at zero revealed a significant effect of environmental temperature history on thermal tolerance ( $\chi^2(4) = 1,072.58$ , p = 3.33 x 10<sup>-231</sup>), indicating the presence of developmental plasticity. A third likelihood ratio test comparing our full model against a "no difference in plasticity" null model (Figure 3-2, upper right) in which  $c_0$ is allowed to vary by population but  $c_1$  is shared among sites revealed that sites significantly differ in their degree of developmental plasticity ( $\chi^2(3) = 373.24$ , p = 1.28 x 10<sup>-80</sup>).

It is possible that our experimental design allowed for some pre-selection of embryos to occur. If elevated environmental temperatures were lethal to some heat-sensitive embryos during development, this would have biased our study to include more heat-tolerant individuals. Thus, it is conceivable that the observed pattern of higher thermal tolerance in response to greater environmental temperatures could be a result of environmentally imposed selection prior to experimentation. However, we find this unlikely, as we typically observed 100% survivorship at our lowest experimental temperature (~30.5 °C), which was significantly warmer than field temperatures.

## DISCUSSION

How local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity contribute to species' ability to cope with spatiotemporal variation in temperature has broad implications for persistence in a rapidly changing environment (Somero 2010; Hoffmann and Sgró 2011; Gunderson and Stillman 2015; Seebacher et al. 2015; Donelson et al. 2019). Here, we demonstrate that post-larvae (oozooids) of the invasive tunicate *Botryllus schlosseri* exhibit differentiation of thermal tolerance among populations and possess pronounced developmental plasticity. We also show that populations vary in their degrees of developmental plasticity and that this trend coincides with the extent of short-term environmental temperature variability, with populations in more variable environments exhibiting greater developmental plasticity. This observation demonstrates the potential for local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity in this system.

Species persistence in new or changing environments relies in large part upon an ability to shift ecologically relevant phenotypes through local adaptation, phenotypic plasticity, or both (Somero 2010). However, how local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity interact to promote adaptive responses to novel conditions remains poorly understood (Ghalambor et al. 2007). Given the importance of thermal tolerance in shaping the biogeographic distributions of species (Sunday et al. 2012), our study highlights the importance of understanding the potential contributions of thermal adaptation and plasticity in the context of species invasions and global change.

#### Spatial variation of thermal tolerance

We found that populations differed in their thermal tolerance, and that these differences were broadly consistent with latitude. Populations south of the Gulf of Maine (CHAT, FALM, and RUTG) possessed higher LT<sub>50</sub> values than those within it (SAND and DARL), matching prevailing environmental temperatures: the Gulf of Maine, bounded by Cape Cod and Nova Scotia, harbors cooler waters than those further south (Figure 3-1). That we observe differentiation in thermal tolerance across this break, with populations clustering according to their latitudinal position relative to Cape Cod, may suggest local adaptation to temperature among populations of *B. schlosseri*. By comparing the results in Figure 3-4 to the null models in

Figure 3-2, we can observe vertical differentiation of reaction norms, further bolstering support for local adaptation. However, because individuals were taken from the wild and not lab-reared in a common garden, we cannot rule out an effect of environment. Indeed, our temporal data demonstrate a high degree of phenotypic plasticity for this trait (see below). Thus, the differences in the environmental temperatures at the times of collection at each site have likely also contributed to the differences we observe in temperature tolerance among populations.

There has been somewhat limited investigation of the thermal tolerance of *B. schlosseri*, with most studies focusing on a single population and time of year (Brunetti et al. 1980; Epelbaum et al. 2009). Sorte et al. (2011) found that adult colonies of *B. schlosseri* from Massachusetts had greater heat tolerance than those from California, consistent with higher summer temperatures in the northwest Atlantic. Interestingly, for both of their populations, adult LT<sub>50</sub> values were lower than those reported here (Sorte et al. 2011). This suggests that adults may be more sensitive to heat than oozooids, which is contrary to expectations (Pandori and Sorte 2019). However, methodological differences, such as the length of heat exposure, which was slightly shorter in our study (20 vs. 24 hours), could also contribute to the observed differences.

While the geographic differentiation of thermal tolerance could be an effect of the environment, *B. schlosseri* and ascidians more generally possess several characteristics that promote local adaptation. First, tunicates are considered to have extremely high rates of molecular evolution (Vinson et al. 2005; Denoeud et al. 2010; Tsagkogeorga et al. 2010, 2012; Berna and Alvarez-Valin 2014). Second, ascidian populations tend to harbor remarkable levels of genetic diversity, even in putatively bottlenecked invasive populations (Rius et al. 2008; Reem et al. 2013; Zhan et al. 2015). Such standing genetic diversity can serve as a pool of adaptive variation upon which natural selection can act to drive local adaptation (Barrett and Schluter 2008). Third, ascidians tend to exhibit extremely restricted larval dispersal, with *B. schlosseri* larvae typically only settling on the scale of a few meters from their parent colony (Grosberg 1987). This can result in markedly high levels of genetic differentiation across small spatial scales (Grosberg 1987; Yund and O'Neil 2000), contributing to the high potential for evolutionary divergence of thermal tolerance in *B. schlosseri*.

Despite historical assumptions of the limited potential for local adaptation in marine systems, many recent studies have demonstrated local adaptation in marine organisms (DuBois et al., 2022; Kuo and Sanford, 2009; Pereira et al., 2017; reviewed in Sanford and Kelly, 2011). For example, in a multigenerational common garden experiment using the intertidal snail Nucella canaliculata, Kuo and Sanford (2009) demonstrated evolutionary divergence of upper thermal limits among populations. Beyond this single example, recent work has shown that the evolutionary differentiation of thermal limits is more pervasive in the marine environment than on land (Sasaki et al. 2022). Marine organisms, especially those that are sessile, generally have more limited capacity for behavioral thermoregulation and more restricted access to thermal refugia than terrestrial species (Sunday et al. 2015; Pinsky et al. 2019; Antão et al. 2020). This likely renders them more susceptible to natural selection, driving local adaptation of thermal physiology (Sasaki et al. 2022). This greater potential for thermal adaptation in the ocean has implications for marine species persistence under a changing climate. Evolutionary differences in thermal physiology among populations can confound predictions of distributional shifts under future climate scenarios, and render highly locally adapted species more susceptible to climatic changes (Bennett et al. 2019). Conversely, local adaptation to heterogeneous environments can promote persistence by preserving adaptive variation that can be redistributed via natural dispersal or programs of assisted gene flow (Garant et al. 2007; Aitken and Whitlock 2013). Clearly, the consequences of local adaptation in the ocean for species persistence are complex and rely heavily on the potential for species to adapt on contemporary time scales.

## Developmental plasticity of thermal tolerance

In addition to differences among sites, we found that the mean temperature of the day prior to collection had a strong effect on the measured thermal tolerance of *B. schlosseri* oozooids (Figure 3-4). This demonstrates a clear effect of environment on thermal tolerance and suggests the presence of developmental plasticity in this system. Developmental plasticity may thus be a key mechanism by which *B. schlosseri* oozooids cope with temperature stress.

Developmental plasticity of thermal tolerance has been demonstrated in a wide variety of taxa and is especially pervasive in marine and aquatic organisms (Pottier et al. 2022). In a recent meta-analysis, Pottier et al. (2022) synthesized the findings of 150 experimental studies investigating developmental plasticity of thermal tolerance. Using acclimation response ratios (ARRs), or the change in thermal tolerance for a 1°C increase in developmental temperature, they found that marine and aquatic animals tend to be much more plastic than terrestrial animals (mean ARR of 0.209 vs. 0.051). Our estimates of c<sub>1</sub>, which is analogous to ARR, were 0.184 and 0.187 for RUTG and SAND, respectively, slightly lower but comparable to the mean ARR for marine and aquatic organisms found by Pottier et al. (2022). Given the pervasiveness of developmental plasticity of temperature tolerance in the marine realm, it is not altogether surprising that we observe this in *B. schlosseri*. However, our study represents an important first step in understanding this phenomenon in ascidians.

To our knowledge, our study comprises the first investigation of developmental plasticity of tolerance to any abiotic stressor, including temperature, in an ascidian. However, previous studies have investigated other types of phenotypic plasticity in ascidians (Chadwick-Furman and Weissman 1995; Newlon et al. 2003; Renborg et al. 2014). For example, Renborg et al. (2014) demonstrated that sensitivity to salinity in embryos of *Ciona intestinalis* depended on the salinity of the parental environment prior to embryogenesis, establishing transgenerational plasticity of salinity tolerance. Given the long-standing consideration of the role for phenotypic plasticity in species invasions (see below) and the remarkable success of ascidians as an invasive taxon (Zhan et al. 2015), further study of phenotypic plasticity in ascidians is warranted.

Phenotypic plasticity has long been thought to play a major role in the success of invasive species (Baker 1965; Richards et al. 2006; Davidson et al. 2011). Generalist species with broad ecological tolerances and pronounced phenotypic plasticity have been assumed to be ideal invaders (Daehler 2003; Higgins and Richardson 2014). This extends to thermophysiological phenotypes. For example, the widespread invasive European green crab, *Carcinus maenas*, has extreme thermal breadth, with limits far surpassing those of co-occurring native species (Tepolt and Somero 2014). Additionally, it exhibits pronounced thermal phenotypic plasticity, shifting its upper and lower limits substantially in response to short-term

acclimation. While its invasive status in unclear in the northwest Atlantic, *B. schlosseri* is an invasive species elsewhere and has established in waters spanning a vast thermal gradient. Its persistence across this broad gradient suggests a pronounced ability to cope with spatially variable environmental temperatures, whether through local adaptation, phenotypic plasticity, or both. Given our observations, it is likely that developmental plasticity has played some role in its ability to thrive across diverse habitats. Further study is warranted to investigate how other types of phenotypic plasticity, for example, acclimatization in adults or transgenerational plasticity, may also shape the thermal tolerance of this species.

While we ascribe temporal variation in thermal tolerance to phenotypic plasticity, it is worth noting that there may be a hereditary component as well. Fluctuating selection by environmental temperature may result in shifts in the genotypic composition of *B. schlosseri* populations, with more heat-sensitive genotypes produced earlier in the summer and more heat-tolerant genotypes later in the summer. While this may contribute to the patterns described at sites sampled over many months (e.g. FALM), because in some cases we are describing variation across limited duration (e.g. less than two weeks at RUTG), we consider it more likely that phenotypic plasticity plays a dominant role.

#### Potential for local adaptation of developmental plasticity

Theory predicts that populations in more variable environments should evolve greater phenotypic plasticity (Bradshaw 1965; Levins 1968; Schlichting 1986). While evidence for this prediction for thermal tolerance is equivocal (see meta-analysis by Barley et al., 2021), we found that sites experiencing more short-term temperature variability harbored populations with greater degrees of developmental plasticity, consistent with local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity. Again, because the individuals used in these experiments were born from wild-collected adults, it is impossible to disentangle the effects of environment from heredity with our data. Nonetheless, given the high potential for local adaptation in this system (see above), it is likely that it plays some role in generating the patterns observed here.

Despite predictions for the evolution of phenotypic plasticity in variable environments, there are surprisingly few studies demonstrating local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity

(Hendry 2016). Many, like ours, relate differentiation in phenotypic plasticity to the degree of environmental heterogeneity experienced by populations (De Meester 1996; Gianoli and González-Teuber 2005; Richter-Boix et al. 2015; Phillips et al. 2016; Reger et al. 2018; Diaz et al. 2021). Others use experimental evolution approaches, comparing lineages reared in constant conditions to those reared in a variable environment (Reboud and Bell 1997; Leggett et al. 2013; Condon et al. 2014). While not definitive, our results add to a growing body of literature demonstrating the potential for local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity in natural populations.

Notably, plasticity in one life stage can affect plasticity at later life stages (Beaman et al. 2016). For example, Healy et al. (2019) demonstrated that developmental temperature can affect acclimatory capacity at later life stages in the intertidal copepod *Tigriopus californicus*. Similarly, this cascading effect can also apply across generations through transgenerational plasticity (Donelson et al. 2018). If the adult *B. schlosseri* colonies from which larvae were collected experienced a warmer or more variable thermal environment during their lifetime, it may be advantageous for their larvae to exhibit developmental plasticity for temperature tolerance, generating a pattern like that which we found in our study. Reaction norm shape in offspring has been shown to depend in part on parental environment (Salinas et al. 2013; Donelson et al. 2016; Stein et al. 2018; Wadgymar et al. 2018; Cavieres et al. 2019; Sturiale and Bailey 2021). Despite these examples, the relationship between transgenerational plasticity and within-generation plasticity remains understudied (Donelson et al. 2018; Donelan et al. 2020), but interactions between the two could play some role in our observation of increased developmental plasticity at sites with more short-term temperature variability. Manipulative multi-generational experiments would have to be performed to test this potential in more detail.

## Steepening of survivorship curves and the limits of thermal tolerance

While the main metric of interest in our study was  $LT_{50}$ , we have also shown that the steepness of the survivorship curves, as contained within the *a* parameter in our model, increases with greater developmental temperature (Figure 3-6). This steepening effect suggests that 1) development at elevated temperatures reduces inter-individual variation in thermal

tolerance and 2) there may be relatively hard upper limits for thermal tolerance in this system. There is undoubtedly variation for thermal tolerance within populations of *B. schlosseri*: some oozooids survive at a particular experimental temperature while others die. It is apparent from this steepening observation that the capacity for developmental plasticity is not equal across individuals. Higher developmental temperatures seem to allow those oozooids with lower basal thermal tolerance to shift their probability of survival upwards, while those with higher basal thermal tolerance are more constrained, leading to a steepening of the survivorship curve. This observation is consistent with studies that demonstrate a negative relationship between basal thermal tolerance and thermal tolerance plasticity (Faulkner et al., 2014; Kelly et al., 2017; Morgan et al., 2020; Phillips et al., 2016; Sasaki and Dam, 2021, 2019; Stillman, 2003; but see Calosi et al., 2008), which may be indicative of a trade-off (van Heerwaarden and Kellermann 2020; Barley et al. 2021).

Constraints on the plasticity and evolution of upper thermal limits appear to be common across taxa, while lower limits appear to be more labile (Gaston and Chown 1999; Munoz et al. 2014; Phillips et al. 2016; van Heerwaarden et al. 2016). For example, in the tsetse fly, *Glossina pallidipes*, acclimation temperature had a pronounced effect on tolerance to cold temperatures, but upper thermal limits were less flexible (Terblanche and Chown 2006). The meta-analysis by Pottier et al. (2022) found that while marine and aquatic organisms exhibit greater levels of developmental plasticity for heat tolerance, this shift is unlikely to perfectly compensate for anticipated levels of warming (Gunderson and Stillman 2015). On an evolutionary scale, there may be strong phylogenetic constraints on upper thermal limit evolution (Kellermann et al. 2012). Several meta-analyses have demonstrated that while lower thermal limits vary with latitude, as would be expected through directional selection on temperature tolerance, upper thermal limits appear to be rather inflexible, again pointing towards the potential importance of evolutionary constraints on upper thermal limits (Araújo et al. 2013; Hoffmann et al. 2013; Sunday et al. 2019).

While we are not aware of studies that explicitly discuss this pattern of survivorship curve steepening, several have demonstrated this effect as a component of plasticity and/or adaptation of heat tolerance (Pereira et al. 2017; Sasaki and Dam 2019, 2021; Rebolledo et al.

2021). For example, Sasaki and Dam (2019) compared thermal tolerance and its plasticity across populations of the coastal and estuarine copepod *Acartia tonsa*. At increased developmental temperatures, not only did LT<sub>50</sub> increase, but so did the steepness of the survivorship curves (p. 4153, Figure 2). Correspondingly, they showed that thermal limits (as reflected in LT<sub>10</sub>, or the temperature inducing 10% survival) were less labile than LT<sub>50</sub> (their Figure S2); if limits shift less than midpoints in response to higher developmental temperatures, curves necessarily become steeper. This pattern was also observed in a related study investigating adaptation of thermal tolerance in *A. tonsa* via experimental evolution (Sasaki and Dam 2021), suggesting that both plasticity and evolutionary adaptation can have this effect. While it seems there has been minimal attention on this phenomenon on survivorship curve steepening, these examples indicate that it may be widespread. Given its potential implications for the evolution and plasticity of upper thermal limits, further investigation is warranted.

# CONCLUSION

We have shown that temperature tolerance in *B. schlosseri* oozooids varies by population across a latitudinal gradient, that tolerance is influenced environmental temperature through developmental plasticity, and that the degree of developmental plasticity varies according to the level of short-term temperature variability at each site. Together, these results demonstrate how local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity may underly spatiotemporal variation of temperature tolerance in this system. Importantly, our findings suggest the potential for local adaptation of developmental plasticity, with populations inhabiting more thermally variable sites exhibiting greater levels of plasticity. While further investigation using a multigenerational approach would be necessary to fully disentangle the relative contributions of heritable versus environmental effects, by taking advantage of natural spatiotemporal variability in temperature, our study documents important patterns of temperature tolerance that could have implications for species invasions and population persistence in an era of global change.

Organisms in all habitats are under increasing threat of climatic changes, but it is marine ectotherms that are considered most at risk with an increase in global temperatures (Pinsky et

al. 2019). Many marine species are living near their upper thermal limits (Pinsky et al. 2019), and the rate of warming may exceed the ability of evolution and/or phenotypic plasticity to buffer species against its effects (Gunderson and Stillman 2015; Bennett et al. 2021). Despite some ability to shift thermal tolerance upward in response to elevated temperatures, the steepening of survivorship curves observed here and in other studies suggests that there may be strong constraints on the plasticity and evolution of upper thermal limits in the ocean. In the absence of widespread adjustments to thermal niches, we may expect to see increasing rates of marine extirpation and range shifts (Sunday et al. 2012; Donelson et al. 2019). Indeed, it has been demonstrated that distributional shifts in the ocean track climate velocities more closely than on land (Lenoir et al. 2020). Understanding the interplay between evolutionary adaptation, phenotypic plasticity, and range shifts in response to climate warming is key to making predictions about species persistence in the modern ocean (Donelson et al. 2019).

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by a Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution Ocean Ventures Fund award to Z. Tobias, an American Philosophical Society Lewis and Clark Fund for Exploration and Field Research grant to Z. Tobias, and a National Defense Science and Engineering Graduate Fellowship awarded to Z. Tobias. We would like to thank all staff at the Rutgers University Marine Field Station and Darling Marine Center, in particular Roland Hagan and Tim Miller, for accommodating our research. We also thank Ann Tarrant for providing helpful comments on an earlier version of this manuscript.

## TABLES

Site	Code	Lat	Lon	Oozooids	Clutches	LT <sub>50</sub> (°C)	Lower	Upper
Tuckerton, NJ	RUTG	39.509	-74.325	900	24	32.21	32.15	32.28
Falmouth, MA	FALM	41.548	-70.603	769	18	32.21	32.15	32.27
Chatham, MA	CHAT	41.689	-69.951	731	10	32.24	32.17	32.32

**Table 3-1.** Collection site information, with  $LT_{50}$  and the lower and upper bounds of 95% confidence intervals.

Sandwich, MA	SAND	41.772	-70.503	1003	22	32.01	31.95	32.06
Walpole, ME	DARL	43.935	-69.581	325	19	32.06	32.00	32.12

# FIGURES



**Figure 3-1.** Sites differ in mean summer temperature trends and the extent of daily variability. (A) Map of sites. (B) Mean daily environmental temperatures at study sites during the late spring, summer, and early fall of 2022. (C) Environmental temperature data during a five-day period from July 17-22, 2022. Note the differences in temperature variability among sites. Temperature data for SAND is missing due to temperature logger failure.



**Figure 3-2.** Schematic of null and general statistical models. Here the lines represent the response of thermal tolerance ( $LT_{50}$ ) to environmental temperature, with color indicating population. Upper left represents the null hypothesis that there is no differentiation among populations (i.e. single, global estimates of  $c_0$  and  $c_1$ ), and is depicted by three identical, overlapping lines. Lower left represents the null hypothesis that there is no phenotypic plasticity for thermal tolerance (i.e. population-specific estimates of  $c_0$ ,  $c_1$  globally fixed at 0). Upper right represents the null hypothesis that there is no difference among populations in their degree of phenotypic plasticity (i.e. population-specific estimates of  $c_0$ , a single, global estimate of  $c_1$ ). The lower right depicts the general model, which allows each population to vary with respect to model parameters (population-specific estimates of  $c_0$  and  $c_1$ ). See Supplemental Materials for additional information on null model design.



**Figure 3-3.** Sites differ in thermal tolerance. Survivorship curves are displayed for each population, aggregated across all collection days. Curves derived by logistic regression. Shaded areas represent standard error.



**Figure 3-4.** Developmental plasticity results in upward shifts in thermal tolerance in response to higher environmental temperatures. LT<sub>50</sub> is plotted against mean temperature of day prior to collection. Points represent the LT<sub>50</sub> estimate across all clutches born on a particular day. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. For each population except CHAT, dashed lines represent the response of LT<sub>50</sub> to environmental temperature, as given by  $g = c_{0jk} + c_{1jk} * T_{jk}$ , where *j* represents population, *k* represents collection day, and  $T_{jk}$  represents environmental temperature at site *j* on day *k* (see 2. Materials and Methods).



**Figure 3-5.** The degree of developmental plasticity varies across sites according to degree of temperature variability. Estimates for  $c_1$  parameter (plasticity) plotted as a function of mean daily range of summer temperatures at each site. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.



**Figure 3-6.** Survivorship curves become steeper with increasing environmental temperature, as represented by upward shifts in the *a* parameter, which encapsulates curve steepness. (A) Survivorship curves for the three days of collection at SAND. As the summer progresses and temperatures rise, the curves steepen. Symbols (triangle, diamond, and square) denote each day of collection and are repeated in panel B. (B) Estimates for *a* increase with increasing environmental temperatures. Line represents linear regression of *a* against environmental temperature. Different axis scales have been used for each panel to highlight relationships within each site.

# REFERENCES

- Aitken SN, Whitlock MC (2013) Assisted gene flow to facilitate local adaptation to climate change. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 44:367–388. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110512-135747
- Angilletta M (2009) Thermal Adaptation: A Theoretical and Empirical Synthesis. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Antão LH, Bates AE, Blowes SA, et al (2020) Temperature-related biodiversity change across temperate marine and terrestrial systems. Nat Ecol Evol 4:927–933. doi: 10.1038/s41559-020-1185-7
- Araújo MB, Ferri-Yáñez F, Bozinovic F, et al (2013) Heat freezes niche evolution. Ecol Lett 16:1206–1219. doi: 10.1111/ele.12155
- Baker HG (1965) Characteristics and modes of origin of weeds. In: Stebbins GL, Baker HG (eds) The Genetics of Colonizing Species. Academic Press, New York, pp 147–172
- Barley JM, Cheng BS, Sasaki M, et al (2021) Limited plasticity in thermally tolerant ectotherm

populations: Evidence for a trade-off. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 288:. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2021.0765

- Barrett RDH, Schluter D (2008) Adaptation from standing genetic variation. Trends Ecol Evol 23:38–44. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.09.008
- Beaman JE, White CR, Seebacher F (2016) Evolution of plasticity: mechanistic link between development and reversible acclimation. Trends Ecol Evol 31:237–249
- Bennett JM, Sunday J, Calosi P, et al (2021) The evolution of critical thermal limits of life on Earth. Nat Commun 12:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21263-8
- Bennett S, Duarte CM, Marbà N, Wernberg T (2019) Integrating within-species variation in thermal physiology into climate change ecology. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 374:. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0550
- Berna L, Alvarez-Valin F (2014) Evolutionary genomics of fast evolving tunicates. Genome Biol Evol 6:1724–1738
- Bolker B (2022) bbmle: Tools for General Maximum Likelihood Estimation. R Packag. version 1.0.25
- Bradshaw AD (1965) Evolutionary significance of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Adv Genet 13:115–155
- Brunetti R, Beghi L, Bressan M, Marin M (1980) Combined effects of temperature and salinity on colonies of *Botryllus schlosseri* and *Botrylloides leachi* (Ascidiacea) from the Venetian Lagoon. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 2:303–314. doi: 10.3354/meps002303
- Calosi P, Bilton DT, Spicer JI (2008) Thermal tolerance, acclimatory capacity and vulnerability to global climate change. Biol Lett 4:99–102. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2007.0408
- Cavieres G, Alruiz JM, Medina NR, et al (2019) Transgenerational and within-generation plasticity shape thermal performance curves. Ecol Evol 9:2072–2082
- Chadwick-Furman NE, Weissman IL (1995) Life history plasticity in chimaeras of the colonial ascidian Botryllus schlosseri. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 262:157–162. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1995.0190
- Chown SL, Hoffmann AA, Kristensen TN, et al (2010) Adapting to climate change: A perspective from evolutionary physiology. Clim Res 43:3–15. doi: 10.3354/cr00879
- Collin R, Rebolledo AP, Smith E, Chan KYK (2021) Thermal tolerance of early development predicts the realized thermal niche in marine ectotherms. Funct Ecol 35:1679–1692. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.13850
- Condon C, Cooper BS, Yeaman S, Angilletta Jr MJ (2014) Temporal variation favors the evolution of generalists in experimental populations of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Evolution 68:720–728
- Crickenberger S, Walther K, Marchant S, et al (2015) Population-dependent acclimatization capacity of thermal tolerance in larvae of the rocky- shore barnacle *Pollicipes elegans*. Invertebr Biol 134:291–302
- Daehler CC (2003) Performance comparisons of co-occurring native and alien invasive plants: implications for conservation and restoration. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 34:183–211
- Davidson AM, Jennions M, Nicotra AB (2011) Do invasive species show higher phenotypic plasticity than native species and, if so, is it adaptive? A meta-analysis. Ecol Lett 14:419–431. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01596.x
- De Meester L (1996) Evolutionary potential and local genetic differentiation in a phenotypically

plastic trait of a cyclical parthenogen, Daphnia magna. Evolution 50:1293–1298

- Denoeud F, Henriet S, Mungpakdee S, et al (2010) Plasticity of animal genome architecture unmasked by rapid evolution of a pelagic tunicate. Science 330:1381–1385
- Deser C, Alexander MA, Xie S-P, Phillips AS (2010) Sea surface temperature variability: Patterns and mechanisms. Ann Rev Mar Sci 2:115–143
- Diaz F, Kuijper B, Hoyle RB, et al (2021) Environmental predictability drives adaptive within-and transgenerational plasticity of heat tolerance across life stages and climatic regions. Funct Ecol 35:153–166
- Donelan SC, Hellmann JK, Bell AM, et al (2020) Transgenerational Plasticity in Human-Altered Environments. Trends Ecol Evol 35:115–124. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2019.09.003
- Donelson JM, Salinas S, Munday PL, Shama LNS (2018) Transgenerational plasticity and climate change experiments: Where do we go from here? Glob Chang Biol 24:13–34. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13903
- Donelson JM, Sunday JM, Figueira WF, et al (2019) Understanding interactions between plasticity, adaptation and range shifts in response to marine environmental change. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 374:. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0186
- Donelson JM, Wong M, Booth DJ, Munday PL (2016) Transgenerational plasticity of reproduction depends on rate of warming across generations. Evol Appl 9:1072–1081
- DuBois K, Pollard KN, Kauffman BJ, et al (2022) Local adaptation in a marine foundation species: Implications for resilience to future global change. Glob Chang Biol 28:2596–2610
- Epelbaum A, Herborg LM, Therriault TW, Pearce CM (2009) Temperature and salinity effects on growth, survival, reproduction, and potential distribution of two non-indigenous botryllid ascidians in British Columbia. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 369:43–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2008.10.028
- Fangue NA, Hofmeister M, Schulte PM (2006) Intraspecific variation in thermal tolerance and heat shock protein gene expression in common killifish, *Fundulus heteroclitus*. J Exp Biol 209:2859–2872
- Faulkner KT, Clusella-Trullas S, Peck LS, Chown SL (2014) Lack of coherence in the warming responses of marine crustaceans. Funct Ecol 28:895–903. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12219
- Foo SA, Byrne M (2016) Acclimatization and adaptive capacity of marine species in a changing ocean, 1st edn. Elsevier Ltd.
- Garant D, Forde SE, Hendry AP (2007) The multifarious effects of dispersal and gene flow on contemporary adaptation. Funct Ecol 434–443
- Gaston KJ, Chown SL (1999) Elevation and climatic tolerance: a test using dung beetles. Oikos 584–590
- Ghalambor CK, McKay JK, Carroll SP, Reznick DN (2007) Adaptive versus non-adaptive phenotypic plasticity and the potential for contemporary adaptation in new environments. Funct Ecol 21:394–407. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01283.x
- Gianoli E, González-Teuber M (2005) Environmental heterogeneity and population differentiation in plasticity to drought in *Convolvulus chilensis* (Convolvulaceae). Evol Ecol 19:603–613
- Grosberg RK (1987) Limited dispersal and proximity-dependent mating success in the colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. Evolution 41:372–384. doi: 10.2307/2409145
- Gunderson AR, Stillman JH (2015) Plasticity in thermal tolerance has limited potential to buffer

ectotherms from global warming. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 282:. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2015.0401 Healy TM, Bock AK, Burton RS (2019) Variation in developmental temperature alters adulthood

- plasticity of thermal tolerance in *Tigriopus californicus*. J Exp Biol 222:. doi: 10.1242/jeb.213405
- Hendry AP (2016) Key questions on the role of phenotypic plasticity in eco-evolutionary dynamics. J Hered 107:25–41
- Higgins SI, Richardson DM (2014) Invasive plants have broader physiological niches. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:10610–10614. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1406075111
- Hochachka PW, Somero GN (2002) Biochemical Adaptation: Mechanism and Process in Physiological Evolution. Oxford University Press
- Hoffmann AA, Chown SL, Clusella-Trullas S (2013) Upper thermal limits in terrestrial ectotherms: How constrained are they? Funct Ecol 27:934–949. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2012.02036.x
- Hoffmann AA, Sgró CM (2011) Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. Nature 470:479–485. doi: 10.1038/nature09670
- Hofmann G, Somero G (1995) Evidence for protein damage at environmental temperatures: seasonal changes in levels of ubiquitin conjugates and hsp70 in the intertidal mussel Mytilus trossulus. J Exp Biol 198:1509–1518. doi: 10.1242/jeb.198.7.1509
- Kellermann V, Overgaard J, Hoffmann AA, et al (2012) Upper thermal limits of *Drosophila* are linked to species distributions and strongly constrained phylogenetically. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:16228–16233. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1207553109
- Kelly MW, Pankey MS, DeBiasse MB, Plachetzki DC (2017) Adaptation to heat stress reduces phenotypic and transcriptional plasticity in a marine copepod. Funct Ecol 31:398–406. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12725
- Kelly MW, Sanford E, Grosberg RK (2012) Limited potential for adaptation to climate change in a broadly distributed marine crustacean. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 279:349–356. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.0542
- Klockmann M, Günter F, Fischer K (2017) Heat resistance throughout ontogeny: body size constrains thermal tolerance. Glob Chang Biol 23:686–696. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13407
- Komoroske LM, Connon RE, Lindberg J, et al (2014) Ontogeny influences sensitivity to climate change stressors in an endangered fish. Conserv Physiol 2:1–13. doi: 10.1093/conphys/cou008
- Kuo ESL, Sanford E (2009) Geographic variation in the upper thermal limits of an intertidal snail: implications for climate envelope models. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 388:137–146. doi: 10.3354/meps08102
- Lacoursière-Roussel A, Bock DG, Cristescu ME, et al (2012) Disentangling invasion processes in a dynamic shipping-boating network. Mol Ecol 21:4227–4241. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05702.x
- Leggett HC, Benmayor R, Hodgson DJ, Buckling A (2013) Experimental evolution of adaptive phenotypic plasticity in a parasite. Curr Biol 23:139–142
- Lenoir J, Bertrand R, Comte L, et al (2020) Species better track climate warming in the oceans than on land. Nat Ecol Evol 4:1044–1059. doi: 10.1038/s41559-020-1198-2
- Levins R (1968) Evolution in Changing Environments: Some Theoretical Explorations. Princeton University Press

- Morgan R, Finnøen MH, Jensen H, et al (2020) Low potential for evolutionary rescue from climate change in a tropical fish. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117:33365–33372. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.2011419117
- Morley SA, Martin SM, Bates AE, et al (2012) Spatial and temporal variation in the heat tolerance limits of two abundant Southern Ocean invertebrates. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 450:81–92. doi: 10.3354/meps09577
- Munoz MM, Stimola MA, Algar AC, et al (2014) Evolutionary stasis and lability in thermal physiology in a group of tropical lizards. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 281:20132433
- Nelder JA, Mead R (1965) A simplex method for function minimization. Comput J 7:308–313
- Newlon AW, Yund PO, Stewart-Savage J (2003) Phenotypic Plasticity of Reproductive Effort in a Colonial Ascidian, Botryllus schlosseri. J Exp Zool Part A Comp Exp Biol 297:180–188. doi: 10.1002/jez.a.10244
- Padilla DK, Savedo MM (2013) A systematic review of phenotypic plasticity in marine invertebrate and plant systems. Adv Mar Biol 65:67–94. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-410498-3.00002-1
- Pandori LLM, Sorte CJB (2019) The weakest link: sensitivity to climate extremes across life stages of marine invertebrates. Oikos 128:621–629. doi: 10.1111/oik.05886
- Pankhurst NW, Munday PL (2011) Effects of climate change on fish reproduction and early life history stages. Mar Freshw Res 62:1015–1026
- Peck LS, Souster T, Clark MS (2013) Juveniles Are More Resistant to Warming than Adults in 4 Species of Antarctic Marine Invertebrates. PLoS One 8:. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066033
- Pereira RJ, Sasaki MC, Burton RS (2017) Adaptation to a latitudinal thermal gradient within a widespread copepod species: The contributions of genetic divergence and phenotypic plasticity. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 284:. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.0236
- Phillips BL, Muñoz MM, Hatcher A, et al (2016) Heat hardening in a tropical lizard: geographic variation explained by the predictability and variance in environmental temperatures. Funct Ecol 30:1161–1168. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12609
- Pincebourde S, Casas J (2015) Warming tolerance across insect ontogeny: Influence of joint shifts in microclimates and thermal limits. Ecology 96:986–997. doi: 10.1890/14-0744.1
- Pineda MC, McQuaid CD, Turon X, et al (2012) Tough Adults, Frail Babies: An Analysis of Stress Sensitivity across Early Life-History Stages of Widely Introduced Marine Invertebrates. PLoS One 7:. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046672
- Pinsky ML, Eikeset AM, McCauley DJ, et al (2019) Greater vulnerability to warming of marine versus terrestrial ectotherms. Nature 569:108–111. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1132-4
- Pottier P, Burke S, Zhang RY, et al (2022) Developmental plasticity in thermal tolerance: Ontogenetic variation, persistence, and future directions. Ecol Lett 25:2245–2268. doi: 10.1111/ele.14083
- Przeslawski R, Byrne M, Mellin C (2015) A review and meta-analysis of the effects of multiple abiotic stressors on marine embryos and larvae. Glob Chang Biol 21:2122–2140
- R Core Team (2013) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing

 Rebolledo AP, Sgrò CM, Monro K (2021) Thermal performance curves are shaped by prior thermal environment in early life. Front Physiol 12:. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.738338
 Reboud X, Bell G (1997) Experimental evolution in *Chlamydomonas*. III. Evolution of specialist and generalist types in environments that vary in space and time. Heredity 78:507–514

- Reem E, Douek J, Katzir G, Rinkevich B (2013) Long-term population genetic structure of an invasive urochordate: the ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. Biol Invasions 15:225–241. doi: 10.1007/s10530-012-0281-2
- Reger J, Lind MI, Robinson MR, Beckerman AP (2018) Predation drives local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity. Nat Ecol Evol 2:100–107
- Renborg E, Johannesson K, Havenhand J (2014) Variable salinity tolerance in ascidian larvae is primarily a plastic response to the parental environment. Evol Ecol 28:561–572. doi: 10.1007/s10682-013-9687-2
- Richards CL, Bossdorf O, Muth NZ, et al (2006) Jack of all trades, master of some? On the role of phenotypic plasticity in plant invasions. Ecol Lett 9:981–993. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00950.x
- Richter-Boix A, Katzenberger M, Duarte H, et al (2015) Local divergence of thermal reaction norms among amphibian populations is affected by pond temperature variation. Evolution 69:2210–2226
- Rinkevich B, Porat R, Goren M (1998) On the development and reproduction of *Botryllus schlosseri* (Tunicata) colonies from the eastern mediterranean sea: Plasticity of life history traits. Invertebr Reprod Dev 34:207–218. doi: 10.1080/07924259.1998.9652655
- Ritz C, Baty F, Streibig JC, Gerhard D (2015) Dose-response analysis using R. PLoS One 10:e0146021
- Rius M, Pascual M, Turon X (2008) Phylogeography of the widespread marine invader *Microcosmus squamiger* (Ascidiacea) reveals high genetic diversity of introduced populations and non-independent colonizations. Divers Distrib 14:818–828
- Ruthsatz K, Dausmann KH, Peck MA, Glos J (2022) Thermal tolerance and acclimation capacity in the European common frog (*Rana temporaria*) change throughout ontogeny. J Exp Zool Part A Ecol Integr Physiol 337:477–490. doi: 10.1002/jez.2582
- Salinas S, Brown SC, Mangel M, Munch SB (2013) Non-genetic inheritance and changing environments. Non-Genetic Inherit 1:
- Sanford E, Kelly MW (2011) Local adaptation in marine invertebrates. Ann Rev Mar Sci 3:509– 535. doi: 10.1146/annurev-marine-120709-142756
- Sasaki M, Barley JM, Gignoux-Wolfsohn S, et al (2022) Greater evolutionary divergence of thermal limits within marine than terrestrial species. Nat Clim Chang 1–6
- Sasaki MC, Dam HG (2019) Integrating patterns of thermal tolerance and phenotypic plasticity with population genetics to improve understanding of vulnerability to warming in a widespread copepod. Glob Chang Biol 25:4147–4164. doi: 10.1111/gcb.14811
- Sasaki MC, Dam HG (2020) Genetic differentiation underlies seasonal variation in thermal tolerance, body size, and plasticity in a short-lived copepod. Ecol Evol 10:12200–12210. doi: 10.1002/ece3.6851
- Sasaki MC, Dam HG (2021) Negative relationship between thermal tolerance and plasticity in tolerance emerges during experimental evolution in a widespread marine invertebrate. Evol Appl 14:2114–2123. doi: 10.1111/eva.13270
- Schlichting CD (1986) The evolution of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 17:667–693
- Seebacher F, White CR, Franklin CE (2015) Physiological plasticity increases resilience of

ectothermic animals to climate change. Nat Clim Chang 5:61–66

- Somero GN (2010) The physiology of climate change: How potentials for acclimatization and genetic adaptation will determine "winners" and "losers." J Exp Biol 213:912–920. doi: 10.1242/jeb.037473
- Sorte CJB, Jones SJ, Miller LP (2011) Geographic variation in temperature tolerance as an indicator of potential population responses to climate change. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 400:209–217. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2011.02.009
- Stein LR, Bukhari SA, Bell AM (2018) Personal and transgenerational cues are nonadditive at the phenotypic and molecular level. Nat Ecol Evol 2:1306–1311. doi: 10.1038/s41559-018-0605-4
- Stillman JH (2003) Acclimation capacity underlies susceptibility to climate change. Science 301:65
- Sturiale SL, Bailey NW (2021) Within-generation and transgenerational social plasticity interact during rapid adaptive evolution. bioRxiv 2010–2021
- Sunday J, Bennett JM, Calosi P, et al (2019) Thermal tolerance patterns across latitude and elevation. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 374:. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2019.0036
- Sunday JM, Bates AE, Dulvy NK (2012) Thermal tolerance and the global redistribution of animals. Nat Clim Chang 2:686–690. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1539
- Sunday JM, Pecl GT, Frusher S, et al (2015) Species traits and climate velocity explain geographic range shifts in an ocean-warming hotspot. Ecol Lett 18:944–953. doi: 10.1111/ele.12474
- Tangwancharoen S, Burton RS (2014) Early life stages are not always the most sensitive: Heat stress responses in the copepod *Tigriopus californicus*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 517:75–83. doi: 10.3354/meps11013
- Tepolt CK, Somero GN (2014) Master of all trades: thermal acclimation and adaptation of cardiac function in a broadly distributed marine invasive species, the European green crab, *Carcinus maenas*. J Exp Biol 217:1129–1138. doi: 10.1242/jeb.093849
- Terblanche JS, Chown SL (2006) The relative contributions of developmental plasticity and adult acclimation to physiological variation in the tsetse fly, *Glossina pallidipes* (Diptera, Glossinidae). J Exp Biol 209:1064–1073. doi: 10.1242/jeb.02129
- Thiel M, Gutow L (2005) The ecology of rafting in the marine environment. II. The rafting organisms and community. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. 43:279–418
- Tsagkogeorga G, Cahais V, Galtier N (2012) The population genomics of a fast evolver: High levels of diversity, functional constraint, andmolecular adaptation in the tunicate *Ciona intestinalis*. Genome Biol Evol 4:740–749. doi: 10.1093/gbe/evs054
- Tsagkogeorga G, Turon X, Galtier N, et al (2010) Accelerated evolutionary rate of housekeeping genes in tunicates. J Mol Evol 71:153–167
- van Heerwaarden B, Kellermann V (2020) Does Plasticity Trade Off With Basal Heat Tolerance? Trends Ecol Evol 35:874–885. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2020.05.006
- van Heerwaarden B, Kellermann V, Sgrò CM (2016) Limited scope for plasticity to increase upper thermal limits. Funct Ecol 30:1947–1956. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12687
- Vinson JP, Jaffe DB, O'Neill K, et al (2005) Assembly of polymorphic genomes: algorithms and application to Ciona savignyi. Genome Res 15:1127–1135
- Wadgymar SM, Mactavish RM, Anderson JT (2018) Transgenerational and within-generation

plasticity in response to climate change: insights from a manipulative field experiment across an elevational gradient. Am Nat 192:698–714

- West-Eberhard MJ (2003) Developmental Plasticity and Evolution. Oxford University Press, Oxford, U.K.
- Worcester SE (1994) Adult rafting versus larval swimming: dispersal and recruitment of a botryllid ascidian on eelgrass. Mar Biol 121:309–317
- Yund PO, O'Neil PG (2000) Microgeographic genetic differentiation in a colonial ascidian (*Botryllus schlosseri*) population. Mar Biol 137:583–588. doi: 10.1007/s002270000378
- Zhan A, Briski E, Bock DG, et al (2015) Ascidians as models for studying invasion success. Mar Biol 162:2449–2470. doi: 10.1007/s00227-015-2734-5
- Zippay ML, Hofmann GE (2010) Physiological tolerances across latitudes: Thermal sensitivity of larval marine snails (Nucella spp.). Mar Biol 157:707–714. doi: 10.1007/s00227-009-1354-3

# SUPPLEMENTARY METHODS

# Environmental temperatures:

For CHAT, data were obtained from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric

Administration's (NOAA's) Center for Operational Oceanographic Products and Services station no. 8447435

(https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa\_nos\_co\_ops\_8447435.html), which is located at the same dock used for *B. schlosseri* collection. For RUTG, data were obtained from the United States Geological Survey's National Water Information System station no. 01409335 (https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/gov\_usgs\_waterdata\_01409335.html), located within the Rutgers University Marine Field Station boat basin, the collection site. For DARL, data were obtained from the University of Maine's Land/Ocean Biogeochemical Observatory Lower Damariscotta buoy (http://maine.loboviz.com/loboviz/), which is located 470 m south of the collection site at the Darling Marine Center dock.

The HOBO loggers at SAND failed prior to the experimentation period, resulting in no usable temperature record. However, we collected temperature data in 2021 for a preliminary experiment. With these data, we performed a multiple regression, using 2021 daily mean temperature data from both the nearby NOAA National Buoy Data Center station no. 44090 (https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/edu\_ucsd\_cdip\_221.html) and CHAT as predictor variables. The model was fitted using 80% of the time series and tested on the remaining 20%. Despite marginal explanatory power (r<sup>2</sup> = 0.215, see Figure S3-7), the resulting

model was then used to predict 2022 daily mean temperatures at SAND for use in analyses investigating the effect of short-term environmental temperature on LT<sub>50</sub>.

### **Experimentation**:

Initial collections at DARL resulted in minimal release of larvae. Accordingly, some days' collections were carried out at South Bristol harbor, 8 km south of DARL, where oozooid collection was more successful. Rather than treat this as a separate site, results from oozooids collected at South Bristol were pooled with those from DARL, as sample size was quite low for each of the two collection sites. Water temperatures from South Bristol were similarly recorded using a HOBO logger. For assessing the effect of short-term temperature history on thermal tolerance on days where oozooids were collected from South Bristol, we used temperature data from South Bristol rather than from DARL.

#### Model:

## Differences among sites

To evaluate the potential for local adaptation, we compared our full model with separate a,  $c_0$ , and  $c_1$  parameters for each collection day against a null model in which a was permitted to vary according to collection day but  $c_0$  and  $c_1$  were fixed at the global estimate.

$$H_0^1: c_{0j} = c_0, c_{1j} = c_1, j = 1, 2, \dots, J$$
(4)

This model represents a situation in which there is no difference in temperature tolerance among sites, or a "no differentiation" model. For a graphical representation of this null model, refer to Figure 3-2 (upper left). We used a likelihood ratio test to assess significance.

#### Effect of short-term temperature history

To examine how short-term temperature history affects temperature tolerance through developmental plasticity, we compared our full model against a null model in which a and  $c_0$  were permitted to vary according to collection day, but  $c_1$  was constrained at a value of zero.

$$H_0^2: c_{1j} = 0, j = 1, 2, \dots, J$$
(5)

This model reflects a situation without any dependence of temperature tolerance upon temperature history, or a "no plasticity" null model (Figure 3-2, lower left). We used the onesided alternative hypothesis  $H_1^2$ :  $c_{1j} > 0$  to test for a positive effect of developmental temperature upon temperature tolerance (adaptive developmental plasticity). Again, we used a likelihood ratio test to assess significance.

# Differences in developmental plasticity among sites

To assess whether sites exhibited differences in their degree of developmental plasticity, we compared our full model against a null model in which a and  $c_0$  were permitted to vary according to collection day, but sites possessed a shared, jointly-estimated  $c_1$  parameter.

$$H_0^3: c_{1j} = c_1, j = 1, 2, \dots, J$$
 (6)

This model represents a situation in which sites exhibit plasticity but do not differ in their degree of plasticity, or a "same plasticity" model (Figure 3-2, upper right). Significance was assessed using a likelihood ratio test.

## SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES

**Table S3-1.** Matrix showing significance testing for comparisons of LT50 values among sites.Values are Bonferroni-adjusted p-values.

	DARL	FALM	RUTG	SAND
CHAT	1.089e-05	1	1	1.394e-09
DARL		1.092e-4	9.744e-05	.7435
FALM			1	1.350e-08
RUTG				6.747e-09

# SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES







**Figure S3-2.** Estimates of g (LT<sub>50</sub>) from our model vs. estimates of LT<sub>50</sub> from package *drc* for each collection day. Note that both methods result in near identical values.



**Figure S3-3.** June 5<sup>th</sup> RUTG experiment. Once clutch with 100% survival across all four temperature treatments. This day's data was removed from subsequent analyses focusing on effect of environmental temperature.



**Figure S3-4.** August 29th DARL experiment. Two clutches with intermediate survivorship at only one temperature, precluding the estimation of *a*. This day's data was removed from subsequent analyses focusing on effect of environmental temperature.



Figure S3-5. SAND temperature over six-day period during the summer of 2021.


**Figure S3-6.** Collection dates for the 24 experiments conducted over the summer and fall of 2022, and the corresponding environmental temperatures of the day prior to collection.



**Figure S3-7.** Predicted 2021 SAND temperatures vs. true temperatures. Model trained on contiguous 80% of data earlier in the summer. Data presented here represent the 20% testing set from later in the summer.

IV

Clinal variation of thermal tolerance during northward range expansion in the invasive golden star tunicate, *Botryllus schlosseri* 

### ABSTRACT

Populations can differ with respect to their thermal physiology, with clinal variation often observed across gradients in environmental temperature with latitude or elevation. The tempo at which phenotypic plasticity and/or local adaptation are able to shape variation in thermal tolerance has implications for species persistence under an increasingly volatile climate. Having encountered novel environments during introduction and subsequent range expansion, non-indigenous species (NIS) present useful case studies for examining thermal tolerance differentiation on contemporary time scales. Here we test for differentiation of heat and cold tolerance among three populations of the invasive golden star tunicate, Botryllus schlosseri spanning a 24.3° latitudinal gradient in the Northeast Pacific. We observed differentiation of post-larval heat tolerance among our sites, with our southern, putatively warm adapted population exhibiting a significantly higher  $LT_{50}$  than the two more northern populations. We synthesize these results with previous data for this species from the Northwest Atlantic, demonstrating consistent adaptive shifts in heat tolerance coincident with environmental temperatures. We also found that adult cardiac performance at cold temperatures is progressively greater at colder, higher-latitude populations. This pattern of countergradient variation of cold tolerance suggests compensatory genetic adaptation to colder environmental temperatures. By examining both heat and cold tolerance simultaneously among populations of an invasive ascidian, we document how a marine ectotherm is capable of shifting its physiology to novel environmental conditions over compressed time scales, with implications for species persistence in an era of global change.

# INTRODUCTION

Biogeographic ranges often encompass a wide variety of environmental conditions, across which species must tune their physiology to match the local environment. Within species, phenotypic variation is often observed along climatic gradients with latitude or elevation (Hall et al. 2007; Gonzalo-Turpin and Hazard 2009; Keller et al. 2013; Pereira et al. 2017). Such variation can be shaped by both genetic and environmental factors, through local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity, respectively (West-Eberhard 2003; Kawecki and Ebert

2004). Understanding how these processes interact to produce clinal variation in phenotypes is a central goal of many evolutionary studies and can provide insights into the potential for species persistence under an increasingly volatile climate (De Frenne et al. 2013). On contemporary timescales, for example, in the case of species invasions or range expansions, the establishment of population-level differentiation in key phenotypes such as environmental tolerances hints at the ability for these traits to shift rapidly (e.g. Maron et al. 2004; Monty and Mahy 2009; Leal and Gunderson 2012; Carbonell et al. 2021; Neu and Fischer 2022). This rapid phenotypic divergence across space also speaks to the potential for species to alter their physiology in response to rapid environmental change (Somero 2010). Until recently, however, intraspecific variation of environmental tolerances, specifically thermal tolerance, has often been overlooked in macrophysiological studies that forecast species responses to climate warming (Valladares et al. 2014; Bennett et al. 2019). An appreciation of intraspecific variation of thermal tolerance and its ability to shift rapidly, then, is critical to understanding species responses to environmental change.

In the oceans, population-level divergence of thermal tolerance is often observed across latitudinal clines. For marine ectotherms, heat tolerance often increases with decreasing latitude (Zippay and Hofmann 2010; Sanford and Kelly 2011; Pereira et al. 2017; Sasaki and Dam 2019; Sasaki et al. 2022), a presumably adaptive response to warmer environmental temperatures, though invariance of heat tolerance or more complex patterns have also been documented (Kuo and Sanford 2009; Gaitán-Espitia et al. 2014). While there are comparatively fewer data for latitudinal variation of cold tolerance in marine ectotherms, some studies have revealed similar latitudinal patterns, with more cold-tolerant populations at northern latitudes (Wallace et al. 2014; Chiba et al. 2016; Thyrring et al. 2019). Divergence of cold tolerance can also arise rapidly, as illustrated by Tepolt and Somero (2014), who demonstrated the maintenance of higher heart rates in the cold after a common acclimation temperature in northern populations within the invasive range of the European green crab, *Carcinus maenas*.

Northern, more cold-exposed populations are often driven to evolve adaptations to compensate for the countervailing environmental effects of cold temperatures and/or a shorter growing season (Schultz et al. 1996; Yamahira et al. 2007; Hong and Shurin 2015). For example,

in the Atlantic silverside, *Menidia menidia*, whose range extends from Florida to the Gulf of St. Lawrence, body size does not appear to vary with latitude despite a drastic gradient in environmental temperature. However, in multigenerational common garden experiments, Conover and Present (1990) uncovered a genetic basis for faster growth rates in more northern, colder populations, demonstrating the presence of countergradient variation and genetic compensation to a shorter growing season. First observed by Levins (1968, 1969), countergradient variation has since been documented in a diverse array of organisms and is especially common as a consequence of adaptation to temperature (e.g. Schultz and Conover 1997; Laugen et al. 2003; Skelly 2004; Fangue et al. 2009; reviewed by Conover et al. 2009). As temperatures decrease with increasing latitude or elevation, local adaptation in traits such as growth or metabolic rate can counter the plastic response to colder temperatures, such that when animals are brought into a warmer common garden, rates of those from colder environments actually outpace those of conspecifics from warmer climes.

Understanding how variation in fitness-related phenotypes is partitioned across space is vital for assessing the capacity for populations and species to adapt in the face of global change (Hoffmann and Sgró 2011). In recent decades, an increasing number of studies have demonstrated the potential for rapid evolutionary adaptation (e.g. Reznick et al. 1990; Barrett et al. 2011), begging the question of whether this can keep pace with the rate of environmental change (Jump and Peñuelas 2005; Bradshaw and Holzapfel 2006). Many such studies have relied on the investigation of non-indigenous species (NIS) (Gilchrist et al. 2004; Maron et al. 2004; Colautti and Barrett 2013; reviewed by Colautti and Lau 2016). As NIS by their very nature encounter new habitats during introduction, they present useful "natural experiments" for studying species responses to novel environmental conditions on contemporary timescales (Huey et al. 2005; Sax et al. 2007). For example, in the common Puerto Rican anole, Anolis cristatellus, cold tolerance in the more cold-exposed invasive population in Florida is significantly greater than in the native range, with this differentiation arising on the order of just ~35 generations (Leal and Gunderson 2012). The pace at which NIS are able to adapt to new habitats thus provides insights into how native species may respond to various axes of anthropogenic change (Moran and Alexander 2014).

One consequence of global climate change is the observed poleward range shift/extension of many species (Sorte et al. 2010a; Chen et al. 2011; Pinsky et al. 2020). While this is perhaps most obviously driven by an increase in temperatures at higher latitudes, there are also more complex drivers. For example, in the marine realm there is an increasing concern about introductions of NIS to northern latitudes because of a predicted increase in global shipping in the Arctic due to retreating sea ice (Ware et al. 2016; Chan et al. 2019). Due to this and other modes of dispersal, northward spread of NIS may outpace the rate of warming, provided that these species have the physiological capacity to deal with colder northern temperatures. Many NIS exhibit intrinsically broad physiological tolerances (Zerebecki and Sorte 2011; Higgins and Richardson 2014) and may thus be primed for success at northern latitudes (Kelley et al. 2013; Tepolt and Somero 2014).

One high-profile marine NIS that is currently expanding its range northward is the golden star tunicate, Botryllus schlosseri. Botryllus schlosseri is a colonial ascidian and a common member of fouling communities, typically growing on the bottoms of docks, boat hulls, and other substrates within harbors and marinas. While its native range is unknown, B. schlosseri is invasive across much of the global ocean, including parts of the North Atlantic, South Pacific, and Northeast Pacific (Fofonoff et al. 2024). In North America it is actively expanding northward along both coasts. On the east coast, it is considered cryptogenic in the United States but invasive further north in the Maritime Provinces of Canada and Newfoundland. Its current northern range limit on the east coast of North America is in Newfoundland, where it was first detected in 2006 (Callahan et al. 2010). On the west coast of the United States, *B. schlosseri* was first detected in San Francisco Bay in 1947 (Carlton 1979) and has since spread southward as far as San Diego, CA, where it was detected in 1965 (Lambert and Lambert 1998), and northward as far as Sitka, AK, where it was detected in 2001 (Ruiz et al. 2006). Globally, its most recent northern range expansion was reported in Iceland, where it was found in 2011 (Ramos-Esplá et al. 2020). This global northward range expansion into cooler waters, along with its persistence at lower latitudes (Ali et al. 2009; Tovar-Hernández et al. 2014), demonstrates that *B. schlosseri* is capable of inhabiting a broad range of thermal habitats.

There has been limited exploration of the potential for population-level divergence of thermal tolerance in *B. schlosseri*. We previously studied differentiation of heat tolerance among populations along the east coast of North America, where its invasive status is unknown (Tobias et al. 2024). Here we extend our investigation of *B. schlosseri* thermal tolerance to the Northeast Pacific, where it is definitely invasive, focusing on three populations spanning a thermal gradient encompassing 24.3° of latitude. Using this system, we explore the potential for rapid differentiation of thermal tolerance since its introduction to the west coast about eight decades ago. We assess population-level differentiation of both heat tolerance, through LT<sub>50</sub> experiments on newly settled post-larvae, and cold tolerance, through a cardiac performance assay during a cold challenge in adult *B. schlosseri*. We find that populations differ in their sensitivity to heat, with northern populations being more susceptible to heat stress than their southern counterpart. For cold tolerance, we observed a pattern of countergradient variation, with more northern populations maintaining progressively higher heart rates in the cold after acclimation at a common temperature. By comparing thermal tolerance across populations, we illustrate that this species is capable of tuning its physiology to local habitats on a contemporary timescale, providing important insights into the capacity of marine organisms to adapt to changing environmental conditions.

## METHODS

### <u>Sites</u>

We conducted LT<sub>50</sub> and cardiac performance experiments on *B. schlosseri* individuals collected from three sites spanning 24.3° of latitude in the Northeast Pacific: Eliason Harbor, Sitka, AK, USA (SITK); Bodega Harbor, Bodega Bay, CA, USA (BDGA); and Sea World Marina, San Diego, CA, USA (SDGO) (Figure 4-1A, Table 4-1). Experiments at SITK were performed at the Sitka Sound Science Center, BDGA at the University of California at Davis' Bodega Marine Lab, and SDGO at San Diego State University's Coastal and Marine Institute Laboratory.

#### Environmental temperature

*In situ* temperatures were recorded at the collection sites during the 2-week experimentation periods using HOBO Pendant temp/light loggers (Onset; Bourne, MA, USA; cat. no. UA-002-64). Long-term temperature for stations near our collection sites were obtained from publicly available sources for SDGO

(https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa\_nos\_co\_ops\_9410170.html) and SITK (https://erddap.sensors.ioos.us/erddap/tabledap/noaa\_nos\_co\_ops\_9451600.html). For BDGA, temperature data for 2020-21 were generously shared by Dr. Jay Stachowicz.

## LT<sub>50</sub> experiments

We conducted LT<sub>50</sub> experiments as described previously (Tobias et al. 2024), with some modifications. Two days prior to each experiment approximately 50 *B. schlosseri* colonies were collected by hand from the underside of floating docks. Colonies were transported to the laboratory and placed in groups of 2-3 in 3.5 x 2 x 2" wells of polycarbonate compartment boxes with ~200 ml of local seawater. Five extra-thick microscope slides (Fisherbrand; Pittsburgh, PA, USA; cat. no. 22-267-013) were placed along the bottom and side walls of each compartment, to allow for larval settlement upon the slides. Colonies were then kept at room temperature over two nights, exchanging seawater twice during the first day after collection and once the second day after collection. Once slides were observed to be covered in settled larvae, we transferred them to a separate holding tank with aeration. Two days after collection, all oozooids (metamorphosed settled larvae) were censused under a Stemi dissecting stereomicroscope (Zeiss; Oberkochen, Germany), and examined for a heartbeat and normal development. Those with slowed (tail still present) or abnormal development were removed, as well as those settled on the extreme margin of the slides. Slides were further thinned of oozooids to retain a maximum of 35 individuals.

Up to five slides from each clutch (offspring of a single clonal colony, as we never observed multiple colonies from one compartment simultaneously release larvae) were partitioned across five temperature treatments. In SITK and BDGA, the set temperatures were 29.4, 30.0, 30.6, 31.1, and 31.7 °C, whereas at SDGO the set temperatures were 30.0, 30.6, 31.1, 31.7, and 32.2 °C. We selected these temperatures based on the results from Tobias et al.

(2024), with the expectation that SDGO would exhibit a higher LT<sub>50</sub>, thus the use of a slightly higher temperature range. The heat tolerance assays were performed in polycarbonate 4"-deep 1/3 pans (Cambro; Huntington Beach, CA, USA; cat. no. 34CW) equipped with programmable 25 W glass aquarium heaters (YOFOTHS; Shenzhen, Guangdong, China) and HOBO pendant light/temp temperature loggers. Temperatures used for downstream analysis were those recorded by the HOBO loggers rather than the set temperatures on the heaters.

Heat exposures lasted 20 hours, starting from the ambient temperature of local seawater. The ramp speed was approximately 4°C/hr, chosen to conform with previously conducted experiments of *B. schlosseri* populations in the Northwest Atlantic (Tobias et al. 2024). After 20 hours, the oozooid slides were removed and censused again. Oozoids without a detectable heartbeat were considered dead.

## Cardiac performance experiment

To assess the potential for variation in cold tolerance among the three populations, we conducted an assay of adult *B. schlosseri* cardiac performance during a cold challenge. We used the same colonies as collected for the LT<sub>50</sub> experiment. If kept undisturbed, *B. schlosseri* colonies will often begin to attach to and grow out along the bottom slide within each well of the compartment box. We treated the colonies as described above, performing two water exchanges the day after collection and one water exchange two days after collection. If two days after collection a colony was firmly attached to the slide, we transferred it to a holding tank of room temperature seawater with aeration, placing it vertically in a slide storage box. We left the colonies in this holding tank for an additional night. On the third day after collection, we placed colonies in a portable incubator (IVYX Scientific; Seattle, WA, USA) set to 18 °C for 24 hours. By acclimating individuals from different populations to a common temperature we sought to minimize the potential effect of short-term phenotypic plasticity on the outcome of the cardiac performance experiment. We chose 18 °C as an acclimation temperature, as this was near the upper limit of temperatures experienced in the field (Figure 4-1C) and would afford a broader range across which to measure heart rate (see below).

After the 24-hour acclimation (on the fourth day after collection), colonies were subjected to a cold challenge experiment. Slides with colonies were placed in a specialized imaging chamber designed and 3D printed at Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution on an Objet350 Connex3 3D printer (StrataSys; Eden Prairie, MN, USA). Seawater was pumped to this chamber from an insulated sump tank (Coleman Party Stacker cooler; Chicago, IL, USA; cat. no. 3000005591) through 3/8" vinyl tubing using a small aquarium pump (Hygger; Shenzhen, China; cat. no. HG-939). An additional pump (Hawthorne Hydroponics EcoPlus; Vancouver, WA, USA; cat. no. HGC728310) fed water to a 1/13 hp seawater chiller (AquaEuro USA; Los Angeles, CA, USA; cat. no. AC13H) through 1/2" vinyl tubing. We converted the chiller to on/off operation by soldering together two circuits in the control panel to bypass the chiller's temperature controller. Temperature was controlled using an external programmable temperature controller (Bayite; Zhongshan, China; cat. no. BTC201). In case ambient seawater was lower than 18 °C, we also included a 300 W aquarium heater (Finnex; Countryside, IL, USA; cat. no. TH-300S) in the sump. We included a HOBO pendant temp/light logger in the sump to record experimental temperatures.

Starting from 18 °C, we ramped down the temperature to 2 °C over the course of an hour, for a ramp speed of ~16 °C/hour. During this ramp, we recorded a video of one to several zooids' (individuals' within the colony) hearts under a M80 stereomicroscope (Leica; Wetzlar, Germany) fitted with a microscope camera (AmScope; Irvine, CA, USA; cat. no. MU1803-HS). Videos were acquired using the AmLite software (AmScope), adding a timestamp. To prevent condensation on the imaging chamber at cold temperatures, we added a thin layer of fresh water to the upper surface of the outside of the chamber. At the end of each experiment, *B. schlosseri* colonies were discarded.

Heart rates over time were extracted from the videos manually. Starting from the first full minute according to the video timestamp, we counted the number of heart beats per minute at five-minute intervals. If the heartbeat was arrhythmic or there were issues with the video quality (out of focus, out of frame, etc.), we skipped that minute and proceeded to subsequent minutes until conditions improved. For videos that contained footage of multiple hearts, we counted each heart separately but kept track of colony membership, to account for

potential colony effects during analysis. We excluded all zooids in blastogenetic stage D (i.e. those not actively siphoning), as these are known to exhibit aberrant physiology (pers. comm., A. Voskoboynik).

## Data analysis

For the LT<sub>50</sub> experiment, analyses were performed in R v. 4.1.2 (R Core Team 2013). We used the R package *drc* v. 3.0.1 (Ritz et al. 2015) to estimate LT<sub>50</sub> values for each population, fitting two-parameter (slope and midpoint) log-logistic models to each population's binomial survivorship data. To test if there was a significant effect of population on LT<sub>50</sub>, we compared a model with separately estimated LT<sub>50</sub> values for each population to a null model with a jointly-estimated LT<sub>50</sub> value for all populations using a likelihood ratio test. Post-hoc pairwise comparisons among populations were conducted using the same approach, with p-values adjusted using the Bonferroni method to account for multiple comparisons.

To put our results in the context of previous work on heat tolerance of *B. schlosseri*, we synthesized our LT<sub>50</sub> data with those for five populations from the Northwest Atlantic collected with the same approach (Tobias et al. 2024). To investigate the potential for local adaptation and/or adaptive phenotypic plasticity of heat tolerance, we performed a linear regression of the eight population-level LT<sub>50</sub> estimates against mean summer temperature, using the long-term environmental temperature data presented here or in Tobias et al. (2024). With the exception of BDGA and Sandwich, MA (SAND), mean summer temperatures were obtained for the year in which the respective experiments were conducted (2023 for the present study, 2022 for those from Tobias et al. (2024). For BDGA, long-term temperature data were only available for 7/21/2020-6/28/21. We thus took the mean of all summer dates within this series. For SAND, we lacked temperature records for 2022 and instead used temperature data from 2021.

For the cardiac performance experiment, analyses were performed in Python v. 3.11.5 (Van Rossum and Drake 2009). Heart rates over time were converted to heart rate over temperatures using the temperature recorded the sump tank HOBO logger at the start of each minute. We compared the heart rate at 18 °C, the heart rate at 8 °C, and the Q<sub>10</sub> in heart rate between these two values among all populations. Because many heart rate records did not

include values for heart rate at the exact temperatures of 18 °C and 8 °C, we used scikit-learn v. 1.2.2 (Pedregosa et al. 2011) to perform linear interpolation, extracting predictions for these values. To ensure we were not extrapolating outside the bounds of the available data, we excluded all records that did not span the full 8-18 °C range.

To test for differences among populations in these values (heart rate at 18 °C, heart rate at 8 °C, and  $Q_{10}$ ), we performed linear mixed effects modeling using the python package statsmodels v. 0.14.0 (Seabold and Perktold 2010). To test for an effect of population on these responses, we included population as a fixed effect and colony membership as a random effect. We chose to include colony membership as a random effect because there is the potential for differences in heart rate to be driven by colony-level phenomena (genetic differences, blastogenetic stage, etc.) and we were primarily interested in differences among populations. Because we hypothesized that there would be an ordering in these values according to population latitude (SDGO expected to exhibit lowest heart rate at 8 °C, followed by BDGA, then SITK), we encoded population according to an ordinal scale, with SDGO assigned a value of 0, BDGA a value of 1, and SITK a value of 2. To assess how much variation in the response variables can be attributed to colony membership, we calculated the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) by dividing the variance explained by colony membership by the sum of itself and the unexplained variance in the model (*scale* value in model output). To perform post-hoc pairwise comparisons among populations, we repeated the linear mixed effect modeling on groupings containing data for population pairs, adjusting p-values using the Bonferroni method to account for multiple comparisons.

## RESULTS

### Environmental temperature

As expected, environmental temperature varied strongly with latitude (Figure 4-1B). However, at certain times during the summer of 2020, mean daily temperatures overlapped between BDGA and SITK. Similarly, during the experimentation periods in the summer of 2023 we observed overlap between the *in situ* temperatures at BDGA and SITK (Figure 4-1C).

#### Heat tolerance

In total between the three sites, 1,021 oozooids from 48 clutches were included in the experiment (Table 4-1). Logistic survivorship curves illustrate how heat tolerance varied according to population (Figure 4-2). LT<sub>50</sub> estimates for SITK, BDGA, and SDGO were 31.54, 31.52, and 32.28 °C, respectively (confidence intervals provided in Table 4-1). A model with separately estimated LT<sub>50</sub> values for each population explained the data significantly better than a model including a jointly estimated LT<sub>50</sub> value for all populations ( $\chi^2(2) = 132.86$ , p < 0.001). Post-hoc comparisons between pairs of sites revealed significant differences between SDGO and SITK (p < 0.001), and SDGO and BDGA (p < 0.001), but not between SITK and BDGA (p = 1), as illustrated by Figure 4-2.

To investigate broader patterns of how  $LT_{50}$  varies with environmental temperatures, as a result of local adaptation and/or adaptive phenotypic plasticity, we synthesized east coast data from Tobias et al. (2024) with that collected in the present study. We found that population  $LT_{50}$  is strongly associated with the mean summer temperature at each site ( $r^2 =$ 0.75, p = 0.0034) (Figure 4-3). This analysis revealed three groups of populations in regard to heat tolerance: SITK and BDGA with the lowest  $LT_{50}$ , SAND and Walpole, ME (DARL) with intermediate  $LT_{50}$ s, and SDGO, Falmouth, MA (FALM), Chatham, MA (CHAT), and Tuckerton, NJ (RUTG) with the highest  $LT_{50}$ s.

#### Cold tolerance

Among the three sites, we obtained heart rate records for 86 zooids from 31 colonies. Overall, heart rate decreased linearly with decreasing temperatures over the course of the experiment (Figure 4-4A, Figure S4-1). After removing records that did not span the full 8-18 °C temperature range, 81 zooids from 29 colonies remained (9-11 per site). Linear mixed effect modeling revealed a significant effect of population on heart rate at 8 °C (p < 0.001), but not heart rate at 18 °C (p = 0.684) or Q<sub>10</sub> (p = 0.0875). Colony membership was observed to have a strong effect on interpolated heart rate at 8 °C, with an ICC of 0.809 (Figure S4-2). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons revealed significant differences in interpolated heart rate at 18 °C between SITK and BDGA (p<sub>adj</sub> = 0.0262), but not between SITK and SDGO (p = 1) or BDGA and

SDGO ( $p_{adj} = 0.294$ ) (Figure 4-4B). Interpolated heart rate at 8 °C followed a latitudinal pattern, with significantly higher heart rates in SITK than BDGA ( $p_{adj} = 0.0114$ ), significantly higher heart rates in BDGA than SDGO ( $p_{adj} = 0.0196$ ), and correspondingly significantly higher heart rates in SITK than SDGO ( $p_{adj} < 0.001$ ) (Figure 4-4C).  $Q_{10}$  similarly followed a latitudinal pattern but reversed, with higher values at lower latitudes (Figure 4-4D). However, all pairwise comparisons for  $Q_{10}$  were non-significant, likely due to high variability in SDGO.

## DISCUSSION

Whether and how species will be able to adapt to rapidly changing environmental conditions is a central question in the contemporary study of ecology, evolution, and conservation (Hoffmann and Sgró 2011). Because they experience novel conditions during introduction, NIS present excellent case studies for understanding modalities of adaptive responses, be they genetic through local adaptation or environmental through phenotypic plasticity (Matesanz et al. 2010; Moran and Alexander 2014). In the present study, we assessed phenotypic differentiation of heat and cold tolerance across a latitudinal gradient during range expansion in the invasive golden star tunicate, *B. schlosseri*. We demonstrate that colder, more northern populations exhibit lower heat tolerance than a warmer, southern counterpart. For cold tolerance, we uncovered a pattern of countergradient variation, whereby northern populations progressively maintain higher heart rates in cold temperatures after a common acclimation treatment. Together, our results illustrate how a widespread invasive species has been able to shift its tolerance to match the local thermal environment, providing insights into the ability of species to adapt to changing environmental conditions on contemporary timescales.

## Population differentiation of heat tolerance

We found that the more northern populations of SITK and BDGA exhibited lower  $LT_{50}$  values than the southern population of SDGO (Figures 4-2 and 4-3), indicating that they possess lower heat tolerances. Given the prevailing environmental temperatures (Figure 4-1A), we expected to observe a gradient in  $LT_{50}$  (SITK < BDGA < SDGO). However, we observed no

significant difference between SITK and BDGA. This could be due to a number of factors. First, while the mean annual temperatures between SITK and BDGA differ in the expected direction, temperatures during the summer can be quite similar. For example, in August 2020 local temperatures in BDGA were actually lower than in SITK (Figure 4-1B), despite the large difference in latitude. We observed this from our own temperature records for 2023 as well, where the mean temperature for two weeks in late July in BDGA was lower than for two weeks in late August/early September in SITK (Figure 4-1C). This lack of a strong latitudinal gradient in summer temperature can likely be explained by summer upwelling off of the central California coast, where strong northwesterly winds drive the surfacing of deep, cold water (Huyer 1983). Thus, because B. schlosseri are most reproductively active in the summer (Stewart-Savage et al. 2001; Epelbaum et al. 2009), the selective gradient for heat tolerance in early development between these two sites might simply not exist. Alternatively, or perhaps additionally, the similarity in heat tolerance between BDGA and SITK could be driven by phenotypic plasticity. We previously demonstrated that the temperature during development has a strong effect on heat tolerance after settlement, with higher developmental temperatures driving greater heat tolerance (Tobias et al. 2024). Because the thermal environment the oozooids were experiencing as embryos did not differ substantially between SITK and BDGA (Figure 4-1C), the similarity in LT<sub>50</sub> may have been an effect of similar environments. Despite the lack of a difference between SITK and BDGA, the observation of a higher  $LT_{50}$  in SDGO still provides evidence for differentiation of heat tolerance in the direction we anticipated.

Whether this differentiation of heat tolerance is driven by divergence within the invasive range since *B. schlosseri*'s initial introduction is unclear, however. Genomic data for this species indicates that there have been at least two introductions to the west coast of North America, with populations from southern California forming a lineage that is evolutionarily distinct from populations further north (Chapter 2). These separate lineages may differ physiologically due to variation that evolved within the species' native range rather than post-introduction. Thus, the differentiation of heat tolerance that we observe here could be a signature of preadaptation, where a putatively warm-adapted source seeded the introduction to southern California and a more heat-susceptible population was the source of introductions

further north. Because the aforementioned ongoing genomic investigation sampled strictly from North America, it is not able to address the potential origins of *B. schlosseri* to the west coast, precluding a more detailed examination of preadaptation. Nonetheless, this potential scenario draws parallels to the invasion of the east coast of North America by the European green crab, *Carcinus maenas*. Its original introduction to New England in the early 1800s is likely to have been a from a south-central European source (Roman 2006). While northward spread was originally confined to the Gulf of Maine (Carlton and Cohen 2003), further expansion in recent decades coincided with the arrival of a second introduction from a northern European, cold-adapted source. (Roman 2006; Tepolt and Somero 2014).

With the caveat that adaptive differentiation may have arisen prior to introduction, the observation of higher heat tolerance in the southern population of SDGO is consistent with local adaptation to temperature. However, because the individuals used in the LT<sub>50</sub> experiments were not reared in a common garden, it is not possible to disentangle genetic and environmental effects. As noted above, B. schlosseri oozooids possess appreciable levels of developmental plasticity for heat tolerance. Tobias et al. (2024) showed that for every 1 °C increase in developmental temperature,  $LT_{50}$  can increase by as much as 0.187 °C, depending on the population. The difference in mean temperature during the experimentation periods between our coldest site (BDGA, 16.03 °C) and our warmest site (SDGO, 20.87 °C) was 4.84 °C. Thus, if we assume an acclimation response ratio (ARR) of 0.187 °C/1 °C developmental temperature, we would expect a maximum difference in LT<sub>50</sub> of 0.91 °C between BDGA and SDGO. That we observe a difference of 0.76 °C indicates that the differentiation in  $LT_{50}$  could be due solely to phenotypic plasticity. This is of course predicated on the assumption that populations on the west coast of North America harbor similar levels of developmental plasticity as the most plastic population investigated on the east coast (Sandwich, MA, USA; SAND). We previously demonstrated that in addition to exhibiting differentiation of heat tolerance, east coast populations differ in their degree of developmental plasticity and that this appears to be related to the extent of short-term temperature variability, with more variable sites exhibiting greater levels of developmental plasticity. Given that the west coast populations experience lower levels of daily variability (Figure 4-1C vs. Figures 1c, S5 of Tobias et al. (2024)),

we might expect them to possess lower ARRs and thus a smaller predicted difference in LT<sub>50</sub> than was observed, allowing for some role of genetics in shaping this differentiation. Consistent with this, our ongoing genomic study of North American *B. schlosseri* populations revealed strong genetic differentiation and high genetic diversity, increasing the likelihood of local adaptation (Chapter 2). Ultimately, it is likely that both genetics and the environment shape this observed variation. Future studies should employ a multigenerational common garden approach to fully distinguish between the contributions of local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity in shaping the population differentiation (or lack thereof) that we observe between the three populations.

By including the LT<sub>50</sub> estimates from Tobias et al. (2024), we were able to more closely examine how heat tolerance varies with geography, and, correspondingly, environmental temperatures, across a greater array of populations. We noted a strong relationship between the LT<sub>50</sub> of a population and its mean summer temperature (Figure 4-3), suggesting that *B. schlosseri* is able to adaptively respond to the local thermal environment. This pattern demonstrates the consistency of the response to environmental temperature across both coasts of North America, spanning ranges where it is invasive (Northeast Pacific) and where its status is unclear (Northwest Atlantic). Of course, if this differentiation is driven solely by developmental plasticity, this is not altogether unsurprising. Conversely, if genetics does play a role, this speaks to how evolutionary adaptation may drive differentiation between populations on contemporary timescales, providing insights into potential species responses to global change.

Heat tolerance is a critical trait for species persistence in a rapidly changing ocean (Somero 2010; Pinsky et al. 2019). Mean sea surface temperature is increasingly rapidly across much of the global ocean (Cheng et al. 2022), and this is compounded by the increasing frequency of more local marine heatwave events (Oliver et al. 2021). Understanding how species may be able to shift their heat tolerance is thus of vital importance for making predictions of range shifts, local extirpations, and even species extinction (Somero 2010; Sunday et al. 2012; Diamond 2017; Morley et al. 2019). By examining geographic variation of thermal tolerance as a lens through which to view temporal responses to climate warming, a

space-for-time approach (Pickett 1989), while controversial (Damgaard 2019; Perret et al. 2024), may indicate which populations may be at risk and whether a species has the capacity to shift its physiology to match future environmental conditions (Sorte et al. 2011; Blois et al. 2013; Lovell et al. 2023). The patterns of heat tolerance observed in the present study and previously (Tobias et al. 2024) illustrate how this critical phenotype varies across space, and how it may be shaped by both genetics and environment. Given *B. schlosseri*'s flexibility and its capacity to match its heat tolerance to the prevailing environmental temperature (Figure 4-3), we may conclude that it is poised to be among the "winners" in an era of climate change (Somero 2010). Other studies have indicated that invasive ascidians may fare comparatively well under a regime of increasing ocean temperatures (Sorte et al. 2010b; Dijkstra et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2020), demonstrating synergistic interactions between two key axes of global environmental change – species introductions and climate change (Rahel and Olden 2008; Hellmann et al. 2008; Mainka and Howard 2010).

### Countergradient variation of cardiac function at cold temperature

We found that sites differed in their cardiac performance at cold temperatures, with more northern populations exhibiting progressively higher heart rates at 8 °C (Figure 4-3C). This observation is consistent with a pattern of countergradient variation. The heart rate of ectotherms is inextricably linked to environmental temperatures, with cooler temperatures driving lower heart rates. In the absence of any genetic effects, one might expect to observe lower heart rates in the colder, more northern populations, a pattern driven solely by the prevailing environmental temperatures. However, that we observe the reverse pattern after a common acclimation treatment demonstrates countergradient variation and suggests that compensatory genetic adaptation to cold temperatures may contribute to this pattern.

In contrast to our heat tolerance results, we demonstrate that the pattern for cold tolerance is clinal along the latitudinal gradient, with SITK possessing the greatest cold tolerance, followed by BDGA, and then by SDGO. It is worth noting that this may be an effect of experimenting on adult animals for cold tolerance in contrast to post-larvae (oozooids) for heat tolerance. As noted above, summer temperatures were overlapping between SITK and BDGA,

potentially driving the lack of differentiation in heat tolerance we observed between these two sites. Because oozooids are only present in the summer and early fall, when temperatures at the sites are similar, there may be no selective pressure for divergence of heat tolerance. For cold tolerance, on the other hand, we experimented on adults, which overwinter. Mean annual temperatures, and especially winter temperatures, do indeed follow a gradient with latitude (Figure 4-1B). Thus, in the case of cold tolerance, there may be differential selection among the populations, driving the pattern of countergradient variation we observed.

While animals were acclimated to a common temperature of 18 °C, it is possible that lingering environmental effects contributed to the observed pattern. We previously demonstrated developmental plasticity of heat tolerance (Tobias et al. 2024), and it is conceivable that increased cold tolerance could be conveyed by colder developmental temperatures as well. Because we could not control the juvenile environment, we were not able to fully separate what might be a plastic response from a presumed genetic adaptation. Further, as phenotypes can be shaped by parental or even grandparental environments through transgenerational plasticity (Shama and Wegner 2014; Donelson et al. 2018), without multigenerational experiments it is impossible to definitively prove that local adaptation contributes to the observed pattern of countergradient variation. However, there are a great number of studies that use field-collected, lab-acclimated organisms to infer the potential for evolutionary divergence of thermal physiology (e.g. Tepolt and Somero 2014; Chiba et al. 2016; Thyrring et al. 2019; Broitman et al. 2021). These approaches are especially important for the most non-model of species that lack tractable methods for intergenerational culture.

While we cannot rule out that phenotypic plasticity may be contributing to countergradient variation of heart rate, other lines of evidence bolster the case for genetic adaptation. We observed that in addition to variation in cold tolerance among populations, there is substantial variation among colonies *within* populations. This likely has a genetic basis, as individuals from the same colony tended to express more similar cardiac responses to cold than individuals from other colonies (Figure S4-2), as indicated by the high intra-class correlation coefficient. This strongly suggests the existence of substantial genetic variation upon which natural selection could act to drive evolutionary divergence of cold tolerance

among populations. Furthermore, as with differentiation of heat tolerance, genomic data can provide additional insights into *B. schlosseri*'s potential for thermal adaptation. Populations from San Francisco Bay and northward to Sitka appear to form a single evolutionary lineage that is distinct from populations in southern California. That we observe differentiation of cold tolerance between SITK and BDGA, which are evidently within the same clade, indicates that this divergence likely arose during range expansion. Given that *B. schlosseri* was first detected in northern California in 1947 (Carlton 1979) and was only found in Sitka in 2001 (Ruiz et al. 2006), this speaks to the rapid pace at which evolutionary adaptation may occur. Lastly, several characteristics of *B. schlosseri* point towards the high potential for local adaptation, including strong population genetic differentiation (Grosberg 1987; Yund and O'Neil 2000), pronounced genetic diversity (Chapter 2), and high mutation rates in ascidians (Tsagkogeorga et al. 2012; Berna and Alvarez-Valin 2014). Similar to heat tolerance, we recommend that future studies utilize a multigenerational approach to fully disentangle the contributions of genetic and environmental effects on the differentiation of cold tolerance.

In contrast to studies of heat tolerance, there have been comparatively fewer studies that examine intraspecific geographic patterns of cold tolerance in marine ectotherms (but see Jansen et al. 2007; Tepolt and Somero 2014; Wallace et al. 2014; Thyrring et al. 2015, 2019; Broitman et al. 2021; Dwane et al. 2023 and others), perhaps due in part to the difficulty of conducting such experiments but also given the relevance of assessing heat tolerance in an era of climate warming. Similar to our findings, Dwane et al. (2023) found that individuals of the intertidal snail *Littorina saxatilis* from northern populations maintained higher heart rates at cold temperatures than their more southern counterparts. Higher physiological rates among populations at higher latitudes or elevations have been observed in a diverse array of organisms (Conover and Present 1990; Schultz and Conover 1997; Milla et al. 2009; Kaluthota et al. 2015; Storz et al. 2019) and is a central component of the metabolic cold adaptation (MCA) hypothesis (Krogh 1916; Scholander et al. 1953; Wohlschlag 1964). MCA is a type of countergradient variation whereby populations from colder environments exhibit higher metabolic rates at a common test temperature than their warmer counterparts. While the MCA hypothesis remains controversial (Pörtner et al. 2006), as investigation has revealed some

confirmatory (Addo-Bediako et al. 2002; White et al. 2012) but largely contradictory evidence (Clarke and Johnston 1999; Harper et al. 2000; Lardies et al. 2004; Messamah et al. 2017), it remains a useful theoretical framework for testing how key physiological parameters vary across thermal gradients. While we did not measure metabolic rate in the present study, heart rate is often closely linked to metabolism in both ectotherms and endotherms (Green et al. 2001; Green 2011; Bruning et al. 2013; Kinoshita et al. 2022), allowing us to interpret our results in the context of MCA. In contrast to many studies investigating MCA in marine ectotherms (Holeton 1974; Clarke and Johnston 1999; Sokolova and Pörtner 2003; but see Tepolt and Somero 2014; Thyrring et al. 2015; Dwane et al. 2023), we found evidence of latitudinal compensation, whereby northern, putatively cold-adapted populations maintained higher heart rates at a common cold reference temperature than populations further south. Again, whether this truly represents evolutionary adaptation or long-term phenotypic plasticity is unresolved. Nonetheless, that we observe this pattern in *B. schlosseri* is in accordance with MCA, reinforcing the notion that while MCA may not be the rule, it should not be discounted entirely (Pörtner et al. 2007).

## Thermal limits, species invasions, and responses to novel environments

Temperature is a fundamental abiotic factor shaping ecological niches (Hochachka and Somero 2002), and understanding species' thermal breadths, and to what extent they are flexible, is critical to predicting responses to global climate change (Chown et al. 2010; Sunday et al. 2012). By examining both heat and cold tolerance in the same set of populations, we demonstrate how *B. schlosseri* has been able to shift its thermal physiology in response to prevailing local environmental temperature. Further, by assessing differentiation of thermal tolerance in a NIS, we can make inferences about how local adaptation and/or phenotypic plasticity are able to drive divergence of thermal tolerance on contemporary time scales.

We observed that northern, putatively cold-adapted populations are more sensitive to heat stress and tolerant of cold, whereas southern, putatively warm-adapted populations are more tolerant of heat and sensitive to cold. The negative correlation between heat and cold tolerance indicates that there may be costs associated with maintaining thermal tolerance in

the non-selective environment. Trade-offs between heat and cold tolerance have been observed in other studies (Bennett and Lenski 2007; Rodríguez-Verdugo et al. 2014; Schou et al. 2022; Xiao et al. 2024), suggesting constraint upon the evolution of thermal limits. Because anthropogenic change is not only shifting global mean temperatures upwards, but also increasing the frequency of weather extremes (Rahmstorf and Coumou 2011; Ummenhofer and Meehl 2017), the questions of whether and how species are able to simultaneously adapt to both heat and cold are relevant to their persistence. Several studies have demonstrated how rare, extreme weather events, rather than climatological means, can drive the rapid evolution of species (e.g. Campbell-Staton et al. 2017; reviewed in Grant et al. 2017). While considered by some as a "silver lining" (Coleman and Wernberg 2020), it is unclear whether these evolutionary shifts ultimately increase the likelihood of population persistence, as they may prove maladaptive under future environments (Lyberger et al. 2021). If the evolution of heat tolerance is constrained by cold tolerance, and vice versa, this may be a major limitation to the ability for adaptation to promote persistence in a more volatile future.

Through encountering novel environments during introduction, NIS present valuable case studies for understanding species responses to rapid environmental change (Huey et al. 2005; Sax et al. 2007). It is possible that some evolutionary divergence of the measured thermal tolerance traits, particularly heat tolerance, occurred prior to introduction through preadaptation (see above). However, the high potential for local adaptation in this species and the fact that we observe differentiation of cold tolerance within a single evolutionary lineage suggests that at least some of the differentiation we observe is driven by rapid evolution within the invasive range. Rapid adaptation in invasive species has been demonstrated in terrestrial, aquatic, and marine systems spanning the tree of life (e.g. Maron et al. 2004; Colautti and Barrett 2013; Sultan et al. 2013; Sotka et al. 2018; Mittan and Zamudio 2019). These evolutionary shifts, and indeed, those in response to extreme weather events discussed above, suggest that some species/populations have the capacity to rapidly adapt to novel environmental conditions, whether in the context of species invasions or global change. However, whether or not species contain the adaptive potential necessary to "keep up" with environmental change is an open question (Visser 2008; Munday et al. 2013; Martin et al.

2023). Predicting evolutionary responses to global change is a monumental task, one that requires not only more detailed assessments of adaptive variation in key physiological phenotypes, like that presented here, but also integration across multiple lines of inquiry, from theory to 'omics approaches (Urban et al. 2023). By investigating how a NIS is able to shift its physiology over contemporary time scales, we present valuable information of the pace of adaptive change in response to novel environmental conditions.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was funded by a National Defense Science and Engineering Graduate Fellowship to Z. Tobias and a North Pacific Research Board grant to C. Tepolt (award #2212). We would also like to thank the staff of the San Diego State University's Coastal and Marine Institute Laboratory, University of California Davis' Bodega Marine Laboratory, and the Sitka Sound Science Center, in particular Renee Angwin, Al Carranza, Alex McCarrel, Lauren Bell, and Chance Gray. We would like to thank Casey Machado and Don Collasius for their help in designing and fabricating the *B. schlosseri* imaging chamber, as well as Sam Laney and the AVAST center at Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution for providing funding for prototyping.

### TABLES

**Table 4-1.** Site information and heat tolerance experiment data, with lower and upper 95%confidence limits around LT50.

Location	Code	Lat	Lon	Oozooids	Clutches	LT <sub>50</sub> (°C)	Lower	Upper
San Diego, CA	SDGO	57.058	-135.354	535	14	32.28	32.20	32.37
Bodega Bay, CA	BDGA	38.329	-123.057	338	24	31.52	31.39	31.64
Sitka, AK	STIK	32.767	-117.231	148	10	31.54	31.40	31.68



experimentation periods in the summer/fall of 2023. environmental temperatures at the three sites from July 2020 to July 2021. C) In situ temperatures recorded during Figure 4-1. A) Map of study sites. SITK = Sitka, AK, USA. BDGA = Bodega Bay, CA, USA. SDGO = San Diego, CA, USA. B) Mean daily



**Figure 4-2.** Differentiation of heat tolerance, with SDGO exhibiting significantly greater heat tolerance than SITK and BDGA. Points represent individual survivorship data with lines illustrating logistic regressions of these data. Shaded areas around each line represent 95% confidence interval.



**Figure 4-3.** Heat tolerance increases with environmental temperature. Points represent  $LT_{50}$  estimates from the present study and Tobias et al. (2024). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals around each  $LT_{50}$  estimate. Black line is a linear regression of the natural logarithm of the  $LT_{50}$  estimates (r<sup>2</sup> = 0.75, p = 0.0034).



**Figure 4-4.** Populations differ in cardiac performance during a cold challenge. A) Heart rates during the course of the experiments. Points represent heart rate in a zooid at a given experimental temperature. Lines are locally weighted scatterplot smoothing (LOWESS) fits to each population's heart rate data. X-axis is reversed to reflect the progression of the experiments. B) Boxplot of interpolated heart rates at 18 °C by population. C) Boxplot of interpolated heart rates at 8 °C by population. D) Boxplot of Q<sub>10</sub> values between at 8 and 18 °C by population. Two outlier values not displayed for SDGO (24.37 and 69.69) due to *y*-axis limits. Significance testing between pairs of populations was carried out by linear mixed effect modeling, with p-values adjusted via the Bonferroni method. \* =  $p_{adj} < 0.05$ , \*\* =  $p_{adj} < 0.01$ , \*\*\* =  $p_{adj} < 0.001$ , ns = non-significant.

# REFERENCES

- Addo-Bediako A, Chown SL, Gaston KJ (2002) Metabolic cold adaptation in insects: A large-scale perspective. Funct Ecol 16:332–338. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2435.2002.00634.x
- Ali HAJ, Tamilselvi M, Sivakumar V (2009) Distribution of alien and cryptogenic ascidians along the southern coasts of Indian Peninsula. World J Fish Mar Sci 1:305–312
- Barrett RDH, Paccard A, Healy TM, et al (2011) Rapid evolution of cold tolerance in stickleback. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 278:233–238. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2010.0923
- Bennett AF, Lenski RE (2007) An experimental test of evolutionary trade-offs during temperature adaptation. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104:8649–8654
- Bennett S, Duarte CM, Marbà N, Wernberg T (2019) Integrating within-species variation in thermal physiology into climate change ecology. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 374:. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0550
- Berna L, Alvarez-Valin F (2014) Evolutionary genomics of fast evolving tunicates. Genome Biol Evol 6:1724–1738
- Blois JL, Williams JW, Fitzpatrick MC, et al (2013) Space can substitute for time in predicting climate-change effects on biodiversity. Proc Natl Acad Sci 110:9374–9379
- Bradshaw WE, Holzapfel CM (2006) Evolutionary response to rapid climate change. Science 312:1477–1478
- Broitman BR, Lagos NA, Opitz T, et al (2021) Phenotypic plasticity is not a cline: Thermal physiology of an intertidal barnacle over 20° of latitude. J Anim Ecol 90:1961–1972. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656.13514
- Bruning A, González A, Gaitán-Espitia JD, et al (2013) Energy metabolism, heart rate and physiological differentiation in the pulmonate gastropod *Cornu aspersum*. J Molluscan Stud 79:257–262. doi: 10.1093/mollus/eyt021
- Callahan AG, Deibel D, McKenzie CH, et al (2010) Survey of harbours in Newfoundland for indigenous and non-indigenous ascidians and an analysis of their cytochrome c oxidase I gene sequences. Aquat Invasions 5:31–39. doi: 10.3391/ai.2010.5.1.5
- Campbell-Staton SC, Cheviron ZA, Rochette N, et al (2017) Winter storms drive rapid phenotypic, regulatory, and genomic shifts in the green anole lizard. Science 357:495–498
- Carbonell JA, Wang Y-J, Stoks R (2021) Evolution of cold tolerance and thermal plasticity in life history, behaviour and physiology during a poleward range expansion. J Anim Ecol 90:1666–1677
- Carlton JT (1979) History, biogeography, and ecology of the introduced marine and estuarine invertebrates of the Pacific Coast of North America. University of California, Davis
- Carlton JT, Cohen AN (2003) Episodic global dispersal in shallow water marine organisms: the case history of the European shore crabs *Carcinus maenas* and *C. aestuarii*. J Biogeogr 30:1809–1820
- Chan FT, Stanislawczyk K, Sneekes AC, et al (2019) Climate change opens new frontiers for marine species in the Arctic: Current trends and future invasion risks. Glob Chang Biol 25:25–38. doi: 10.1111/gcb.14469
- Chen IC, Hill JK, Ohlemüller R, et al (2011) Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. Science 333:1024–1026. doi: 10.1126/science.1206432
- Cheng L, von Schuckmann K, Abraham JP, et al (2022) Past and future ocean warming. Nat Rev

Earth Environ 3:776–794

- Chiba S, Iida T, Tomioka A, et al (2016) Population divergence in cold tolerance of the intertidal gastropod Littorina brevicula explained by habitat-specific lowest air temperature. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 481:49–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2016.04.009
- Chown SL, Hoffmann AA, Kristensen TN, et al (2010) Adapting to climate change: A perspective from evolutionary physiology. Clim Res 43:3–15. doi: 10.3354/cr00879
- Clarke A, Johnston NM (1999) Scaling of metabolic rate with body mass and temperature in teleost fish. J Anim Ecol 68:893–905. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2656.1999.00337.x
- Colautti RI, Barrett SCH (2013) Rapid adaptation to climate facilitates range expansion of an invasive plant. Science 342:364–366
- Colautti RI, Lau JA (2016) Contemporary evolution during invasion: evidence for differentiation, natural selection, and local adaptation. Invasion Genet Bak Stebbins Leg 101–121
- Coleman MA, Wernberg T (2020) The silver lining of extreme events. Trends Ecol Evol 35:1065–1067
- Conover DO, Duffy TA, Hice LA (2009) The covariance between genetic and environmental influences across ecological gradients: Reassessing the evolutionary significance of countergradient and cogradient variation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1168:100–129. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04575.x
- Conover DO, Present TMC (1990) Countergradient variation in growth rate: compensation for length of the growing season among Atlantic silversides from different latitudes. Oecologia 83:316–324. doi: 10.1007/BF00317554
- Damgaard C (2019) A critique of the space-for-time substitution practice in community ecology. Trends Ecol Evol 34:416–421
- De Frenne P, Graae BJ, Rodríguez-Sánchez F, et al (2013) Latitudinal gradients as natural laboratories to infer species' responses to temperature. J Ecol 101:784–795. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12074
- Diamond SE (2017) Evolutionary potential of upper thermal tolerance: biogeographic patterns and expectations under climate change. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1389:5–19
- Dijkstra JA, Westerman EL, Harris LG (2011) The effects of climate change on species composition, succession and phenology: A case study. Glob Chang Biol 17:2360–2369. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02371.x
- Donelson JM, Salinas S, Munday PL, Shama LNS (2018) Transgenerational plasticity and climate change experiments: Where do we go from here? Glob Chang Biol 24:13–34. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13903
- Dwane C, Rezende EL, Tills O, et al (2023) Thermodynamic effects drive countergradient responses in the thermal performance of *Littorina saxatilis* across latitude. Sci Total Environ 863:. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.160877
- Epelbaum A, Herborg LM, Therriault TW, Pearce CM (2009) Temperature and salinity effects on growth, survival, reproduction, and potential distribution of two non-indigenous botryllid ascidians in British Columbia. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 369:43–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2008.10.028
- Fangue NA, Podrabsky JE, Crawshaw LI, Schulte PM (2009) Countergradient variation in temperature preference in populations of killifish *Fundulus heteroclitus*. Physiol Biochem Zool 82:776–786

- Fofonoff P, Ruiz G, Steves B, et al (2024) National Exotic Marine and Estuarine Species Information System. https://invasions.si.edu/nemesis/
- Gaitán-Espitia JD, Bacigalupe LD, Opitz T, et al (2014) Geographic variation in thermal physiological performance of the intertidal crab *Petrolisthes violaceus* along a latitudinal gradient. J Exp Biol 217:4379–4386. doi: 10.1242/jeb.108217
- Gilchrist GW, Huey RB, Balanyà J, et al (2004) A time series of evolution in action: A latitudinal cline in wing size in South American *Drosophila subobscura*. Evolution 58:768–780. doi: 10.1111/j.0014-3820.2004.tb00410.x
- Gonzalo-Turpin H, Hazard L (2009) Local adaptation occurs along altitudinal gradient despite the existence of gene flow in the alpine plant species Festuca eskia. J Ecol 742–751
- Grant PR, Grant BR, Huey RB, et al (2017) Evolution caused by extreme events. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 372:20160146
- Green JA (2011) The heart rate method for estimating metabolic rate: Review and recommendations. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 158:287–304. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.09.011
- Green JA, Butler PJ, Woakes AJ, et al (2001) Heart rate and rate of oxygen consumption of exercising macaroni penguins. J Exp Biol 204:673–684
- Grosberg RK (1987) Limited dispersal and proximity-dependent mating success in the colonial ascidian Botryllus schlosseri. Evolution 41:372–384. doi: 10.2307/2409145
- Hall D, Luquez V, Garcia VM, et al (2007) Adaptive population differentiation in phenology across a latitudinal gradient in European aspen (*Populus tremula*, L.): a comparison of neutral markers, candidate genes and phenotypic traits. Evolution 61:2849–2860
- Harper EM, Taylor JD, Crame JA (2000) The myth of metabolic cold adaptation: Oxygen consumption in stenothermal Antarctic bivalves. Geol Soc Spec Publ 177:441–450. doi: 10.1144/GSL.SP.2000.177.01.29
- Hellmann JJ, Byers JE, Bierwagen BG, Dukes JS (2008) Five potential consequences of climate change for invasive species. Conserv. Biol. 22:534–543
- Higgins SI, Richardson DM (2014) Invasive plants have broader physiological niches. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:10610–10614. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1406075111
- Hochachka PW, Somero GN (2002) Biochemical Adaptation: Mechanism and Process in Physiological Evolution. Oxford University Press
- Hoffmann AA, Sgró CM (2011) Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. Nature 470:479–485. doi: 10.1038/nature09670
- Holeton GF (1974) Metabolic cold adaptation of polar fish: fact or artefact? Physiol Zool 47:137–152
- Hong BC, Shurin JB (2015) Latitudinal variation in the response of tidepool copepods to mean and daily range in temperature. Ecology 96:2348–2359
- Huey RB, Gilchrist GW, Hendry AP (2005) Using invasive species to study evolution. In: Sax DF, Stachowicz JJ, Gaines SD, Freeman WH (eds) Species Invasions: Insights into Ecology, Evolution, and Biogeography. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA, pp 139–164
- Huyer A (1983) Coastal upwelling in the California Current system. Prog Oceanogr 12:259–284

Jansen JM, Wendelaar Bonga S, Hummel H (2007) Differential cold-shock resistance among acclimated European mussel populations. Mar Freshw Behav Physiol 40:233–245 Jump AS, Peñuelas J (2005) Running to stand still: adaptation and the response of plants to rapid climate change. Ecol Lett 8:1010–1020

- Kaluthota S, Pearce DW, Evans LM, et al (2015) Higher photosynthetic capacity from higher latitude: foliar characteristics and gas exchange of southern, central and northern populations of *Populus angustifolia*. Tree Physiol 35:936–948
- Kawecki TJ, Ebert D (2004) Conceptual issues in local adaptation. Ecol Lett 7:1225–1241. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00684.x
- Keller I, Alexander JM, Holderegger R, Edwards PJ (2013) Widespread phenotypic and genetic divergence along altitudinal gradients in animals. J Evol Biol 26:2527–2543. doi: 10.1111/jeb.12255
- Kelley AL, de Rivera CE, Buckley BA (2013) Cold tolerance of the invasive *Carcinus maenas* in the east Pacific: molecular mechanisms and implications for range expansion in a changing climate. Biol Invasions 15:2299–2309
- Kinoshita C, Saito A, Sakamoto KQ, et al (2022) Heart rate as a proxy for estimating oxygen consumption rates in loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*). Biol Open 11:bio058952
- Krogh A (1916) The respiratory exchange of animals and man. Longmans, Green
- Kuo ESL, Sanford E (2009) Geographic variation in the upper thermal limits of an intertidal snail: implications for climate envelope models. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 388:137–146. doi: 10.3354/meps08102
- Lambert CC, Lambert G (1998) Non-indigenous ascidians in southern California harbors and marinas. Mar Biol 130:675–688
- Lardies MA, Bacigalupe LD, Bozinovic F (2004) Testing the metabolic cold adaptation hypothesis. Evol Ecol Res 6:567–578
- Laugen AT, Laurila A, Räsänen K, Merilä J (2003) Latitudinal countergradient variation in the common frog (Rana temporaria) development rates--evidence for local adaptation. J Evol Biol 16:996–1005
- Leal M, Gunderson AR (2012) Rapid change in the thermal tolerance of a tropical lizard. Am Nat 180:815–822. doi: 10.1086/668077
- Levins R (1968) Evolution in Changing Environments: Some Theoretical Explorations. Princeton University Press
- Levins R (1969) Thermal acclimation and heat resistance in *Drosophila* species. Am Nat 103:483–499
- Lovell RSL, Collins S, Martin SH, et al (2023) Space-for-time substitutions in climate change ecology and evolution. Biol Rev 98:2243–2270
- Lyberger KP, Osmond MM, Schreiber SJ (2021) Is evolution in response to extreme events good for population persistence? Am Nat 198:44–52
- Mainka SA, Howard GW (2010) Climate change and invasive species: double jeopardy. Integr Zool 5:102–111
- Maron JL, Vilà M, Bommarco R, et al (2004) Rapid evolution of an invasive plant. Ecol Monogr 74:261–280
- Martin RA, da Silva CRB, Moore MP, Diamond SE (2023) When will a changing climate outpace adaptive evolution? Wiley Interdiscip Rev Clim Chang 14:e852
- Matesanz S, Gianoli E, Valladares F (2010) Global change and the evolution of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1206:35–55
- Messamah B, Kellermann V, Malte H, et al (2017) Metabolic cold adaptation contributes little to

the interspecific variation in metabolic rates of 65 species of Drosophilidae. J Insect Physiol 98:309–316. doi: 10.1016/j.jinsphys.2017.02.003

- Milla R, Giménez-Benavides L, Escudero A, Reich PB (2009) Intra-and interspecific performance in growth and reproduction increase with altitude: a case study with two *Saxifraga* species from northern Spain. Funct Ecol 23:111–118
- Mittan CS, Zamudio KR (2019) Rapid adaptation to cold in the invasive cane toad *Rhinella marina*. Conserv Physiol 7:coy075
- Monty A, Mahy G (2009) Clinal differentiation during invasion: *Senecio inaequidens* (Asteraceae) along altitudinal gradients in Europe. Oecologia 159:305–315
- Moran E V, Alexander JM (2014) Evolutionary responses to global change: lessons from invasive species. Ecol Lett 17:637–649. doi: 10.1111/ele.12262
- Morley SA, Peck LS, Sunday JM, et al (2019) Physiological acclimation and persistence of ectothermic species under extreme heat events. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 28:1018–1037
- Munday PL, Warner RR, Monro K, et al (2013) Predicting evolutionary responses to climate change in the sea. Ecol Lett 16:1488–1500. doi: 10.1111/ele.12185
- Neu A, Fischer K (2022) Indications for rapid evolution of trait means and thermal plasticity in range-expanding populations of a butterfly. J Evol Biol 35:124–133. doi: 10.1111/jeb.13969
- Oliver ECJ, Benthuysen JA, Darmaraki S, et al (2021) Marine heatwaves. Ann Rev Mar Sci 13:313–342
- Pedregosa F, Varoquaux G, Gramfort A, et al (2011) Scikit-learn: Machine Learning in {P}ython. J Mach Learn Res 12:2825–2830
- Pereira RJ, Sasaki MC, Burton RS (2017) Adaptation to a latitudinal thermal gradient within a widespread copepod species: The contributions of genetic divergence and phenotypic plasticity. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 284:. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.0236
- Perret DL, Evans MEK, Sax DF (2024) A species' response to spatial climatic variation does not predict its response to climate change. Proc Natl Acad Sci 121:e2304404120
- Pickett STA (1989) Space-for-time substitution as an alternative to long-term studies. In: Long-term studies in ecology: approaches and alternatives. Springer, pp 110–135
- Pinsky ML, Eikeset AM, McCauley DJ, et al (2019) Greater vulnerability to warming of marine versus terrestrial ectotherms. Nature 569:108–111. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1132-4
- Pinsky ML, Selden RL, Kitchel ZJ (2020) Climate-driven shifts in marine species ranges: Scaling from organisms to communities. Ann Rev Mar Sci 12:153–179
- Pörtner HO, Bennett AF, Bozinovic F, et al (2006) Trade-offs in thermal adaptation: The need for a molecular to ecological integration. Physiol Biochem Zool 79:295–313. doi: 10.1086/499986
- Pörtner HO, Peck L, Somero G (2007) Thermal limits and adaptation in marine Antarctic ectotherms: an integrative view. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 362:2233–2258
- R Core Team (2013) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing
- Rahel FJ, Olden JD (2008) Assessing the effects of climate change on aquatic invasive species. Conserv Biol 22:521–533
- Rahmstorf S, Coumou D (2011) Increase of extreme events in a warming world. Proc Natl Acad Sci 108:17905–17909
- Ramos-Esplá AA, Micael J, Halldórsson HP, Gíslason S (2020) Iceland: a laboratory for nonindigenous ascidians. BioInvasions Rec 9:450–460

- Reznick DA, Bryga H, Endler JA (1990) Experimentally induced life-history evolution in a natural population. Nature 346:357–359
- Ritz C, Baty F, Streibig JC, Gerhard D (2015) Dose-response analysis using R. PLoS One 10:e0146021
- Rodríguez-Verdugo A, Carrillo-Cisneros D, González-González A, et al (2014) Different tradeoffs result from alternate genetic adaptations to a common environment. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111:12121–12126
- Roman J (2006) Diluting the founder effect: cryptic invasions expand a marine invader's range. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 273:2453–2459
- Ruiz GM, Huber T, Larson K, et al (2006) Biological Invasions in Alaska's Coastal Marine Ecosystems: Establishing a Baseline
- Sanford E, Kelly MW (2011) Local adaptation in marine invertebrates. Ann Rev Mar Sci 3:509– 535. doi: 10.1146/annurev-marine-120709-142756
- Sasaki M, Barley JM, Gignoux-Wolfsohn S, et al (2022) Greater evolutionary divergence of thermal limits within marine than terrestrial species. Nat Clim Chang 1–6
- Sasaki MC, Dam HG (2019) Integrating patterns of thermal tolerance and phenotypic plasticity with population genetics to improve understanding of vulnerability to warming in a widespread copepod. Glob Chang Biol 25:4147–4164. doi: 10.1111/gcb.14811
- Sax DF, Stachowicz JJ, Brown JH, et al (2007) Ecological and evolutionary insights from species invasions. Trends Ecol Evol 22:465–471. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.06.009
- Scholander PF, Flagg W, Walters V, Irving L (1953) Climatic adaptation in arctic and tropical poikilotherms. Physiol Zool 26:67–92
- Schou MF, Engelbrecht A, Brand Z, et al (2022) Evolutionary trade-offs between heat and cold tolerance limit responses to fluctuating climates. Sci Adv 8:eabn9580
- Schultz ET, Conover DO (1997) Latitudinal differences in somatic energy storage: adaptive responses to seasonality in an estuarine fish (Atherinidae: *Menidia menidia*). Oecologia 109:516–529
- Schultz ET, Reynolds KE, Conover DO (1996) Countergradient Variation in Growth Among Newly Hatched *Fundulus Heteroclitus*: Geographic Differences Revealed by Common-Environment Experiments. Funct Ecol 10:366. doi: 10.2307/2390285
- Seabold S, Perktold J (2010) statsmodels: Econometric and statistical modeling with python. In: 9th Python in Science Conference
- Shama LNS, Wegner KM (2014) Grandparental effects in marine sticklebacks: transgenerational plasticity across multiple generations. J Evol Biol 27:2297–2307
- Skelly DK (2004) Microgeographic countergradient variation in the wood frog, *Rana sylvatica*. Evolution 58:160–165
- Sokolova IM, Pörtner H-O (2003) Metabolic plasticity and critical temperatures for aerobic scope in a eurythermal marine invertebrate (*Littorina saxatilis*, Gastropoda: Littorinidae) from different latitudes. J Exp Biol 206:195–207
- Somero GN (2010) The physiology of climate change: How potentials for acclimatization and genetic adaptation will determine "winners" and "losers." J Exp Biol 213:912–920. doi: 10.1242/jeb.037473
- Sorte CJB, Jones SJ, Miller LP (2011) Geographic variation in temperature tolerance as an indicator of potential population responses to climate change. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 400:209–

217. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2011.02.009

- Sorte CJB, Williams SL, Carlton JT (2010a) Marine range shifts and species introductions: comparative spread rates and community impacts. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 19:303–316
- Sorte CJB, Williams SL, Zerebecki RA (2010b) Ocean warming increases threat of invasive species in a marine fouling community. Ecology 91:2198–2204
- Sotka EE, Baumgardner AW, Bippus PM, et al (2018) Combining niche shift and population genetic analyses predicts rapid phenotypic evolution during invasion. Evol Appl 11:781–793. doi: 10.1111/eva.12592
- Stewart-Savage J, Stires A, Yund PO (2001) Environmental Effect on the Reproductive Effort of Botryllus schlosseri. Biol Ascidians 311–314. doi: 10.1007/978-4-431-66982-1\_49
- Storz JF, Cheviron ZA, McClelland GB, Scott GR (2019) Evolution of physiological performance capacities and environmental adaptation: insights from high-elevation deer mice (*Peromyscus maniculatus*). J Mammal 100:910–922

Sultan SE, Horgan-Kobelski T, Nichols LM, et al (2013) A resurrection study reveals rapid adaptive evolution within populations of an invasive plant. Evol Appl 6:266–278

Sunday JM, Bates AE, Dulvy NK (2012) Thermal tolerance and the global redistribution of animals. Nat Clim Chang 2:686–690. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1539

- Tepolt CK, Somero GN (2014) Master of all trades: thermal acclimation and adaptation of cardiac function in a broadly distributed marine invasive species, the European green crab, *Carcinus maenas*. J Exp Biol 217:1129–1138. doi: 10.1242/jeb.093849
- Thyrring J, Rysgaard S, Blicher ME, Sejr MK (2015) Metabolic cold adaptation and aerobic performance of blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) along a temperature gradient into the High Arctic region. Mar Biol 162:235–243. doi: 10.1007/s00227-014-2575-7
- Thyrring J, Tremblay R, Sejr MK (2019) Local cold adaption increases the thermal window of temperate mussels in the Arctic. Conserv Physiol 7:coz098
- Tobias Z, Solow A, Tepolt C (2024) Geography and developmental plasticity shape post-larval thermal tolerance in the golden star tunicate, *Botryllus schlosseri*. J Therm Biol 119:103763. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2023.103763
- Tovar-Hernández MA, Yáñez-Rivera B, Villalobos-Guerrero TF, et al (2014) Invertebrados marinos exóticos en el Golfo de California. In: Especies Invasoras Acuáticas: Casos de Estudio en Ecosistemas de México. pp 394–659
- Tsagkogeorga G, Cahais V, Galtier N (2012) The population genomics of a fast evolver: High levels of diversity, functional constraint, andmolecular adaptation in the tunicate Ciona intestinalis. Genome Biol Evol 4:740–749. doi: 10.1093/gbe/evs054
- Ummenhofer CC, Meehl GA (2017) Extreme weather and climate events with ecological relevance: a review. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 372:20160135
- Urban MC, Swaegers J, Stoks R, et al (2023) When and how can we predict adaptive responses to climate change? Evol Lett
- Valladares F, Matesanz S, Guilhaumon F, et al (2014) The effects of phenotypic plasticity and local adaptation on forecasts of species range shifts under climate change. Ecol Lett 17:1351–1364. doi: 10.1111/ele.12348

Van Rossum G, Drake FL (2009) Python 3 Reference Manual. CreateSpace, Scotts Valley, CA

Visser ME (2008) Keeping up with a warming world; assessing the rate of adaptation to climate change. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 275:649–659

- Wallace GT, Kim TL, Neufeld CJ (2014) Interpopulational variation in the cold tolerance of a broadly distributed marine copepod. Conserv Physiol 2:cou041
- Ware C, Berge J, Jelmert A, et al (2016) Biological introduction risks from shipping in a warming Arctic. J Appl Ecol 53:340–349
- West-Eberhard MJ (2003) Developmental Plasticity and Evolution. Oxford University Press, Oxford, U.K.
- White CR, Alton LA, Frappell PB (2012) Metabolic cold adaptation in fishes occurs at the level of whole animal, mitochondria and enzyme. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 279:1740–1747. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.2060
- Wohlschlag DE (1964) Respiratory metabolism and ecological characteristics of some fishes in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. Biol Antarct seas 1:33–62
- Xiao H, Li J, Yu G, et al (2024) Coevolution between heat and cold tolerance in endotherms. J Evol Biol voae018
- Yamahira K, Kawajiri M, Takeshi K, Irie T (2007) Inter- and intrapopulation variation in thermal reaction norms for growth rate: Evolution of latitudinal compensation in ectotherms with a genetic constraint. Evolution 61:1577–1589. doi: 10.1111/j.1558-5646.2007.00130.x
- Yund PO, O'Neil PG (2000) Microgeographic genetic differentiation in a colonial ascidian (*Botryllus schlosseri*) population. Mar Biol 137:583–588. doi: 10.1007/s002270000378
- Zerebecki RA, Sorte CJB (2011) Temperature tolerance and stress proteins as mechanisms of invasive species success. PLoS One 6:e14806. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014806
- Zhang Z, Capinha C, Karger DN, et al (2020) Impacts of climate change on geographical distributions of invasive ascidians. Mar Environ Res 159:104993
- Zippay ML, Hofmann GE (2010) Physiological tolerances across latitudes: Thermal sensitivity of larval marine snails (Nucella spp.). Mar Biol 157:707–714. doi: 10.1007/s00227-009-1354-3


**Figure S4-1.** Distributions of R<sup>2</sup> values of linear regressions of heart rate to experimental temperature by site.



Figure S4-2. Interpolated heart rate at 8 °C of zooids by colony membership.

V

# Conclusion

Throughout this thesis I have woven genomic and physiological lines of inquiry to understand how *Botryllus schlosseri*, a marine NIS, copes with variation in environmental temperature across geographic and temporal scales. By describing intraspecific variation of thermal tolerance and its genomic and environmental correlates, I contribute valuable information of how evolutionary adaptation and phenotypic plasticity may shape differentiation of a critical trait on contemporary timescales. Correspondingly, I demonstrate how using a biological invasion as a natural experiment can yield important insights into the pace of adaptive change in wild populations. This work was built on a foundation erected by previous researchers in such diverse fields as invasion biology, ecophysiology, bioinformatics, evolutionary biology, marine biology, and others. In this conclusion, it is my goal to place my doctoral research within the broader context of these fields and draw meaningful conclusions from a selection of my primary findings. Along the way, I inevitably engage in (perhaps more than) a few digressions, as well as point out some important caveats for interpreting my results. Lastly, I offer some parting thoughts on the potential scope of future efforts toward understanding rapid adaptive shifts of critical phenotypes during an era of global change.

# Strides towards understanding the pace of adaptive change

A major theme of my dissertation research concerns the rate of adaptive change. By studying a marine NIS with a reasonably well-characterized chronology of introduction, I was able to place upper bounds on the timescales over which differentiation emerged, whether at the genomic or physiological levels. Importantly, the genomic data presented in Chapter 2 allowed me to better interpret the implications of the physiological data presented in later chapters, in particular Chapter 4. Specifically, the knowledge that all populations within San Francisco Bay and northward to Sitka, Alaska comprise one evolutionary lineage allowed me to determine that differentiation of cold tolerance between Sitka and Bodega Bay, California has emerged since *B. schlosseri*'s initial establishment in northern California in 1947 (Carlton 1979). While environmental effects could still contribute to differentiation (see Caveats below), that I observed population-level differences after a common acclimation treatment suggests that this differentiation is at least partly genetically based and that it has emerged within the last eighty

years, potentially much more recently since *B. schlosseri*'s establishment in Sitka by 2001 (Ruiz et al. 2006).

In addition to the potential for rapid evolutionary change, my dissertation research illustrates how *B. schlosseri* is able to respond quickly to environmental conditions through developmental plasticity. In Chapter 3, I demonstrated that short-term temperature history affects the heat tolerance of settled larvae (oozooids), whereby warmer environmental temperatures had a positive effect on oozooid LT<sub>50</sub>. This response occurred on the order of days, speaking to the rapid pace at which developmental plasticity is able to shape thermal tolerance at later life stages. Taking these results together, putative local adaptation to temperature (most strongly evidenced by Chapters 2 and 4) and developmental plasticity of heat tolerance (demonstrated by Chapter 3) contribute to *B. schlosseri*'s ability to cope with variation in its thermal environment over spatial and temporal scales.

There are open questions as to whether species will be able to adapt to the plethora of changes they face in an era of great environmental upheaval (Visser 2008; Hoffmann and Sgró 2011; Martin et al. 2023; Urban et al. 2024). One of the most apparent and well documented environmental shifts is the increase in global mean temperatures. Both adaptive evolution and phenotypic plasticity have been invoked as potential bulwarks to this rapid change in temperature (Somero 2010), but it is unclear if they will be sufficient to buffer species from the worst of global change (Gunderson and Stillman 2015; Radchuk et al. 2019). By using the invasion and subsequent range expansion of *B. schlosseri* as a natural experiment, I evaluated the potential for this species to shift its thermal tolerance on contemporary time scales. While invasive species may be more physiologically flexible (Davidson et al. 2011) and thus should potentially be treated as an upper bound on the possible rate of adaptive change (see Caveats), my dissertation research serves as a potent example for how species can rapidly shift their physiology through genetic adaptation and phenotypic plasticity.

In the endeavor to predict evolutionary responses to global change, discourse has shifted from whether adaptation is possible (Parmesan 2006; Merilä 2012) to the specific factors that constrain or promote evolutionary adaptation to a changing world (Martin et al. 2023; Urban et al. 2024). Considerations such as the extent of standing genetic diversity

(Barrett and Schluter 2008), rates of gene flow (Aitken and Whitlock 2013), and interactions with phenotypic plasticity (Ghalambor et al. 2007) can all affect the likelihood and rate of adaptive evolution. By providing a pool of potentially adaptive standing genetic variation, high genetic diversity is likely to contribute to the adaptive potential of populations and species (Jump et al. 2009). In the case of *B. schlosseri*, I demonstrated high levels of genetic diversity (Chapter 2), which may contribute to its potential for local adaptation to temperature across its range. Interestingly, a substantial component of this variation was shared between both coasts of North America, but only a very small proportion was responding to thermal selection similarly in both lineages. This illustrates how high levels of standing genetic variation can facilitate local adaptation, but how the molecular mechanisms underlying it can be divergent (see Insights into evolutionary parallelism below).

In contrast with genetic diversity, gene flow has a more complex relationship with local adaptation. On one hand, gene flow can result in an influx of maladapted alleles in to a focal population, stifling local adaptation through gene swamping (Lenormand 2002). Contrastingly, gene flow can redistribute adaptive variation across space, which may be especially important in cases where environmental characteristics are shifting (Aitken and Whitlock 2013). For *B. schlosseri*, the often-extreme levels of genetic differentiation we observed (Chapter 2 Figure 2-3A) indicates severely restricted rates of gene flow among populations. Thus, *B. schlosseri* might be expected to possess a significantly greater likelihood of becoming local adapted to environmental temperature. However, limited gene flow may also mean that individual populations may not be able to rely on existing variation within populations or *de novo* mutations. The detection of clines in allele frequency at loci associated with environmental temperature suggests that a large component of this variation is segregating within populations rather than fixed, indicating that there may be further capacity for adaptive shifts.

The interactions between phenotypic plasticity and adaptive evolution are complex and may have a variety of outcomes on species' abilities to adapt to global change (Ghalambor et al. 2007; Fox et al. 2019). Adaptive phenotypic plasticity historically was assumed to hinder adaptive evolution by shielding genetic variation from natural selection (Huey et al. 2003).

However, the potential for initially environmentally induced phenotypes to become constitutive through genetic assimilation and/or accommodation may quicken adaptive evolution (Kelly 2019). Further, not all phenotypic plasticity is adaptive (Gibert et al. 2019); maladaptive phenotypic plasticity may increase selection coefficients and thus may speed local adaptation (Ruell et al. 2015). Finally, in its ability to cause rapid shifts in critical traits, phenotypic plasticity may be a means of "buying time" for adaptation to occur (Diamond and Martin 2021). *Botryllus schlosseri* clearly possesses phenotypic plasticity for temperature tolerance and is also likely locally adapted to temperature. It is unknown, however, how the two may interact in this species. Given that we observed variation for developmental plasticity among populations on the east coast of North America (Chapter 3), future investigation may focus on these populations and their respective "adaptability," perhaps via an experimental evolution approach.

# Insights into evolutionary parallelism

Parallelism at the phenotypic level has long been of interest to naturalists and evolutionary biologists because it presents some of the most convincing examples of adaptation in nature (Bolnick et al. 2018). The observation that similar environments can drive the evolution of similar forms in independent lineages lends itself to a deterministic basis of evolution (Blount et al. 2018). Despite landmark examples of parallel phenotypic evolution being mediated by parallel changes at the molecular level (e.g. Cooper et al. 2003; Mundy et al. 2004; Chan et al. 2010), it is still far from clear if this is the norm, as there also exist many countervailing examples demonstrating parallel adaptation via divergent molecular means (e.g. Westram et al. 2014; Therkildsen et al. 2019; Fischer et al. 2021). By investigating the potential for parallel differentiation of thermal tolerance on the Atlantic and Pacific coasts of North America and examining the genomic basis of putative local adaptation to environmental temperature on both coasts, this dissertation contributes to our understanding of evolutionary parallelism in nature.

In Chapters 2 and 3 I undertook physiological studies examining how populations spanning latitudinal gradients in temperature differ with respect to their thermal physiology. In

both cases, I observed that more northern, putatively cold-adapted populations are more susceptible to heat stress than their southern counterparts, potentially reflective of parallel local adaptation to temperature on either coast. That we observed this among independent evolutionary lineages (as documented in Chapter 2) indicates that differentiation of thermal tolerance likely evolved repeatedly. While I only investigated cold tolerance across the Pacific coast, I would venture that given the high potential for local adaptation in this species and the genomic patterns indicative of local adaptation to temperature, we would likely observe similar patterns across the Atlantic coast. Because this dissertation spans its putative native range (east coast of the United States [*sensu* Yund et al. (2015)]) and its invasive range (west coast of the United States), it appears that this parallelism I observed in temperature tolerance across latitude arose on two vastly different time scales.

In addition to establishing parallel patterns of thermal tolerance on either coast, my genomic investigation shed additional light on the potential for evolutionary parallelism. In two independent evolutionary lineages, one on each coast, I detected thousands of loci whose allele frequencies significantly covaried with environmental temperature, suggestive of their role in local adaptation. Interestingly, despite sharing a substantial proportion of overall genetic variation, only a small subset of loci was implicated in local adaptation on both coasts. This suggests that parallel evolution of thermal physiology on either coast may be mediated by contrasting genetic mechanisms.

It is a useful exercise to speculate as to why this might be. While our understanding of the factors that mediate whether parallel phenotypic change will be accompanied by parallel changes at lower levels of biological organization remains incomplete, there exist some theoretical expectations (Bolnick et al. 2018). First, the type of genetic variation upon which selection acts can influence the degree of observed genetic parallelism. Parallelism at the molecular level is predicted to be much more likely for adaptation from standing genetic variation relative to that from *de novo* mutations (Schlötterer 2023). My results from Chapter 2 indicate a substantial proportion of genetic variation is shared between the two lineages on either coast of North America, potentially allowing natural selection to draw on the same pool of variation and "reuse" the same alleles in parallel adaptation to temperature. Nonetheless, I

observed minimal overlap in the identify of loci implicated in local adaptation to temperature, no more than would be expected due to chance.

Second, divergent population history can affect the probability of parallelism by introducing contingencies. Populations that have been evolving independently for long periods of time have more opportunities to accumulate differences through drift, minimizing the likelihood of parallel adaptation at the genetic level. Indeed, studies have demonstrated that more recently diverged population are more likely to utilize similar genetic mechanisms than those that have been in isolation longer (Bollback and Huelsenbeck 2009; Conte et al. 2015). The degree of divergence between the Pacific and Atlantic lineages of *B. schlosseri*, in terms of F<sub>ST</sub>, is quite extreme, perhaps shedding light upon why we observed so few shared putatively adaptive loci. It would be informative to explore the potential for adaptive clines in allele frequency along other latitudinal gradients within *B. schlosseri*'s distribution, for example, in Europe, Oceania, or South America. If the lineages occupying these other gradients differ with regard to the level of divergence among one another, it would be a prime opportunity to test whether the extent of parallelism at the genetic level scales with the degree of divergence.

Lastly, the genetic architecture underlying traits under selection is expected to affect the observed degree of parallelism at the molecular level. Polygenic architectures, where many loci of small effect contribute to the emergence of a trait, are thought to result in high levels of potential redundancy, allowing for many evolutionary routes to the same phenotypic outcome (Barghi et al. 2020). Using a conservative approach, I found thousands of loci that are putatively adaptive for temperature (Chapter 2). This suggests that thermal tolerance is a highly polygenic trait in *B. schlosseri*, in accordance with studies in other species (Healy et al. 2018; Rose et al. 2018). Thus, given its polygenic basis, it is perhaps unsurprising that even with a substantial proportion of shared variation, local adaptation to temperature appears to be underlain by contrasting genetic means in the Atlantic and Pacific lineages of *B. schlosseri*.

## Potential for local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity

Because genetic variation is required for natural selection to drive adaptation, much emphasis has been placed on the importance of disentangling genetic and environmental

contributions to phenotypic divergence. In this vein, for much of the twentieth century phenotypic plasticity was considered as a nuisance in the study of evolution (Falconer 1952; Pigliucci 2005). More recently, there has been heightened interest in understanding the complex interplay between evolutionary adaptation and phenotypic plasticity, and how it may mediate responses to environmental change (Ghalambor et al. 2007; Reed et al. 2011). Furthermore, there has been a shift towards viewing phenotypic plasticity as a trait in itself, one subject to natural selection (Pigliucci 2005). Studies that investigate variation for phenotypic plasticity, then, are important for documenting its potential to evolve.

Theoretical expectations have established that greater phenotypic plasticity should evolve in variable environments (Bradshaw 1965; Levins 1968; Schlichting 1986). Nonetheless, there remain few empirical examples that demonstrate local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity (Hendry 2016). In Chapter 3 I demonstrated that *B. schlosseri* possesses developmental plasticity of heat tolerance, whereby development at higher temperatures results in greater heat tolerance after settlement. Critically, I established that populations that experience greater short-term temperature variability exhibit greater magnitudes of developmental plasticity. If phenotypic plasticity were to become locally adapted, we would expect greater levels of plasticity in variable environments, as observed. Of course, because I could not fully disentangle genetics from environment (see Caveats), it is possible that plasticity operating over a longer time course (i.e. transgenerational plasticity) affected the degree of developmental plasticity I observed. Nonetheless, that we observed a difference in the magnitude of developmental plasticity that corresponded with differences in temperature variability does provide some evidence of local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity. An interesting follow-up study would be to measure the magnitude of developmental plasticity across a broader gradient of short-term temperature variability, as my investigation strictly compared a low-variability site to two high-variability sites. Clinal variation of developmental plasticity would provide firmer evidence for the potential local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity in this system.

#### Implications for management of biological invasions

Throughout this thesis I have emphasized the utility of species invasions for gaining insight into the evolutionary process. However, as major agents of global environmental change (Vitousek et al. 1996), NIS are also deserving of study insofar as it can inform appropriate management. Many knowledge gaps remain in our ability to design appropriate policy interventions to prevent and manage biological invasions (Clout and Williams 2009). Among these are understanding the sources and vectors of introduction and the prediction of where incipient NIS may colonize next. In pairing genomic and physiological investigation of *B. schlosseri*, a pernicious marine NIS, I provide some key insights that may benefit its management in North American waters and beyond.

Genetic approaches are often critical for unraveling the often complex invasion histories of NIS (Cristescu 2015). By describing patterns of genomic variation of *B. schlosseri* along both coasts of North America, Chapter 2 brings some clarity in understanding the potential sources of introduction. For example, in Newfoundland I found that there have likely been multiple introductions, one to Conception Bay that may have arisen from southern Maine or a closely related site, and potentially another from central Nova Scotia. Without the knowledge of multiple introductions, management may be targeted towards containing its spread from where it was first detected, treating it as a beachhead invasion. Understanding that recurrent invasions have occurred can help policymakers design more appropriate interventions, perhaps those that focus on interprovincial translocation rather than local spread. A similar case can be made for Southeast Alaska, where I found that populations are more closely related to those further south along the United States coast rather than the nearby populations in northern British Columbia. This knowledge may make the case for focusing on introduction via hull fouling from vessels arriving from further south along the United States coast.

Once a NIS is established, it is often extraordinarily difficult to eradicate, and generally only possible at the earliest stages of invasion (Parkes and Panetta 2009). As such, prevention, early detection, and rapid response are critical to the effective management of species invasions (Reaser et al. 2020). Much of the existing efforts aimed towards predicting where NIS may turn up next depend on species distribution modeling (Gallien et al. 2010). This approach

characterizes the abiotic environment where a NIS is found to make inferences about its environmental tolerances and thus where it may be capable of invading. While a useful approach, by inferring habitat suitability by investigating its current distribution it ignores the potential for niche under-filling: species may be capable of enduring environmental conditions outside their current regime. To more accurately describe the environmental tolerances of potential invaders, empirical studies of NIS physiology are required. In Chapters 3 and 4 I presented new data on the heat and cold tolerance of *B. schlosseri*, providing useful information of the environmental tolerances of this marine NIS that could potentially be used to inform mechanistic modeling that more directly incorporates physiology (Lennox et al. 2015).

Importantly, I describe how thermal tolerance varies across geography. Most species distribution modeling treat species as a monolith, sharing a single set of environmental tolerances. Incorporating intraspecific variation of environmental tolerances can yield substantially different predictions of suitable habitat (e.g. Oney et al. 2013; Hu et al. 2021). For NIS, when there is appreciable genetic structure and lineages may differ in their physiology (e.g. via local adaptation), directly modeling this variation substantially alters predictions of where they may be capable of invading (Compton et al. 2010; Fraimout and Monnet 2018). By demonstrating differentiation of thermal tolerance among populations and lineages of *B. schlosseri*, this dissertation emphasizes the importance of accounting for this variation when making predictions about future spread.

Beyond characterizing the potential for intraspecific variation of environmental tolerances, I have provided clues into how evolutionary adaptation may underlie invasion success in *B. schlosseri*. At a physiological level, perhaps most convincing is the observation that individuals from more northern, cold-exposed populations in the Pacific have apparently adapted their cardiac physiology, maintaining higher heart rates in cold temperatures than their southern counterparts (Chapter 4). At a genomic level, clines in allele frequencies that are coincident with a gradient of environmental temperature suggests there has been widespread genetic adaptation to temperature across *B. schlosseri*'s invasive range in North America (Chapter 2). These results demonstrate the potential for invasive species ecological niches to expand or shift during the course of invasion. Failure to model these evolutionary shifts in the

niche of NIS is an additional shortcoming of species distribution modeling, which by their design assume evolutionary stasis. My results, then, demonstrate the importance of accounting for potential niche shifts/expansion through adaptation in modeling efforts, which has been done for native species (Benito Garzón et al. 2019; DeMarche et al. 2019) but has rarely been applied in studies of NIS (Gallien et al. 2010; but see Chapman et al. 2017).

## **Caveats**

Species invasions can serve as potent examples of rapid evolutionary change, but how representative are these examples of species at large? Indeed, there is much to be learned about the pace of adaptive change from the study of successful NIS (Huey et al. 2005; Sax et al. 2007; Westley 2011), but by focusing on the "winners", conclusions drawn from these examples should perhaps be treated as an upper bound of what is possible (sensu Moran and Alexander 2014). Invasive species have been hypothesized to be more phenotypically plastic than their native counterparts (Baker 1965), which has been confirmed in a meta-analysis by Davidson et al. (2011) (but see Palacio-López and Gianoli 2011). These higher levels of phenotypic plasticity may be one significant factor underlying invasion success, but also indicate that caution should be exercised when drawing conclusions from NIS to native species. Given the importance of evolutionary adaptation to the success of species invasions, it is conceivable, too, that NIS harbor elevated rates of evolutionary change compared to natives, though I am not aware of any support for this hypothesis in the literature. Thus, concerning the rate of adaptive change, in particular in response to global change, it is likely that drawing conclusions from NIS will overestimate the adaptive capacity of native species (Moran and Alexander 2014). Nonetheless, lessons from NIS demonstrate the rapid evolutionary change is possible, providing a glint of optimism in an era of otherwise dire circumstances for the world's biota.

By using genomics and ecophysiology to study patterns of variation in thermal tolerance across space and time, my dissertation provides insights into how local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity shape a critical trait in natural populations. However, I have not endeavored to fully disentangle the contributions of these two processes, as is often the goal of evolutionary studies. Therefore, it is possible that environmental effects have contributed to

the patterns which I ascribe to local adaptation. For example, I use the pattern of countergradient variation of heart rate that I observed in Chapter 4 to argue for compensatory genetic adaptation to colder environmental temperatures in northern populations. While I used a common acclimation treatment to minimize the potential effect of acclimatory plasticity, it is still possible that phenotypic plasticity operating over a longer time course (i.e. transgenerational plasticity) contributed to this pattern. Contrastingly, it is also possible that genetic factors contributed to patterns which I ascribe to phenotypic plasticity. For example, in Chapter 3 I use natural temporal variation of environmental temperature as a proxy for developmental temperature. In certain circumstances this spanned several months. In the intervening time between experiments at a particular site, it is possible that temporally varying selection resulted in more heat-resistant genotypes being dominant later in the summer, producing more heat-tolerant larvae. I consider this rather unlikely, as I also observed shifts in oozooid thermal tolerance consistent with variation in temperature across just days. Nonetheless, this speaks to the potential confounding effects of genetic and phenotypic plasticity in shaping the patterns I observed.

While biological study of *B. schlosseri* is certainly more developed than for many marine invertebrates, it is still far from an established model system of the likes of fruit flies and mice. As such, it lacks some of the critical techniques that allow for disentangling genetic and environmental contributions to phenotypes, namely accessible intergenerational culture. In fact, to my knowledge there are only three labs in the world that regularly rear *B. schlosseri* over multiple generations (Ben-Hamo and Rinkevich 2021). I do not view this strictly as a shortcoming, however. By investigating differentiation of thermal tolerance in a more "non-model" species, my dissertation provides valuable information on the potential for this critical trait to shift rapidly, adding taxonomic breadth to the existing literature that may make it more representative of the diversity of evolutionary trajectories in nature.

#### Future directions

In seeking to explain life's complexities, biological research often generates more questions than answers. While this dissertation comprises a small but valuable contribution

towards our understanding of how genetics and environment shape thermal tolerance across spatial and temporal scales, it has also brought up a number of questions. Below I will attempt to summarize my thoughts on where we might go from here.

By applying low-coverage whole genome sequencing to two dozen populations across North America, Chapter 2 provided the most high-resolution picture of population genetic structure in *B. schlosseri* to date. In doing so it made strides towards resolving the species' complicated invasion history in the region. A logical next step would be to expand the geographic scope of sequencing efforts. Including specimens from Europe and Asia would be particularly helpful for understanding its global invasion history and would shed light on how the North American lineages fit into a global context. In addition to understanding invasion dynamics, sequencing of populations spanning other latitudinal gradients in temperature would provide further opportunities to investigate parallel adaptation to temperature and whether the genomic basis is shared or divergent. If a more global approach uncovered distinct lineages that differ with respect to their degree of divergence, as is likely, it would be a useful system in which to test the prediction that more recent divergence leads to a greater degree of parallelism at the genetic level.

Another potentially exciting avenue that stems from my research is the potential for local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity. In Chapter 3 I demonstrated that populations which experience more short-term temperature variability exhibit greater levels of developmental plasticity. While far from proving this definitively, this observation provides correlative evidence for local adaptation of developmental plasticity in this system. Future efforts should explore this further. For example, one potential experiment could assess variation in the magnitude of developmental plasticity across a broader gradient of short-term temperature variability, with the expectation that the most variable environments would favor the evolution of the most plastic genotypes. Ideally this would be conducted with multigenerational rearing to establish a heritable basis of increased plasticity. When paired with genotyping, this approach could shed light on the genetic architecture of phenotypic plasticity.

Beyond these more specific research directions into *B. schlosseri* itself, my dissertation research highlights additional questions about species invasions and the evolution of species

more broadly. For example, what are the relative contributions of local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity to the success of NIS? Do invasive species exhibit greater adaptive capacity than native species? If so, what characteristics of NIS promote rapid evolutionary adaptation? How might evolutionary adaptation and phenotypic plasticity interact to shape evolutionary responses to rapid environmental change? When do we expect parallel phenotypic evolution to be mediated by parallel changes at lower levels of biological organization? All of these questions are beyond the scope of any one dissertation, and rather encompass the aims of entire research programs, if not entire subfields. Nonetheless, it is my hope that my dissertation has made some small contribution towards resolving some of these thorny questions.

## Parting thoughts

Throughout this dissertation, and, indeed, my nearly six years of doctoral study, I have strived to understand how an obscure marine invertebrate inhabiting the bottoms of docks copes with temperature variability across space and through time. By investigating processes that span levels of biological organization, from nucleotides to populations, my dissertation can be viewed as a truly integrative body of work, one that weaves genomic and physiological lines of inquiry towards understanding the modalities of thermal adaptation. In doing so I hope this dissertation has provided some insights into the roles of local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity in shaping thermal tolerance, and how the pace of adaptive change can inform our understanding of species responses to global change. It is up to the reader to determine whether or not I have succeeded in this task. This judgment notwithstanding, I am delighted by the opportunities I have been provided with to interrogate big questions in this tiny sea squirt, *Botryllus schlosseri*.

#### REFERENCES

Aitken SN, Whitlock MC (2013) Assisted gene flow to facilitate local adaptation to climate change. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 44:367–388. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110512-135747

Baker HG (1965) Characteristics and modes of origin of weeds. In: Stebbins GL, Baker HG (eds)

The Genetics of Colonizing Species. Academic Press, New York, pp 147–172

- Barghi N, Hermisson J, Schlötterer C (2020) Polygenic adaptation: a unifying framework to understand positive selection. Nat Rev Genet 21:769–781
- Barrett RDH, Schluter D (2008) Adaptation from standing genetic variation. Trends Ecol Evol 23:38–44. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.09.008
- Ben-Hamo O, Rinkevich B (2021) *Botryllus schlosseri*—A model colonial species in basic and applied studies. In: Handbook of Marine Model Organisms in Experimental Biology. CRC Press, pp 385–402
- Benito Garzón M, Robson TM, Hampe A (2019) ΔTrait SDMs: species distribution models that account for local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity. New Phytol 222:1757–1765
- Blount ZD, Lenski RE, Losos JB (2018) Contingency and determinism in evolution: Replaying life's tape. Science 362:eaam5979
- Bollback JP, Huelsenbeck JP (2009) Parallel genetic evolution within and between bacteriophage species of varying degrees of divergence. Genetics 181:225–234
- Bolnick DI, Barrett RDH, Oke KB, et al (2018) (Non)parallel evolution. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 49:303–330. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110617-062240
- Bradshaw AD (1965) Evolutionary significance of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Adv Genet 13:115–155
- Carlton JT (1979) History, biogeography, and ecology of the introduced marine and estuarine invertebrates of the Pacific Coast of North America. University of California, Davis
- Chan YF, Marks ME, Jones FC, et al (2010) Adaptive evolution of pelvic reduction in sticklebacks by recurrent deletion of a Pitx1 enhancer. Science 327:302–305
- Chapman DS, Scalone R, Štefanić E, Bullock JM (2017) Mechanistic species distribution modeling reveals a niche shift during invasion. Ecology 98:1671–1680
- Clout MN, Williams PA (2009) Invasive species management: a handbook of principles and techniques. Oxford University Press
- Compton TJ, Leathwick JR, Inglis GJ (2010) Thermogeography predicts the potential global range of the invasive European green crab (*Carcinus maenas*). Divers Distrib 16:243–255. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00644.x
- Conte GL, Arnegard ME, Best J, et al (2015) Extent of QTL reuse during repeated phenotypic divergence of sympatric threespine stickleback. Genetics 201:1189–1200
- Cooper TF, Rozen DE, Lenski RE (2003) Parallel changes in gene expression after 20,000 generations of evolution in Escherichia coli. Proc Natl Acad Sci 100:1072–1077
- Cristescu ME (2015) Genetic reconstructions of invasion history. Mol Ecol 24:2212–2225. doi: 10.1111/mec.13117
- Davidson AM, Jennions M, Nicotra AB (2011) Do invasive species show higher phenotypic plasticity than native species and, if so, is it adaptive? A meta-analysis. Ecol Lett 14:419–431. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01596.x
- DeMarche ML, Doak DF, Morris WF (2019) Incorporating local adaptation into forecasts of species' distribution and abundance under climate change. Glob Chang Biol 25:775–793
- Diamond SE, Martin RA (2021) Buying time: Plasticity and population persistence. In: Phenotypic Plasticity & Evolution. CRC Press, pp 185–209
- Falconer DS (1952) The problem of environment and selection. Am Nat 86:293–298 Fischer EK, Song Y, Hughes KA, et al (2021) Nonparallel transcriptional divergence during

parallel adaptation. Mol Ecol 30:1516–1530

- Fox RJ, Donelson JM, Schunter C, et al (2019) Beyond buying time: The role of plasticity in phenotypic adaptation to rapid environmental change. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 374:. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0174
- Fraimout A, Monnet A-C (2018) Accounting for intraspecific variation to quantify niche dynamics along the invasion routes of *Drosophila suzukii*. Biol Invasions 20:2963–2979
- Gallien L, Münkemüller T, Albert CH, et al (2010) Predicting potential distributions of invasive species: Where to go from here? Divers Distrib 16:331–342. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00652.x
- Ghalambor CK, McKay JK, Carroll SP, Reznick DN (2007) Adaptive versus non-adaptive phenotypic plasticity and the potential for contemporary adaptation in new environments. Funct Ecol 21:394–407. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01283.x
- Gibert P, Debat V, Ghalambor CK (2019) Phenotypic plasticity, global change, and the speed of adaptive evolution. Curr Opin Insect Sci 35:34–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cois.2019.06.007
- Gunderson AR, Stillman JH (2015) Plasticity in thermal tolerance has limited potential to buffer ectotherms from global warming. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 282:. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2015.0401
- Healy TM, Brennan RS, Whitehead A, Schulte PM (2018) Tolerance traits related to climate change resilience are independent and polygenic. Glob Chang Biol 24:5348–5360
- Hendry AP (2016) Key questions on the role of phenotypic plasticity in eco-evolutionary dynamics. J Hered 107:25–41
- Hoffmann AA, Sgró CM (2011) Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. Nature 470:479–485. doi: 10.1038/nature09670
- Hu Z-M, Zhang Q-S, Zhang J, et al (2021) Intraspecific genetic variation matters when predicting seagrass distribution under climate change. Mol Ecol 30:3840–3855
- Huey RB, Gilchrist GW, Hendry AP (2005) Using invasive species to study evolution. In: Sax DF,
  Stachowicz JJ, Gaines SD, Freeman WH (eds) Species Invasions: Insights into Ecology,
  Evolution, and Biogeography. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA, pp 139–164
- Huey RB, Hertz PE, Sinervo B (2003) Behavioral drive versus behavioral inertia in evolution: a null model approach. Am Nat 161:357–366
- Jump AS, Marchant R, Peñuelas J (2009) Environmental change and the option value of genetic diversity. Trends Plant Sci 14:51–58
- Kelly M (2019) Adaptation to climate change through genetic accommodation and assimilation of plastic phenotypes. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 374:. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2018.0176
- Lennox R, Choi K, Harrison PM, et al (2015) Improving science-based invasive species management with physiological knowledge, concepts, and tools. Biol Invasions 17:2213– 2227
- Lenormand T (2002) Gene flow and the limits to natural selection. Trends Ecol Evol 17:183–189. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2184.1976.tb01248.x
- Levins R (1968) Evolution in Changing Environments: Some Theoretical Explorations. Princeton University Press
- Martin RA, da Silva CRB, Moore MP, Diamond SE (2023) When will a changing climate outpace adaptive evolution? Wiley Interdiscip Rev Clim Chang 14:e852
- Merilä J (2012) Evolution in response to climate change: In pursuit of the missing evidence. BioEssays 34:811–818. doi: 10.1002/bies.201200054

- Moran E V, Alexander JM (2014) Evolutionary responses to global change: lessons from invasive species. Ecol Lett 17:637–649. doi: 10.1111/ele.12262
- Mundy NI, Badcock NS, Hart T, et al (2004) Conserved genetic basis of a quantitative plumage trait involved in mate choice. Science 303:1870–1873
- Oney B, Reineking B, O'Neill G, Kreyling J (2013) Intraspecific variation buffers projected climate change impacts on Pinus contorta. Ecol Evol 3:437–449
- Palacio-López K, Gianoli E (2011) Invasive plants do not display greater phenotypic plasticity than their native or non-invasive counterparts: A meta-analysis. Oikos 120:1393–1401. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.19114.x
- Parkes JP, Panetta FD (2009) Eradication of invasive species: progress and emerging issues in the 21st century. Invasive species Manag A Handb Princ Tech Oxford Univ Press Oxford 47–60
- Parmesan C (2006) Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 37:637–669. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110100
- Pigliucci M (2005) Evolution of phenotypic plasticity: Where are we going now? Trends Ecol Evol 20:481–486. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2005.06.001
- Radchuk V, Reed T, Teplitsky C, et al (2019) Adaptive responses of animals to climate change are most likely insufficient. Nat Commun 10:3109
- Reaser JK, Burgiel SW, Kirkey J, et al (2020) The early detection of and rapid response (EDRR) to invasive species: a conceptual framework and federal capacities assessment. Biol Invasions 22:1–19
- Reed TE, Schindler DE, Waples RS (2011) Interacting effects of phenotypic plasticity and evolution on population persistence in a changing climate. Conserv Biol 25:56–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2010.01552.x
- Rose NH, Bay RA, Morikawa MK, Palumbi SR (2018) Polygenic evolution drives species divergence and climate adaptation in corals. Evolution 72:82–94
- Ruell EW, Hughes KA, Ghalambor CK, et al (2015) Non-adaptive plasticity potentiates rapid adaptive evolution of gene expression in nature. Nature 525:372–375. doi: 10.1038/nature15256
- Ruiz GM, Huber T, Larson K, et al (2006) Biological Invasions in Alaska's Coastal Marine Ecosystems: Establishing a Baseline
- Sax DF, Stachowicz JJ, Brown JH, et al (2007) Ecological and evolutionary insights from species invasions. Trends Ecol Evol 22:465–471. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.06.009
- Schlichting CD (1986) The evolution of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 17:667–693
- Schlötterer C (2023) How predictable is adaptation from standing genetic variation? Experimental evolution in *Drosophila* highlights the central role of redundancy and linkage disequilibrium. Philos Trans R Soc B 378:20220046
- Somero GN (2010) The physiology of climate change: How potentials for acclimatization and genetic adaptation will determine "winners" and "losers." J Exp Biol 213:912–920. doi: 10.1242/jeb.037473
- Therkildsen NO, Wilder AP, Conover DO, et al (2019) Contrasting genomic shifts underlie parallel phenotypic evolution in response to fishing. Science 365:487–490. doi: 10.1126/science.aaw7271

- Urban MC, Swaegers J, Stoks R, et al (2024) When and how can we predict adaptive responses to climate change? Evol Lett 8:172–187
- Visser ME (2008) Keeping up with a warming world; assessing the rate of adaptation to climate change. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 275:649–659
- Vitousek PM, D'Antonio CM, Loope LL, Westbrooks R (1996) Biological invasions as global environmental change. Am Sci 84:468–478
- Westley PAH (2011) What invasive species reveal about the rate and form of contemporary phenotypic change in nature. Am Nat 177:496–509
- Westram AM, Galindo J, Alm Rosenblad M, et al (2014) Do the same genes underlie parallel phenotypic divergence in different Littorina saxatilis populations? Mol Ecol 23:4603–4616. doi: 10.1111/mec.12883
- Yund PO, Collins C, Johnson SL (2015) Evidence of a native northwest atlantic COI haplotype clade in the cryptogenic colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. Biol Bull 228:201–216. doi: 10.1086/BBLv228n3p201